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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK
EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a higher
investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having
made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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Corporate Information

DNEEF

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)

Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 21 June 2023)
Mr. Wang Li (resigned on 10 May 2023)
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Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 27 September 2023)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 20 March 2024)
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Ms. Liang Zhijun (appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023)

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang (resigned on 13 February 2023)
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Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 27 September 2023)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 20 March 2024)

Mr. Wong Tik Tung (resigned on 31 December 2023)

Ms. Liang Zhijun (appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023)
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Ms. Liang Zhijun (Chairman)
(appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023)
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Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)

Mr. Wong Tik Tung (Chairman) (resigned on 31 December 2023)
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 29 May 2023)

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 21 June 2023)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Ngam Wai Kam Sharon (appointed on 28 December 2023)
Mr. Wong Kwok Chung (resigned on 28 December 2023)
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Corporate Information

DNEEH

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)

Ms. Ngam Wai Kam Sharon (appointed on 28 December 2023)
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 29 May 2023)

Mr. Wong Kwok Chung (resigned on 28 December 2023)

AUDITORS
McMillian Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS
NGANS Lawyers LLP

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Hong Kong
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No. 92 Granville Road
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Hong Kong
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CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEN WD

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group continued to engage in
the research and development, manufacture and sale of consumer electronic
products, provides one-stop services to our customers by offering design,
prototyping/sampling, manufacturing, assembling, packaging and marketing
of their products.

The Group has been actively conducting and developing the business of
consumer products and exploring various opportunities for investment projects
to broaden the scope of investment according to the market conditions to
enhance the value of its shareholders. In the last quarter of 2023, the Group
acquired 70% shares of the Guoke Tewei (Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd* (
BHESL (L) £ R AR A F]), a company specialized in the sale and
distribution of specialized milk products and healthy food items developed
and manufactured in its self-owned brands, represents a valuable opportunity
to extend the business footprints into different industries which enables the
Group to increase and diversify its revenue stream and broaden its business
networks.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND DEVELOPMENT

2023 was another challenging year, with escalated geopolitical rivalries and
rising fragmentation. The protracted war between Russia and Ukraine seems
unable to stop within a short period, the sanctions against Russia and the
retaliation interrupted the supplies of energy, commodities and agricultural
products, accelerating the soaring inflation further. In 2023, tensions between
China and the US are getting more intensified, on top of the existing trade
war which responded by retaliation, various new export limits, sanctions,
investments and technology bans on areas such as those related to
semiconductor chips were introduced by the US government against China
during the past few years. On the other hand, keeping inflation under control
was still the primary focus of the US Federal Reserve, which resulted in the
interest rate maintaining a high level. This would undoubtedly affect capital
flows, investments and global demands.

The manufacturing and trading businesses of the Group and its associated
companies and their operations were inevitably disrupted and negatively hit
under such multiple headwinds and tough macro-environment. The Group
has been vigilant in monitoring and managing its operations in light of the
challenges. We made tactical adjustments and considered that PRC healthy
food consumer market is less vulnerable to the prevailing environment.
Accordingly, we explored the business of specialized milk products and
healthy food items developed and manufacturing in self-owned brands by
acquiring the majority shares of Guoke.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, sales on trading of electronic products, accessories and raw
materials remained as the Group’s primary stream of revenue. Revenue from
manufacturing of electronic products accounted for 87.5% of our overall
revenue in 2023 while it accounted for 27.3% in 2022. However, given
the negative impact on industries relating to semiconductors, electronic
components and products under the abovementioned macro-environment,
particularly in China, our revenue growth momentum is still weak during the
year. The total revenue of the Group decreased by 6.4% from HK$65.7 million
in 2022 to HK$61.5 million in 2023. Overall gross profit margin was slightly
increased to approximately 6% as compared to 5% in 2022, our gross profit
slightly increased by HK$0.5 million from HK$3.3 million in 2022 to HK$3.8
million in 2023.

To cope with the unfavourable environment and to diversify our sources of
revenue, we explored the business of specialized milk products and healthy
food items development and manufacturing in self-owned brands during the
last quarter of 2023, and are expecting to record revenue in 2024.

¥K%ERE
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FINANCIAL REVIEW B 7% 1 EE
2023 2022
—Z=-= -2
HK$’000 HK$’'000
Total operation-related expenses e EERAE FERT FHET
Administrative expenses THAX
— Staff costs —8TIAR 5,012 5,798
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets’ —(ERAEEENE = 1,576
— Written off/provision for allowance of inventories —TFEME B E = 3,750
— Others —Hh 2,618 3,574
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets EREEEZRERE = 2,080
Impairment losses for trade receivables FEUBR SR 2 BB 1E = 49
Reversal of impairment losses for other receivables Efth FE W R IE 2 R E B R D (142) (130)
Other operating losses HEhEiER1E = 250
7,488 16,947
# Excluding depreciation of right-of-use assets included in the cost of sales
’ TEEFABEZRKAZERAREENE
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWE DN

Staff costs represented one of the major components of the Group’s
administrative expenses, which mainly consisted of directors’ emoluments,
salaries, retirement benefit scheme contributions, share-based expenses and
other benefits. Staff costs decreased by HK$0.8 million from HK$5.8 million
in 2022 to HK$5.0 million in 2023. The decrease was mainly due to tightened
control and downsized in operation scale.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets decreased by HK$1.6 million from HK$1.6
million in 2022 to HK$NIl in 2023, mainly due to full impairment losses for
right-of-use assets was recognised in 2022. Accordingly, no impairment
losses were provided in 2023 for the factory under right-of-use assets as
compare to HK$2.1 million in 2022.

The total operation-related expenses decreased by HK$9.4 million from
HK$16.9 million in 2022 to HK$7.5 million in 2023, mainly due to (i) the
aforesaid decrease in staff costs; (i) no impairment losses of right-of-use
assets; (i) decrease in written-off/provision for allowance of inventories; and
(iv) general savings in administrative and operating expenses resulting from
tightened cost control and downsize in operation to preserve our resources
under the tough and uncertain environment;

Finance costs represented imputed interest on lease liabilities and convertible
bonds and interest on other payables. Total finance cost remains the same
level as in 2022.

Operation of Associates

Our associate, Celestial Rainbow Group, which has been equity accounted
for, is mainly engaged in manufacturing and trading of electronic products,
such as fitness bracelets, targeting overseas markets. Its operation was
vulnerable to the prevailing environment and operation disruptions mentioned
above. Accordingly, the associate continued to contribute negatively to our
bottom line. We recorded a total of HK$7.2 milion of share of loss of the
associate and its goodwill impairment in 2022 whereas we shared HK$13.7
million of its loss in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBNWmR DN

Loss Attributable to Owners of the Company

The Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$17.3 million in 2023, representing a decrease of HK$1.1 million from
HK$18.4 million in 2022, mainly due to the aforementioned decrease in total
operation-related expenses, the increase in the aggregate of share of loss of
the associate.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

Below is a summary of the key financial ratio:

EATEEAEGEER

R-ZBZ=F KNEBEEARRHEE ABIEEEB1736E
BIL BT —FRISAEEB TR BEET £ 8
R Bt R IBARRE AR SOR D - SR A R RIS R
e

RBEE  MEERRERERH
TXAEBHMHLLEHE :

As at 31 December

R+=—A=+—H
Notes 2023 2022
it —E_-= —E-=
Current ratio BN R 1 0.86 0.67
Quick ratio REY LR 2 0.84 0.67
Gearing ratio BEAMRBLE 3 1.10 20.99
Notes: Bt
1. Current ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets by total current liabilities 1. B RN AR EER N ERDAGETH -
as at the respective period end.
2. Quick ratio is calculated by dividing total current assets less inventories by total 2. B RIZAERARERDEERFERABRRD A ETE -
current liabilities as at the respective period end.
3. Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total debt by total equity as at the 3. BEBBHREERBAAEERARESTE - BoER

respective period end. For the avoidance of doubt, total debt includes other
borrowings, liability component of convertible bonds and lease liabilities.

Historically, the Group has funded its liquidity and capital requirements
primarily through operating cash flows, borrowings and funds from the listing
of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The Group
requires cash primarily for working capital needs.

On 2 July 2021, convertible bonds in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$20,000,000 with 4% interest per annum and two-year lifespan were
issued to Mr. Wu Xiongbin, under the general mandate granted to the
Directors. Assuming full conversion at the conversion price of HK$0.12, the
convertible bonds will be convertible into 166,666,667 conversion Shares
(“2021 CB”).

The 2021 CB was matured in July 2023. The Company redeemed HK$15
million in principal and reached an agreement with the holder of the 2021 CB
that the remaining principal shall continue to bear an interest rate of 4% per
annum until repayment.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / £ EE ¥ #5 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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On 14 June 2023, the Company issued convertible bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of HK$6,500,000 with 4% interest per annum and two-year
lifespan to Viva Gain Investments Limited, under the general mandate granted
to the Directors, assuming full conversion of the 2023 Convertible Bonds
(“2023 CB I') at the initial conversion price of HK$0.032, the 2023 Convertible
Bonds will be convertible into 203,125,000 conversion shares. The conversion
price of HK$0.032 represented a premium of approximately 18.5% to the
closing price of HK$0.027 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 22
May 2023, being the date of the relevant subscription agreement.

The gross proceeds from the issue of the 2023 CB | were HK$6,500,000
and the net proceeds from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HK$6.4 million (after deducting the related expenses and
professional fees). The Group intended to use the net proceeds from the
subscription for general working capital. The Directors were of the view that
(i) the subscription agreement was entered into upon normal commercial
terms following arm’s length negotiations between the Company and the
subscriber; (i) the conversion price represented a premium to the recent price
of the Shares; and (i) the interest payable by the Company to the bondholder
was comparatively lower than the market interest rate provided by the banks.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the subscription (including terms of
the 2023 Convertible Bonds) was fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Details are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 22 May 2023 and 14 June 2023. As
at the date of this report, the net proceeds was fully utilised as intended.

As a result of the share consolidation effective on 30 June 2023, the
conversion prices of the 2021 CB and the 2023 CB | have been adjusted to
HK$1.2 and HK$0.32 respectively. The 2021 CB and the 2023 CB | will be
convertible into 16,666,666 conversion shares and 20,312,500 conversion
shares respectively.

On 14 September 2023, the Company issued convertible bonds in an
aggregate principal amount of HK$3,000,000 with 4% interest per annum and
two-year lifespan were issued to Mr. Wei Haiquan, under the general mandate
granted to the Directors, assuming full conversion of the 2023 Convertible
Bonds Il (2023 CB II") at the conversion price of HK$0.15, the 2023 CB |I
will be convertible into 20,000,000 conversion shares. The conversion price
of HK$0.15 represented a premium of approximately 10.3% to the closing
price of HK$0.136 per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on 30 August
2023, being the date of the relevant subscription agreement.
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The gross proceeds from the issue of the 2023 CB Il were HK$3,000,000
and the net proceeds from the issue of the Convertible Bonds were
approximately HK$3 million (after deducting the related expenses and
professional fees). The Group intended to use the net proceeds from the
subscription for general working capital. The Directors were of the view that
(i) the subscription agreement was entered into upon normal commercial
terms following arm’s length negotiations between the Company and the
subscriber; (i) the conversion price represented a premium to the recent price
of the Shares; and (i) the interest payable by the Company to the bondholder
was comparatively lower than the market interest rate provided by the banks.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that the subscription (including terms of
the 2023 Convertible Bonds Il) was fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. Details are disclosed in the
announcements of the Company dated 30 August 2023 and 14 September
2023. As at the date of this report, the net proceeds was fully utilised as
intended.

As at 31 December 2023, there were outstanding convertible bonds with the
aggregate principal amount of HK$9.5 million (31 December 2022: HK$20
million). As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately HK$1.9
million in bank and cash balances (31 December 2022: HK$1.7 million).

As a result of the share consolidation, the exercise price of the share options
granted on 10 June 2022 is adjusted from HK$0.032 per existing share to
HK$0.32 per consolidated share, and the aggregate number of shares to
be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share options granted on 10
June 2022 was adjusted from 103,072,000 existing share to 10,307,200
consolidated shares. The exercise price of the share options granted on
4 June 2019 is adjusted from HK$0.2412 per existing share to HK$2.412
per consolidated share, and the aggregate number of shares to be issued
upon exercise of the outstanding share options granted on 4 June 2019 was
adjusted from 25,192,000 existing shares to 2,519,200 consolidated shares.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Saved for those disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant capital commitments as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Saved for those disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
significant capital expenditure for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

CHARGES ON ASSETS
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any charges on
its assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group’s reporting currency is Hong Kong dollars and the functional
currencies of the Group’s entities are principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi. A portion of the Group’s transactions are denominated
and settled in United States dollars, which has very limited exchange
fluctuation with Hong Kong dollars historically. The Group currently has
not implemented any foreign currency hedging policy and we will consider
hedging against significant foreign exchange exposure should the need arise.

LITIGATION

On 16 November 2020, the Company received a judgement issued by the
People’s Court, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, pursuant to which, among
others, the Company shall repay to the plaintiff the outstanding rental of
approximately RMBO0.63 million plus overdue interests and other costs.
The Company appealed the above judgement to the Intermediate Court,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province in December 2020. The Company received a
final judgement dated 3 November 2021 issued by the Intermediate People’s
Court, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province which rejected the appeal of the
Company and upheld the original judgement issued by the People’s Court,
Shenzhen, Guangdong Province. The Company had recognised provision
under other payables for the claim.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Saved for those disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other
contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES,
AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

On 30 October 2023, the Group acquired 70% interest in Guoke Tewei
(Beijing) Biotechnology Co., Ltd* (& 556 (b R) £ MR R BR 2 7))
(“Guoke”) at the aggregate consideration of RMB2 and obligation to
contribute RMB2,240,000 of the registered capital. It is principally engaged in
the sale and distribution of specialized milk products and healthy food items
developed and manufactured by renowned brands.
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The Group has been actively conducting and developing the business of
consumer products and exploring various opportunities for investment projects
to broaden the scope of investment according to the market conditions with
an aim to enhance the value of its shareholders. Guoke is specialized in the
sale and distribution of specialized milk products and healthy food items
developed and manufactured by renowned brands. The domestic demand of
its products is less vulnerable to the global geopolitical conflicts. It will enable
the Group to complement its existing services and products. The Acquisition
represents a valuable opportunity to extend the business footprints in different
industries which enables the Group to increase and diversify its revenue steam
and broaden its business networks in different industries.

Saved for those disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
investments held by the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
there were no other material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries by the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

OUTLOOK

The global economic slowdown is causing uncertainty, and it is expected
geopolitical issues continue to be a concern. The Group will maintain a
cautious stance and make tactical adjustments where appropriate, we
will be ready to capture new opportunities and adjust our priorities and
resources, taking into account the prevailing external factors and new norms.
Being one-stop service provider to our customers, our aim is to respond to
changing customer needs by providing enhanced business solutions through
value-added services. We are going to explore into the business of specialized
milk products and healthy food items developed and manufactured with
self-owned brands by acquiring the majority shares of Guoke.

While the Group will develop and explore ways to improve its financial
performance and broaden the sources of revenue, it is the Group’s strategy
to do so within acceptable risk level and capital requirement. It will continue
to control its costs of operation and select the appropriate product mix
and regions that the Group should focus on and devote its resources to.
We will also review the performance of our existing business portfolio and
make suitable investment decisions. Subject to the review results, we do
not preclude the possibility that we may dispose of the whole or part of
our existing business portfolio and/or change the asset allocation of our
businesses.

The Group may restructure its existing debts and implement debt and/
or equity fundraising plan(s) to satisfy the financing needs and improve its
financial position in the event suitable fundraising opportunities arise. In these
regards, the Company will publish announcements as and when appropriate
according to the requirements under the applicable listing rules.
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

The Directors submit herewith their report, together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company incorporated in Cayman
Islands. The Company and its subsidiaries engaged in the research and
development, manufacture, sale of electronic devices and provision of
application software development. The Group provides one-stop services
to our customers by offering design, prototyping/sampling, manufacturing,
assembling, packaging and marketing of their products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group as required under Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business, is set out in the section of
“Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report. Those discussion
forms part of this report of the Directors.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects would be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties including
business risks, operational risks and financial management risks. Details of
principal risks faced by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” Section of this
annual report. The details of financial risk management policies and practices
of the Group are set out in note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those mentioned
above which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now
but could turn out to be material in the future.

Key Performance Indicators
The key performance indicators are detailed in the Financial Review set out in
the “Management Discussion and Analysis”.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Save as disclosed in this annual report, to the best of the knowledge of the
Board and the management, the Group complied with the relevant laws and
regulations which constitutes material impact on the business and operation
of the Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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Report of the Directors
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Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers

The Group recognizes that employees are key assets of the Group and
endeavours to provide a caring environment to them with emphasis on
team spirit. We value on staff talents and believe that they can grow and
develop with the Group. The Group also maintains good relationships with
our customers and suppliers and continuously provides quality products and
services to our customers with the supplies from our established suppliers.

Environmental Policies

The Group strives to minimise its impact on the environment by reducing its
electricity consumption and encouraging recycle of office supplies and other
materials. We are committed to building an environmentally-friendly corporate
environment that pays close attention to conserving natural resources. For
further details, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report of this annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The analysis of geographical locations of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
Details of the segment information of the Group for the year are set out in
note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements, is set out on page 151 to 152 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state
of the affairs of the Company and the Group as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 70 to 73 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and
note 35(b) to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

The Company’s reserve available for distribution as at 31 December 2023
was nil.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were as
follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)

Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 21 June 2023)
Mr. Wang Li (resigned on 10 May 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 27 September 2023)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 20 March 2024)

Mr. Wong Tik Tung (resigned on 31 December 2023)

Ms. Liang Zhijun (appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023)

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang (resigned on 13 February 2023)

The Company has entered into a service agreement with our current executive
Director for an initial term of 3 years since appointment, and shall continue
thereafter and can be terminated by not less than 3 months’ prior notice in
writing. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
service agreement with the Company for a term of 3 years since appointment,
and shall continue thereafter from year to year until terminated by 1 month’s
notice in writing served by either party on the other party.

In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s amended and restated
articles of association, at each annual general meeting one third of the
Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation. In accordance
with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of association, any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the
first general meeting of the Company after his appointment. Accordingly,
Mr. Wong Tik Tung, Mr. Chen Yiliang and Ms. Liang Zhijun retired from office
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023, and
being eligible, offered themselves for re-election. By taking into account its
nomination policy, the nomination committee of the Company considered
that the cultural background, educational background and work experience
of each of Mr. Wong, Mr. Chen and Ms. Liang can bring further contributions
to the Board’s diversity. The committee assessed and reviewed Mr. Wong'’s
and Ms. Liang’s annual written confirmation of independence based on the
independence criteria as set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and
confirmed that he remained independent. It also evaluated the performance of
each of the retiring Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and
satisfied with their performance. The re-appointment of Directors was reviewed
by the nomination committee of the Company and upon its nomination, the
Board recommended that the retiring Directors stood for re-election. Both
Mr. Wong, Mr. Chen and Ms. Liang were re-elected as Directors at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023.
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In accordance with Article 108 of the Company’s second amended and
restated articles of association, at each annual general meeting one third
of the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation. In
accordance with Article 112 of the Company’s articles of association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
director shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the
Company after his appointment. Accordingly, Mr. Chen Yiliang, Mr. Man
Wai Lun, Mr. Chen Yifan and Mr. Zhou Fenli shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-elections. None of the Directors proposed for re-elections at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence. The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

We actively refine our staff structure by adopting the human resources
philosophy of “grow and develop together” and offer reasonable yet
competitive compensation packages. The Group has developed a number
promotion and other
benefits and incentives, such as the grants of share options. We also make

of rules and regulations on recruitment, dismissal,

contributions to statutory mandatory provident fund schemes to our qualified
Hong Kong employees and social security fund schemes operated and
managed by the PRC Government to our qualified PRC employees.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 25 employees (2022: 28).

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments of the Group are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME
Details of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION FOR THE BENEFIT
OF DIRECTORS

According to Article 191 of the Company’s articles of association, the
Directors shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages
and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors or
administrators, shall or may incur or sustain. During the year, the Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of its legal action against
its Directors and remained in force as of the date of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY ASSOCIATED COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, none
of the Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had registered an
interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN

THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following persons (other than a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO:
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ARTTHEARA LB FTE R IOAR -

FERREEMATRAQ ARG REERD
SR KR

RZZE-=F+-A=+—B" ' TIAL(EFHELRFE
ETBABRINRAR Tﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁ%%fﬁqﬂ%ﬁ‘ﬁa)\@
BEEF LG EDIFEBHEFTENECMAOERIAR

Long positions &
Ordinary Shares Rl
Percentage of
Number of the Company’s
Capacity and Shares issued share
Name nature of interest Class of Shares (note 1) capital
RN
RHOEE 2BITRAE
HEEB B RERMEE igrig Yzl (Btst1) ZEDL
Viva Gain Investments Limited (note 2) Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 20,312,500 (L) 19.71%
BREEBRAR (Ki72) EnmfEE A HIRAL
Wei Haiquan Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 20,123,200 (L) 19.52%
nez BB A IR
Notes: e -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shareholder’s interest in the share 1. [LIFER R A R BRI AR A LT A -
capital of the Company.
2. On 22 May 2023, Viva Gain Investments Limited subscribed convertible bonds 2. RZB_=FRA-+-0 BEREFRAFRRELRELE

in an aggregate principal amount of HK$6.5 million, which can be convertible
into 203,125,000 conversion Shares at initial conversion price of HK$0.032 per
conversion Share. After share consolidation of every 10 issued and unissued
ordinary Shares into 1 consolidated Share effective on 30 June 2023 (the “Share
Consolidation”), the number of convertible Shares adjusted to 20,312,500 and
the conversion price adjusted to HK$0.32.

3. On 30 August 2023, Wei Haiquan subscribed convertible bonds in an aggregate

principal amount of HK$3 million, which can be convertible into 20,000,000
conversion Shares at initial conversion price of HK$0.15 per conversion Share.
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Save as disclosed above and so far as is known to the Directors, as at
31 December 2023, no other interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save for the share option scheme of the Group, at no time during the year
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its controlling shareholders or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
of the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors confirm that none of the controlling shareholders or Directors
and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
is interested in any business apart from the business operated by the Group
which competes or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2023.

UPDATE ON INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the changes in
information of Directors as at the date of this report are set out below:

Name of Director Changes

EEESR )

BEXBEEENRREEAANE R_F_=F1+_7
=+—8 BERAARRNLEEROMEMERSIAR
FLBREA DN RARIERE 77 N T B IR0 £ 336 (R ATF BB REMA ©

ESRERONEEE 2EF

BAE BB EION  NEREAIFR - AD R REER
ME AR RFRME A BB AR R BREEE
BUEEAN B ol AR AT L At B R X B 2 A A S (M 2B i S A

= o
fm

ESREARS THISHNTHHERS

BEARARERBEMARR  KERRRKEEMMEA
AXARMBEARNAET —RFINTEARREEREELY
BET N E P EAEANE (THRERREER) 2 EREAR
7 RHRAH RERIRBE-_T - =F+-_A=+—
H L EREAIRRETE -

BE S

BEEHR NEE_T_=F+-_A=+—BLFEA"
BEERBR A ERARBERENEEREAL (EER
GEM_E AR 1)) 170 B AN 52 (3 36 75 B 2 ol ) S M PR S P BE AR B
BFOEMEE (RAAEESENEBTAIN) bR -

ESEHEER
RIEGEM_E TR BIFE17.50A0) 5 RARENEEERINE
BT -

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang —

BoEsxE

Mr. Man Wai Lun

NIEBEE

Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang

B aIgEE

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be the chairman of the
Company’s nomination committee and a member of the Company’s audit committee and
remuneration committee, with effect from 13 February 2023.

BEBVUIFNITES U TBEEARAREEZESEF FARARBRZESRTMES
gKE BZE-Z=F-_AtT=-HRLEK-

Appointed as a member of the Company’s remuneration committee, with effect from 3 May
2028.
ELZERARRFNEEENE BT =FAA=RBER -

Appointed as a member of the Company’s nomination committee, with effect from 3 May
2023.
BEZERARRREEZEENE BEZE_=FRAA=HBER -
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Name of Director
EspR

Mr. Wang Li
TEEE

Mr. Chen Yiliang

RiEEE

Ms. Liang Zhijun

REBERL

Mr. Zhou Fenli

BENEE

18

Changes

25

Ceased to be (i) the compliance officer as required under Rule 5.19 of the GEM Listing Rules
(the “Compliance Officer”); (i) the authorized representative of the Company as required
under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “Authorized Representative”) and (i) the
authorized representative of the Company for accepting service of process and notices on
behalf of the Company in Hong Kong (the “Process Agent”) as required under the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), with effect from 29 May 2023.
NEEENGEM iR A5 195IE TRERN SR EE (SR EMED) (IGEM i RIZE5.24
BETHENEARARERK ([BERR],; ki) B E01E6228 R alEHIETREN
REBRREAAREZIELEZEFXHERBANARARERKR ((EREFREAD - 8
—E-=FRA-ThB®EER-

Resigned as an executive Director and ceased to be a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee, nomination committee and compliance committee, with effect from
21 June 2023.

BENTES U TBEEFARAFTMHNEES REEZEGRAaREEEKE BT
CEERAZT—HRAEK-

Resigned as an executive Director, with effect from 10 May 2023.

BIRTES B-ZS-=FRATHEBER-

Appointed as an executive Director, appointed as a member of the Company’s compliance
committee, the Compliance Officer, the Authorized Representative and the Process Agent,
with effect from 29 May 2023.

BZERWITES ARAREGREEENE  aRFE RERRIEERFREA B
—E-=FRA-THhBEBRER-

Appointed as a member of the Company’s remuneration committee with effect from 21 June
2028.

BEERARAFMEEEKE B _=F A+ —HBEX -

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Company’s
nomination committee and a member of the Company’s audit committee, with effect from 29
May 2023.

BLZERBUFNTES ANAREEZECEFERARAABEREEGKE BT ==
FREAZThB®RER -

Resigned as an independent non-executive Director and ceased to be the chairman of the
Company’s nomination committee and a member of the Company’s audit committee, with
effect from 29 June 2023.

BEBVHFNTES U IBEERAARREZESIRAARAEREZEGNE B
E_=FXAZ-thABEK-

Appointed as an independent non-executive Director; the chairman of both the Company’s
remuneration committee and compliance committee; and the member of noth the company’s
audit committee and nomination committee, with effect from 20 March 2024.
BZERBUFNTES  ARAFTHNEESREREZESER  UREKRFIEZEZES]
MREZEGRE BT _NF=A=-THBER -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The share option scheme (the “Scheme”) adopted by the Company on 20
June 2014 is a share incentive scheme and is established to recognize and
acknowledge the contributions that eligible participants (as defined therein,
including employees) have made or may make to the Group. The Scheme
shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the
adoption date (i.e. 20 June 2014) pursuant to its terms. The remaining life of
the Scheme was up to 19 June 2024.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

A share option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may determine which
shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant subject to the provisions
of early termination thereof. The acceptance amount for the share option
is determined by the Board from time to time. The exercise price per share
under the Scheme (the “Exercise Price”) shall be a price determined by the
Board, but shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant share option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (the “Trading Day”);

(ii) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five Trading
Days immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant share
option; and

(i)  the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

The 2019 and 2022 Grants

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all share options granted under the Scheme and any other schemes must
not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the Shares in issue unless approved by
the Shareholders. Share options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating such limit. The limit
may be renewed by the Shareholders in general meeting from time to time
provided always that the limit so renewed must not exceed 10% of the Shares
in issue as at the date of approval of such renewal by Shareholders in general
meeting. Upon such renewal, all share options granted under the Scheme and
any other share option schemes of the Company (including those exercised,
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
or any other share option schemes of the Company) prior to the approval of
such renewal shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the limit as
renewed. The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all share options granted to an Eligible Participant (including exercised
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month (i.e. maximum entitlement)
period must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue from time to time, unless
approved by the Shareholders in general meeting.
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) 2019 Grant

Upon the refreshment of the limit of the Scheme by the Shareholders
in general meeting on 21 June 2018, the number of Shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all share options granted or to be
granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company is 68,722,500 Shares, representing 10% of the issued Shares
as at 21 June 2018. On 4 June 2019, it was resolved by the Company
to grant 68,720,000 share options with exercise price of HK$0.2412
per Share entiting the grantees to subscribe for 68,720,000 Shares.
Details are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 4 June
2019. As at 31 December 2023, 2,519,200 effective share options
were outstanding with exercise price of HK$2.412 per share after the
Share Consolidation.

(I 2022 Grant
Upon the refreshment of the limit of the Scheme by the Shareholders
in general meeting on 26 June 2020, the number of Shares which
may be issued upon the exercise of all share options granted or to
be granted under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company is 103,073,897 Shares, representing 10% of the
issued Shares as at 26 June 2020. On 10 June 2022, it was resolved
by the Company to grant 103,072,000 share options with exercise
price of HK$0.032 per Share entiting the grantees to subscribe for
103,072,000 Shares. The closing price of the Shares immediately
before the grant date was HK$0.032 per Share. Details are set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 10 June 2022. As at 31
December 2023, 9,307,200 effective share options were outstanding
with exercise price of HK$0.32 per share after the Share Consolidation.

Adjustments to the share options

As a result of the Share Consolidation 2023, the exercise price of the share
options granted on 4 June 2019 is adjusted from HK$0.2412 per Share to
HK$2.412 per Share, and the aggregate number of Shares to be issued upon
exercise of the outstanding share options granted on 4 June 2019 under
the share option scheme is adjusted from 25,192,000 Shares to 2,519,200
Shares. The exercise price of the share options granted on 10 June 2022 is
adjusted from HK$0.032 per Share to HK$0.32 per Share, and the aggregate
number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share
options granted on 10 June 2022 under the share option scheme is adjusted
from 103,072,000 Shares to 10,307,200 Shares. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 28 June 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, 2,519,200 effective share options were outstanding
for the share options granted on 4 June 2019 and 10,307,200 effective share
options were outstanding for the share options granted on 10 June 2022. The
total number of share options that may be further granted under the Scheme
as at the date of this report is 189 Shares, representing 0.0002% of the
issued share capital of the Company.
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Pursuant to Rules 23.07 of the GEM Listing Rules, particulars and movements iR IEGEM_E TR AIE23.071& REBEEZE=_T=_=F+=A4
of share options under the Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2023 ~ =+—HIFE/E » 51218 F OB BRAE IS R E S5 RHIRm

are set out as follows: T
Lapsed/
Date of On Granted Exercised cancelled On Exercise price
grant of the 1 January during the during the during the 31 December Vesting Exercise per share option
Grantee options 2023 period period period 2023 period period (HKS)
i i
BRERE it St BhxH/ ZBCZF ShERE
ERA =g -A-8 HRE HRTE #% +t-A=1-8 BEH L] THEE(ER)
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang 10 June 2022 1,000,000 = = (1,000,000) - NA 10 June 2022 - 0.32
TER 9 June 2032

B Sk S -F-C

Note (2) ~ATH ~NATEE

D) o

~NANE

Other staff

HiET

Employees 4 June 2019 1,259,600 - - - 1,259,600 4 June2019- 4 June 2020 - 2412

3 June 2020 3 June 2029
3] —ZE-NF “F-0NF  ZEC%
~NAEA ~NAMAZE ~NAMAZE
—2-% ZZCNF
~AZH ~AZH
Employees 10 June 2022 4,653,600 - - - 4,653,600 10 June 2022 - 10 June 2023 - 0.32
9 June 2023 9 June 2032
E8 —E-- —Z-- —Z-=
~ATH NATHE ~NATEZE
- S -5 —2=-F
~NANE ~NANE
Employees 4 June 2019 1,259,600 - - - 1,259,600 4 June2019- 4 June 2021 - 2412
3 June 2021 3 June 2029
{3 —B-NE —Z-NE ZEC-F
~NAEA ~NAMAZE NARARZEZ
it et: N iR
~AZH ~AZH
Employees 10 June 2022 4,653,600 - - - 4,653,600 10 June 2022 - 10 June 2024 - 0.32
9 June 2024 9 June 2032
&8 —E-C —E-C —E-_mE
~NATH ~ATAZE ~ATAE
“TomE —FZF
~NANE ~NANE

Tota 12,826,400 - - (0000000 11,826,400

st

Notes: izt :

(1) The figures were adjusted by the Share Consolidation 2023. (1) HFR-_T_=FRNEHAREE -

) Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang resigned as an executive Director on 21 June 2023. His (@ BRRAER_F_=F A+ - BBHTHRTEE R
1,000,000 unexercised share options were lapsed on 22 July 2023 according to PR a8 591,000,000 RITEBBRER -_F_=F+A
the Scheme. ZHZHRE-

@) The options granted to the director were vested immediately. The options granted ~ ©) RTEFNBREVZRE R TEENBRENREHR
to the employees have a vesting period of 2 years, i.e. one-half of the options 2%+ AID R BEE B 8RR —(1)iBF BB — F AE (AT
were vested on the first (1st) anniversary (round down to the nearest option) NEERZONBRERE)  RE_QBRFEHEBHRT—
and the remaining one-half of the options were vested on the second (2nd) HREARAE -

anniversary of the date of grant respectively.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Group, no
other equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Details of the convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Group are
disclosed in “Liquidity, Financial Resources and Capital Structure” under
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Share Option Schemes” under
“Report of the Directors”, respectively.

BORROWINGS

Particulars of borrowings as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are set out in
note 29, 30 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association, or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, that would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly available
to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the reporting period, the revenue from sales of goods or rendering of
services to the largest customer and the five largest customers of the Group
represented 66.4% and 98.7% of the total revenue of the Group, respectively.
The purchases from the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for 89.2% and 100.0% of the total purchase of the Group,
respectively. To the best knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any shareholder holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company, had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Related party transactions entered into by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 are disclosed in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements. These related party transactions does not fall under the definition
of “connected transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules and no disclosure is accordingly
required.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Up to the date of this report, there was no event relevant to the business or
financial performance of the Group that came to the attention of the Directors
after the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 were audited by McMillian Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
(“McM”). A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting to reappoint McM as the auditors of the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Chen Yiliang
Executive Director

Hong Kong,
28 March 2024
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Governance: Directors and Senior Management

ERAE  EEhkeEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Yiliang (“Mr. Chen”), aged 36, has been an executive director of
the Company since 29 May 2023. Mr. Chen is also the Compliance Officer,
an Authorized Representative, a member of the Remuneration Committee and
Compliance Committee of the Company. He is also the director of various
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is mainly engaged in international
trade, international settlement, marketing and operation and management
of businesses, being familiar with policies on operations relating to customs,
immigration, quarantine, taxation and logistics. He has accumulated rich work
experience and industry resources in management and leadership positions.
He was the vice-president of Shenzhen Smart Wearable Association from
2017 to 2020. Since 2015, he has served as the deputy general manager
and general manager of several companies. From 2015 to 2020, he was
the director and deputy general manager of Shenzhen Ampeq Technology
Company Limited* (& Il 3 % B £ A R A 7)) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of an associate of the Company). He has served as the general
manager of Guangzhou Idall Audio and Visual Co., Ltd.* (BEM T EZ ¥ & E
B2 A ®]) from 2015 to 2023, the general manager of TengXiang (ShenZhen)
Technology Co., Ltd.* (R CRII) AR A7) from 2017 to 2023 and
the general manager of Shenzhen Guangyi Xiangtong Trading Co., Ltd.* (3|
MEBABE 5 AR A7) from 2020 to 2023.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Man Wai Lun (“Mr. Man”), aged 51, has been an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 26 July 2021. He has been the
chairman of the Audit Committee; a member of the Nomination Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Compliance Committee of the Company
since then. Mr. Man obtained his diploma in Business Management from
the School of Continuing Education, Hong Kong Baptist University in 2003
and obtained a bachelor degree of accountancy from the University of South
Australia in 2007. Mr. Man has over 17 years of experience in accounting.
Mr. Man is currently also an executive director of King International Investment
Limited (formerly known as Life Healthcare Group Limited, stock code: 928),
Century Group International Holdings Limited (stock code: 2113), and an
independent non-executive director of Momentum Financial Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1152). He was previously an independent non-executive director
of Elegance Optical International Holdings Limited (stock code: 907) until 9
February 2024, an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(stock code: 1363, a listed company in Hong Kong from 25 September 2013
to 10 September 2021) until 19 April 2021 and an executive director of China
Clean Energy Technology Group Limited (stock code: 2379, a listed company
in Hong Kong from 22 September 2004 to 12 September 2023) until 3
October 2022. The above companies are all listed companies in Hong Kong.
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BERAE - EEREREEE

Mr. Chen Yifan (“Mr. Yifan”), aged 66, has been an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 27 September 2023. He has
been the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee since then. Mr. Yifan graduated from Central China Normal
University in the People’s Republic of China in 2004 with a master’s degree
in regional economics. Mr. Yifan served as a staff member of the Shantou
Branch of the People’s Bank of China from 1981 to 2015. He has 30 years
of experience in the economic and investment industries. Since 2015, he
has been a major shareholder of Guangdong Offshore Oil Futian New Energy
Investment Company Limited* (& 5§ ) & M ¥TAERIEE B R 2 A)).

Mr. Zhou Fenli (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 56, has been an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 20 March 2024. He has been
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and Compliance Committee,
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee since
then. Mr. Zhou served as the senior management of various companies in
China since 2006 and has accumulated over 18 years of experience in finance
and corporate management. Mr. Zhou is currently the general manager and
executive director of various companies which provides financial service in
China.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group has recognized the importance of transparency and accountability,
and the Board considers that enhanced public accountability and corporate
governance are beneficial for the healthy development of the Group, improving
customer and supplier confidence. We believe that this can create long-term
value for the shareholders of the Company and is beneficial for the Group’s
sustainable growth. Saved as disclosed below, the Company adopted and
complied with the principles and code provisions (“Code Provision(s)”) in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group
strives to achieve sound corporate governance standards as far as practicable
and utilizes our resources efficiently and effectively.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHAIRMAN,
MANAGEMENT AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for promoting the success of the Group and its
business by leading and supervising the Company’s affairs. It is responsible for
determining the Group’s objectives, overall strategies and policies, approving
business plans, evaluating operations, and instilling corporate culture and
financial performance. It is also responsible for aligning the Company’s culture
with its purpose, values and strategy. All the Directors should make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company and act with integrity, lead by
example and promote the desired culture. The overall responsibilities of the
Board include considering and making decisions on the following matters:

(i) Setting the corporate goals of the Group, and formulating the Group’s
strategy and monitoring the implementation;

(ii) Diversification and extension of activities into new business areas;

(iii) Approving the annual, half year and quarterly results;

(iv)  Dividend policy;

(v) Material acquisitions and disposal;

(vi) Reviewing and monitoring the Group’s internal control systems;

(vi)  Monitoring the performance of the Management; and

(vii)  Determining and reviewing the composition and diversity of the Board.
The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance functions
under the paragraph A.2.1 of the CG Code and will review and monitor the
corporate governance principles and practices to ensure compliance. It takes

primary responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance practices
and procedures are established.
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Under the Board’s direction and supervision, the affairs and daily
management, administration and operation of the Company are responsible
by the executive Directors and the senior management collectively. The
delegated functions and assignments are periodically reviewed by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to entering into any
significant transactions by the Management. The overall responsibilities of
the Management include considering and making decisions on the following
matters:

(i) Implementing the Group’s policy and strategies set by the Board;
(ii) Strategic planning of different businesses and functions;

(iii) Closely monitoring operational and financial results in accordance with
plans and budgets;

(iv) Putting adequate operational, planning and financial control systems in
place; and

(v) Managing the Group’s day-to-day business.

Code Provision C.2 stipulates the role of the chairman of the Board. Code
provision C.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company did not have
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer. The day-to-day
management of the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors
and the senior management collectively. The Board considers that the
principle of balance of power and authority is achieved by the check and
balance between the executive directors and the independent non-executive
directors and the functions and responsibilities of the chairman under Code
Provisions C.2.2 to C.2.9 are, in practice, delegated to a designated director.
We believe that the present arrangement is adequate to ensure an effective
management and control of the Group’s business operations and the Board
will keep monitoring and review the arrangement.

Code Provision D.1.2 provides that management should provide all members
of the board with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the issuer’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient
detail to enable the board as a whole and each director to discharge their
duties under Rule 5.01 and Chapter 17 of the GEM Listing Rules. Previously,
the Board was provided quarterly update and information as and when
appropriate. The Company complied with this Code Provision since the
second quarter of 2023.
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Following the resignation of Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang on 13 February 2023,
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee of the Company comprise only two members, which results in
non-compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and the
terms of reference of the respective committees.

On 3 May 2023, Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (the then executive Director) and
Mr. Man Wai Lun (an independent non-executive Director) were appointed as
a member of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration
Committee respectively. As such, the number of members of each of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee increased to three
and it fulfiled the requirements under the relevant terms of reference of the
respective committees. However, there was no chairman in the Nomination
Committee.

On 29 May 2023, after the appointment of Ms. Liang Zhijun as an independent
non-executive Director, the Chairperson of the Nomination Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company, the Company complied with
Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and the terms of reference of
the respective committees.

Following the resignation of Ms. Liang Zhijun on 29 June 2023, the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company comprise only
two members, which results in non-compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and
5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and the terms of reference of the respective
committees.

On 27 September 2023, after the appointment of Mr. Chen Yifan as an
independent non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee and a member of the Audit Committee of the Company, the
Company complied with Rules 5.05(1) and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules and
the terms of reference of the respective committees.

Following the resignation of Mr. Wong Tik Tung on 31 December 2023,
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Company comprise only two members, and the
Remuneration Committee was not chaired by an independent non-executive
Director, which results in non-compliance with Rule 5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34
of the GEM Listing Rules and the terms of reference of the respective
committees.

As at the date of this report, following the appointment of Mr. Zhou Fenli on
20 March 2024 as an independent non-executive Director, the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and Compliance Committee, a member of
the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company, the
Company has complied with Rule 5.05(1), 5.28 and 5.34 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the terms of reference of the respective committees. Mr. Zhou
obtained legal advice on 15 March 2024 according to the requirements
of Rule 5.02D of the GEM Listing Rules, and Mr. Zhou has confirmed he
understood his obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises 4 male Directors,
including one executive Director and three independent non-executive
Directors, and the Director’s details during the year and up to the date of this
annual report are as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Yiliang (appointed on 29 May 2023)

Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang (resigned on 21 June 2023)
Mr. Wang Li (resigned on 10 May 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Man Wai Lun

Mr. Chen Yifan (appointed on 27 September 2023)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 20 March 2024)

Mr. Wong Tik Tung (resigned on 31 December 2023)

Ms. Liang Zhijun (appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023)

Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang (resigned on 13 February 2023)

An updated list of Directors identifying their roles and functions has been
published on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
profiles of the Directors, including the relationship between Board members,
are set out in the section “Governance: Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND GENDER DIVERSITY

The Company recognizes that diversity at the Board level will support the
sustainable development of the Group. The Board has adopted the Board
diversity policy, which has been published on the website of the Company,
since 20 June 2014 and reviewed its Board composition on a yearly basis.
The policy sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the Board that should
have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate
to the requirements of the Group’s business and compliance with policies.
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including
but not limited to educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge, length of service, age, gender, cultural and ethnicity and any other
factors that the Board may consider relevant and applicable from time to time.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / £ EE ¥ #5 2023

ExendAm

RABRERS EFSAANEEUESER B —%
WOTESER =R FNTES FAREERFHRAHD
EEFHEEINWT

BTES

RESREE (R -_FE-_=FAA—TAHZEF)
ﬂé‘éﬁf‘ii(%_?_—f#\ﬁ T —HE L)
EIERER-_F_=FHH+HEFE)
BYFHITES

EBEE

BR—NEE (R -FE-=FAA—++HEF)

Eéfjj%’i(i@_?_ﬂfﬁ:ﬁ_+5§/f)
55%%%%%(%:?::$+*ﬁ:+*5§?&r)
’”i%‘ﬁi(ﬁ_ E = FRAAZTAAZERK
AV 7‘715/‘%&9
H+=HEE)

_7_

Bt (R-_F_=F

HAEERBE BN RN ESREENAR R RE A
WEH - EBEFRER(BREFENE ZMEER) BRAFR
[ERE EEREREEE & -

EEEZTBERMRZ T
ARRABEEEEES LB AAEHE A FEERIEH
XF-AE-OFAA-THER ERRERAESSS
TEBRYEFERARREY - BEEFRIEEFSHERK -
ZRRBBEREEELITCRTE - AERREE - 851
& AEHZITEMNESRE WA AKEEHBRLES
BER- -BFeAZEIAEEEFEZ T BEEATR
REEER BEER B A3 REFH Fi 4
Bl 3 BREREEERERS M A BT RS
MEREEREMESE -

29



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

The nomination committee reviews and monitors the implementation on the
Board diversity policy periodically and provides its recommendations to the
Board. During 2023, the committee reviews the composition of the Board
from diversified angles, including the followings:

REZEETIRIRERESTEZILLBRNS
YREESRHEEBEZE R_T_=%F" %8
AERNEREANK  BEATESE:

No. of Directors

EFEEAH
Independence Executive Directors 1
S AvA HWITES
Independent non-executive Directors 3
B IEITE SR
Service years < 3 years 3
PR 75 4F 58 EiACES
3 years 1
3%
Age group 30-40 1
Fie#a Rl 31ZE405%
50-60 2
50Z6053%
60-70 1
60ZET705%
Gender Male 4
£ B B4

Factors such as educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge are also considered in achieving diversity for the benefit of the
Group’s various business development and management. Board members
should possess appropriate professionalism, experience and trustworthiness
in performing their duties and functions.

The following measurable objectives were adopted for the purpose of
implementation of the board diversity policy:

1. The Company should comply with the GEM Listing Rules requirements
from time to time on board composition.

2. The number of independent non-executive Directors should be not less
than three and one-third of the Board.

8 At least one of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

4. At least one Director has the professional or intensive business
experience of the Group’s industry and operations.

During 2023, the Board has achieved the measurable objectives.
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The Board would diversify its members according to the Company’s
situations and needs, as well as take into account the revised CG code,
such as that in relation to the gender diversity. Taking into account the
Group’s business model, specific needs and industry nature, the Group
has taken and will continue to take steps to promote diversity at all levels
of its workforce. Currently, the male to female ratio in the workforce of the
Group is approximately 6:4. Details of the gender ratio in the workforce is
disclosed under B of the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this annual report. The Board believes that, without affecting the business
and development, consideration should be given to the ability and gender
diversity when recruiting new directors and employees. It is prohibited to
adopt a minority gender discrimination policy in recruitment. Opportunities
for employment, training and career development are equally opened to all
eligible employees without discrimination. The Company strives to have at
least a director of a different gender by 31 December 2024.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

The Company recognizes that Board independence is critical to sound
corporate governance and has established mechanisms to ensure
independent views and inputs from any Directors, including independent
non-executive Directors, are conveyed to the Board for objective decision
making. The governance framework and the following mechanisms are
reviewed annually by the Board:

1. During 2023, three out of the four Directors are independent
non-executive Directors, representing 75% of the Board and meet
the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules that at least one-third of
the Board are independent directors and at least one of whom has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise under Rule 5.02(1)(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules.

2. The Company has entered into a service agreement with each of our
Directors for an initial term of three years and none of the independent
non-executive Directors has served the Company for more than 9
years.

S8 All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and eligible for
re-election in accordance with the Company’s articles and association.
At each annual general meeting, not less than one-third of the Directors
then in office shall retire and every Director is subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. Directors who are appointed
to fill casual vacancies or as an additional director shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting after their appointment,
and are subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company.
Separate ordinary resolutions will be put forward to the shareholders
of the Company in relation to the proposed re-election of each of the
Directors.
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4. The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent
non-executive Directors to be independent. All independent
non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate
communications of the Company containing the names of the
Directors.

58 The Nomination Committee will assess the independence, qualification
and time commitment of a candidate who is nominated or re-elected
to be an independent non-executive Director and also the continued
independence of existing independent non-executive directors and their
time commitments annually. The Remuneration Committee will conduct
the performance evaluation of the independent non-executive Directors
annually to assess their contributions.

6. No equity-based remuneration with performance-related elements has
been granted to independent non-executive Directors.

7. All Directors are encouraged to express their constructive advices and
independent views freely during the Board and committee meetings.
External independent professionals could be engaged at the expense
of the Group as required by individual Directors.

8. A Director who has a material interest in a contract, arrangement or
other proposal shall not vote or be counted in the quorum on any
Board resolution approving the same.

TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Directors are continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory regime and
the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities
by the Company. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Up to the date of this report, all Directors have confirmed to the Company
that they have participated trainings by attending seminars, conferences and/
or reading material, webcast, newspapers, journals and updates related to the
economy, the company’s business or directors’ duties and responsibilities.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors of the Company on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”). Having made specific enquiries in writing
to the Directors, each of the Directors confirmed that he/she had complied
with the Model Code in connection with the Company’s securities for the
year ended 31 December 2023. The Company has also established written
guidelines on no less exacting terms than the Model Code regarding securities
transactions by relevant employees (including the employees and Directors
of the subsidiaries or holding company) who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the Group. In addition
to the circulation of 8 written board resolutions, there were 3 regular Board
meetings and other 4 Board meetings (including teleconference meetings)
held in 2023. The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
audit committee meetings, remuneration committee meetings, nomination
committee meetings and general meeting during the year ended 31 December
2023 is set out in the following table:

Esgel

EEe2FEHRTEH  TREREKBURETEENEE
EBRE RZTZ=F KRTEMHHEEEETGRE
RN BRITBATEHESTEEIRZIMRESTESH (B
REREH) BE_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE &
EENEFLSH TREECEH FTMEEEEE R
ELEEBEERIBRRAG 2 HELHEHNTE

Annual
General Audit Remuneration Nomination Compliance
Name of member Meeting Board Committee = Committee  Committee = Committee
KEH®E RRAFAE EXE® ENZEE HMWZEEE REEEE LHZEEE
Number of Meetings attended/Total BEREEIRE/
By

Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chen Viliang RiESELE

(appointed on 29 May 2023) (M=B-=%#1A-+tNBEH) 11 1010 - 11 = 11
Mr. Zhou Chuang Qiang A8 %4

(resigned on 21 June 2023) (RZF-=F A-+—HE) - 6/6 - 11 1 il
Mr. Wang Li TEEE

(resigned on 10 May 2023) (M—B-=£7A1+BEH) - 112 = = = =
Independent non-executive Directors ~ BUFHTES
Mr. Man Wai Lun XEBLE 11 15/15 3/3 212 2/2 11
Mr. Chen Yifan R—-NE4E

(appointed on 27 September 2023) (R=E==FNA-+tBZH) - 4/4 11 2/2 2/2 =
Mr. Wong Tk Tung THREE

(resigned on 31 December 2029) (RZB-=%+_A=1—-H#EA) 11 14/14 3/3 2/2 2/2 11
Ms. Liang Zhijun REELL

(appointed on 29 May 2023 and (RZZZ=FRA-TNBZER

resigned on 29 June 2023) RZFZ=F AZ+NAFE) 0 02 - - - -
Mr. Zheng Wan Zhang BEts

(resigned on 13 February 2029) (R—Z-=F-_A+=HET) - - - - - -
BOARD COMMITTEES EEZEY

As an important part of sound corporate governance practices and for
supervision of the overall affairs of the Company in various areas, the Board
has established four Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the compliance
committee. All Board committees have respective specific terms of reference
clearly defining their powers and responsibilities, which are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. All the Board committees
should report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made, and
where appropriate, can seek independent professional advice to perform their
duties at the Company’s expense.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (“Audit Committee”) with
written terms of reference that are in conformity of the requirements of the
CG Code which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprised of the 3
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Man Wai Lun, Mr. Chen
Yifan and Mr. Wong Tik Tung and chaired by Mr. Man Wai Lun, with all
members being independent non-executive Directors of the Company in full
compliance with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules. During the period of 13
February 2023 to 29 May 2023 and 29 June 2023 to 27 September 2023, the
Company was non-compliant with the requirements under Rule 5.28 of the
GEM Listing Rules and the terms of reference of the committee. Regarding
the non-compliance in 2024 in relation to the resignation of Mr. Wong Tik
Tung with effect from 31 December 2023, please refer to page 28 of this
report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 3 Audit Committee meetings were
held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 33 of this annual report.

The functions of the Audit Committee include the following:

(i) Appointment of the Company’s auditors
(a) to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any questions of its
resignation or dismissal;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor;

(©) to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
should discuss with the auditor the nature and scope of the audit
and reporting obligations before the audit commences;

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor
to supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor”
includes any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable
and informed third party knowing all relevant information would
reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm nationally or
internationally. The Audit Committee should report to the Board,
identifying and making recommendations on any matters where
action or improvement is needed; and

(e) to discuss problems and reservations arising from the quarterly
(if any), interim and final audits and any matters the external
auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of the Board and
other employees of the Group at the discretion of the Audit
Committee where necessary).
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(ii) Review of the Company’s financial information
(@) to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, half-year report and quarterly
reports, and to review significant financial reporting judgements
contained in them. In reviewing these reports before submission
to the Board, the Audit Committee should focus particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

) major judgmental areas;

Q) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;
(5) compliance with accounting standards;

6) compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting;

(7) any connected transactions and their impact on the
profitability of the Company;

8) items requiring disclosure; and
(9)  the cash flow position;
(b) regarding point (a) above:

(1) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the
Board and senior management and the Audit Committee
must meet, at least twice a year, with the Company’s
auditors; and

(2)  the Audit Committee should consider any significant or
unusual items that are, or may need to be, reflected in
the report and accounts, it should give due consideration
to any matters that have been raised by the Company’s
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting
function, compliance officer or auditors.
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Overseeing of the Company'’s financial reporting system and internal
control procedures

(@)

()

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and
risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control system with management to
ensure that management has performed its duty to have an
effective internal control system. This discussion should include
the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting
and financial reporting function;

to consider major investigations findings on internal control
matters as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and
management’s response to these findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-ordination
between the internal and external auditors, and to ensure that
the internal audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to review the external auditor’'s management letter, any material
queries raised by the auditor to management about the
accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and
management’s response;

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the
issues raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

to review arrangements employees of the Company can use,
in confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters and ensuring
that proper arrangements are in place for fair and independent
investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up
action;

to report to the Board on the matters in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report in
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules;

to report to the Board on the matters set out in the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee;
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(k) to establish a whistleblowing policy and system for employees
and those who deal with the Company (e.g. customers and
suppliers) to raise concerns, in confidence, with the audit
committee about possible improprieties in any matter related to
the Company; and

(0] to review the disclosure in the Company’s interim and annual
reports regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial
actions.

Major accomplishments of the Audit Committee in 2023 comprised the
following:

(@) reviewed the financial statements for disclosure on a quarterly,
half-yearly and annually basis, where applicable;

(b) reviewed the external auditor’s significant findings and
management’s response to the recommendation raised, if any;

(c) reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system and the
adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting functions of
the Group;

(d) reviewed and approved the external auditor’'s statutory audit
scope and the letter of representation to be given by the Board;
and

(e) considered and approved the external audit fees and
engagement letters.

The Board has conducted annual review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2023 through the Audit Committee. For details,
please refer to the section of “Risk Management and Internal Control”
of this Corporate Governance Report.

There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of
the external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and recommended
approval to the Board.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a remuneration committee (“Remuneration
Committee”) with written terms of reference in accordance with the
requirements of the CG Code which are available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprised of 3
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Tik Tung, Mr. Chen Yiliang and Mr. Man Wai Lun,
and chaired by Mr. Wong Tik Tung. During the period of 13 February 2023 to
3 May 2023, the Company was non-compliant with the terms of reference of
the committee.

Regarding the non-compliance in 2024 in relation to the resignation of
Mr. Wong Tik Tung with effect from 31 December 2023, please refer to page
28 of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 Remuneration Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 33 of this report.

The role and functions of the Remuneration Committee include:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration, of
which a significant portion of Executive Director’s remuneration should
link rewards to corporate and individual performance, and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

(ii) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

(iii) either (a) to determine with delegated responsibility the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management;
or (b) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.
This should include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or termination
of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of Non—
executive Directors;

(v) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Company and its subsidiaries;

(v  to review and approve compensation payable to Executive Directors
and senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and
is otherwise fair and not excessive;
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to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are
consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his own remuneration;

to advise the Company to disclose details of any remuneration payable
to members of senior management by band in its annual reports;

to advise the shareholders of the Company with respect to any service
contracts of Directors that require shareholders’ approval under the
GEM Listing Rules; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Major accomplishments of the Remuneration Committee in 2023 comprised
the following:

U]

(i)

reviewed remuneration policy and matters relating to the contract terms
and remuneration packages and emoluments of Directors and senior
management, including the re-elected ones; and

reviewed and approved the adjustments of remuneration to
independent non-executive Directors and there were no material
matters relating to the share option scheme of the Company which
required review or approval by the remuneration committee.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Nomination Committee are in conformity with the requirements of the CG
Code and are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee is comprised of 3
Directors, namely Mr. Chen Yifan, Mr. Man Wai Lun and Mr. Wong Tik Tung,
and chaired by Mr. Chen Yifan. During the period of 13 February 2023 to
29 May 2023 and 29 June 2023 to 27 September 2023, the Company was
non-compliance with the terms of reference of the committee.

Regarding the non-compliance in 2024 in relation to the resignation of
Mr. Wong Tik Tung with effect from 31 December 2023, please refer to page
28 of this report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, 2 Nomination Committee meetings
were held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 33 of this annual
report.

The role and functions of the Nomination Committee include:

(i) to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(ii) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of,
individuals nominated for directorships;

(i)  to receive nominations from shareholders or Directors when such
are tendered and to make recommendations to the Board on the
candidacy of the nominees, having regard to the Board’s compositional
requirements and suitability of the nominees;

(iv)  to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors

and where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an

Independent Non-executive Director at the general meeting, it should

set out in the circular to shareholders and/or explanatory statement

accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting why they
believe he should be elected and the reasons why they consider him to
be independent; and

(v) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment and
re-appointment of Directors, and succession planning for Directors.
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The Nomination Policy is summarized as below that stipulates the key
nomination criteria and principles of the Company for the nomination of
directors and provides what the committee should do in order to give effect to
this policy:

(i) review and monitor the structure, size and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board
on an annual basis and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy;

(ii) identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as additional
directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise. The criteria
to be adopted by the Board in considering each individual shall be their
ability to contribute to the Board;

(iii) make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors, in
particular, the chairman and the chief executive officer; and

(iv) make recommendations to the Board with particular regard to ensuring
a substantial majority of the directors on the Board being independent
of management.

Major accomplishments of the Nomination Committee in 2023 comprised the
following:

(i) reviewed and monitored the structure, size, composition and
independence of the Board;

(ii) reviewed and made recommendations to the Board regarding the
re-elected Directors; and

(iii) reviewed and advised the Board regarding updates to the corporate
governance of the GEM Listing Rules and Board diversity.

Compliance Committee

The Company has established a compliance committee (“Compliance
Committee”) with written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the
Compliance Committee are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the Compliance Committee is comprised of 3
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Tik Tung, Mr. Chen Yiliang and Mr. Man Wai
Lun, and chaired by Mr. Wong Tik Tung. Mr. Wong Tik Tung resigned as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 31 December 2023 and
ceased to be the chairman of the Compliance Committee accordingly. On 20
March 2024, Mr. Zhou Fenli was appointed as, among others, an independent
non-executive Director and the chairman of the Compliance Committee.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023, 1 Compliance Committee meeting
was held and the members’ attendance is shown on page 33 of this annual

report.

The role and functions of the Compliance Committee include:

to establish, maintain and approve the compliance system of the
Group;

to support and provide instruction to ensure that each department to
establish, execute and maintain its compliance system;

to approve the compliance manual and ensure it is updated;

to organise education and training programmes on compliance,
including compliance seminars;

to monitor the status of the compliance system and discuss from time
to time with relevant management members on the compliance system
to ascertain what action, if any, is required for ongoing compliance;

to investigate compliance problems and take appropriate measures
when one arises (it may instruct the relevant department(s) to deal with
the problem depending on its nature);

to delegate the day-to-day implementation and monitoring of
compliance system to the compliance offer and company secretary;

to review and monitor the ongoing compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules and relevant laws and regulations;

to note any material deficiencies and take remedial actions if necessary
and at all times keep the Board abreast of any such actions and/or
developments; and

to review the disclosures in the Company’s interim and annual reports
regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial actions.

Major accomplishments of the Compliance Committee in 2023 comprised the
following:

U

(i)
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reviewed the disclosures in the Company’s interim and annual report
regarding any regulatory deficiencies and remedial actions, if any; and

reviewed changes and updates of the GEM Listing Rules and advised
the Board accordingly.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the Group
and has full authority to maintain the soundness and effectiveness of the
internal control system and risk management procedures of the Group to
ensure efficient and effective use of the Group’s resources to assist the Group
in achieving its operation objectives, safeguarding the Group’s assets and
ensuring compliance with laws and regulations.

The Group emphasizes the importance of a sound internal control system
which is also indispensable for mitigating the Group’s key risk exposures. The
Group’s system of internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage and
eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and fulfillment of the business
objectives. The internal control system is reviewed on an ongoing basis by
the Board in order to make it practical and effective in providing reasonable
assurance in relation to protection of material assets and shareholders’
interests. During the year under review, an external independent consultant
has reviewed the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
The Group has adopted a three-tier risk management approach to identify,
assess and manage different types of risks. At the first line of defence,
business units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risk
associated with each business or transaction. The management, as the
second line of defence, defines rule sets and models, provides technical
support, develops new system and oversees portfolio management. It ensures
risks are within acceptable range and that the first line of defence is effective.
As the third line of defense, the external independent consultant assists the
review of the first and second lines of defence. The Group is committed to the
identification, evaluation and management of risks associated with its business
activities through ongoing assessment of a risk register, by considering the
likelihood and impact of each identified risk. The Group has implemented an
effective control system which includes a defined management structure with
limits of authority, a sound management system and periodic review of the
Group’s performance by the Audit Committee and the Board.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the external independent consultant,
engaged to review the Group’s internal control systems and recommend
actions to improve our internal controls, has provided written reports to the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee has also reviewed the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience, training and budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions on an annual basis.
Based on the review, the Audit Committee is of the view that the Group’s
internal control system was generally effective.
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Based on the above, the Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group pursuant
to D.2.1 of the CG Code, covering the material financial, operational and
compliance controls, and considers them generally effective and adequate
in all material respects. With a view of further enhancing the Group’s internal
control system on an ongoing basis, the Group will continue to engage
external professional advisers to conduct review and consider to establish
a formal in-house internal audit department where necessary from time to
time, taking into account the development of the business and the scale and
complexity of our operation in future.

Inside Information

The Company assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and significant
event that may impact the price of the shares of the Company or their trading
volume and decides whether the relevant information is considered inside
information and needs to be disclosed as soon as reasonably practicable
pursuant to Rules 17.10 and 17.11 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Inside
Information Provisions under Part XIVA of the SFO. The executive Directors
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or circulars
to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by the Board from
time to time. The Company has put in place procedures on handling and
dissemination of inside information in a timely manner in such a way so as not
to place any person in a privileged dealing position and to allow time for the
market to price the listed securities of the Company with the latest available
information. The Company has appropriate internal control and reporting
systems to identify and assess potential inside information. Dissemination
of inside information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing
the relevant information on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company, according to the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
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RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENT AND REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
Group’s consolidated financial statements, which are prepared on a going
concern basis. Such responsibility of the Directors, and the responsibilities
of the auditors in respect of the consolidated financial statements are set out
in the report of the auditors of this annual report. The audit committee has
reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and recommended approval to the Board.
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 were audited by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
(“McM”) whose term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. The audit committee has recommended the Board
the reappointment of McM as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. A breakdown of the remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditors (including its affiliates) of the Company in respect of audit
and non-audit services provided to the Company during the year is set out
below:

HESUBBRZEERZHBEHH

EENENEREAEBGREWBRRZEML - BHHRKRTD
B ECERERE - B BRI URREMEES Y
BREZAETHNAFRIZBOBREN - EREREGEE
BAEEBEE T _=F+_A=+—HILFEZEEZRELE
BUMBHRRAMNEESFLEZLE - ARERE-_T =
FHtA=T-HLFEZHEUBHREROARS (BB &
AEEBAERAR(RED &%  HREHBRARRERE
BREBFRELER BREECEMEFTSEZERERER
REFAEG LEMEERERAARZIZEM - 2, &
ARBIINEZEE (BEEBBAL) RFRARARLQRRME
ZH SR BIRTS 2 Fr MM S T3

Fee

AR

(HK$°000)

Items HA (F#&x)
Audit services ZE R 570
Non-audit services SEZ B RTS 60
Total 5t 630

Note: The amounts did not consider prior years’ underprovision/overprovision

COMPANY SECRETARY

As at 31 December 2023, the Company Secretary is Ms. Ngan Wai Kam
Sharon, a practising solicitor in Hong Kong with over 16 years’ of experience
in the practice of merger and acquisition, corporate and commercial law.
Ms. Ngan was the Company Secretary and the Authorised Representative
from 17 July 2017 to 31 December 2021.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a policy concerning the payments of dividend.
The Company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined or
recommended, as appropriate, by the Board at its absolute discretion after
taking into account the Company’s financial results, future prospects and
other factors, and subject to:

the Articles of Association of the Company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman lIslands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the Company is
bound from time to time;

- the investment and operating requirements of the Company; and
- any other factors that have material impact on the Company.

The Board may consider distributing special dividend to all shareholders,
and the amount of which shall be determined and approved by the Board at
its absolute discretion. Under the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the
Articles of Association of the Company, all of our shareholders have equal
entitlement to dividends and distributions. The Board shall have the right to
review the dividend policy from time to time as it deems fit according to the
financial and business development requirements of the Company.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING

When our employees or business partners discover corruption, bribery or
issues, they can report by real-name or anonymously through post or by
visit in person. The information of the whistle-blower will be kept strictly
confidential.

For further details, please refer to B7 of the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of this annual report.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company recognizes the importance of good communications with its
shareholders and the investors. A key element of effective communication
with shareholders and investors is the prompt and timely dissemination of
information in relation to the Group. The Board has adopted the Shareholders
Communication Policy, which has been published on the website of the
Company, to set out the principles of the Company in relation to shareholders
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and timely
communication with shareholders through various means including but not
limited to publication of corporate commmunications and information on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange as required by the GEM
Listing Rules.
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The Company’s general meetings are a valuable forum for the Board to
communicate directly with the shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to
participate in general meetings where attending Board members, appropriate
management and external auditors could answer questions that shareholders
may raise. Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings for each
substantial issue, including the re-election and election of individual directors.
The detailed procedures of conducting a poll are explained to shareholders at
the commencement of the general meetings, to ensure that shareholders are
familiar with such procedures. To solicit and get feedback from shareholders,
the Company provides shareholders with channels to express their views
on matters affecting the Company including the Hong Kong Branch Share
Registrar of the Company for enquiries on shareholdings. When necessary,
the shareholders can also send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Group’s principal place of business in Hong Kong, for
the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary.

The Company’s last AGM was held on Wednesday, 28 June 2023 at 11:00
a.m. at Room 815-818, China Insurance Group Building, No. 141 Des
Voeux Road, Central, Hong Kong. The notice of the AGM has been sent to
the shareholders at least 21 days before the meetings. All the resolutions
proposed at the meetings were approved by shareholders of the Company
by poll. The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders Communication Policy including the attendance of directors and
auditors, steps taken at the general meetings, the handling of queries received
(if any) and the multiple channels of communication and engagement in
place, and considered that the Shareholders Communication Policy has been
properly implemented during 2023 and is effective.

Shareholders’ Rights

As to nomination of Director

Subject to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of
Association”) and the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect any
person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as
an addition to the existing Board. Article 113 of the Articles of Association
provides that no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless
recommended by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office
of Director at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the Head
Office or at the Registration Office. The period for lodgement of the notices
required under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such general meeting and the
minimum length of the period during which such notices to the Company may
be given will be at least 7 days.
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Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company (the “Nominator”) wishes to
nominate a person (the “Nominee”) other than a retiring Director to stand
for election as a Director, the Nominator shall lodge a notice in writing duly
signed by the Nominator of the intention to propose the Nominee for election
as a Director at the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, with the following information of the Nominee included:

(i) a notice in writing signed by the Nominee of his/her willingness to be
elected as a Director;

(ii) the biographical details of the Nominee as required by Rule 17.50(2) of
the GEM Listing Rules; and

(i)  the Nominee’s written consent to the publication of his/her personal
data.

The notice must state clearly the name of the Nominator, his/her/their
shareholding in the Company and the contact details of the Nominator and
the Nominee. The identity and the shareholding of the Nominator will be
verified by the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar and the information
shall be proper and in order for processing.

As to convening of general meetings

There are no provisions governing shareholders’ rights to put forward
proposals or move resolutions at a general meeting under the constitutional
documents of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands. Shareholders
who wish to put forward proposals or move a resolution may however,
convene an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”) to be called by the
Board by following the procedures below. Procedures for Shareholders to
convene an EGM (including making proposals/moving a resolution at the
EGM) to be called by the Board:

(i) any one or more shareholders of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), to require an extraordinary general meeting (the “EGM”)
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles; and

(ii) The written requisition shall be duly signed by the eligible shareholder(s)
concerned (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)”) and deposited to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong;
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The written requisition shall state clearly the name of the Eligible
Shareholder(s), his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the contact
details, the reason(s) to convene an EGM, the agenda of the EGM
including the details of the business(es) proposed to be transacted at
the EGM;

The identity and the shareholding of the Eligible Shareholder(s) will
be verified by the Company’s Hong Kong branch registrar and the
information shall be proper and in order for processing. If the requisition
is found to be proper and in order, the Board shall convene an EGM
within 2 months and/or include the proposal or the resolution proposed
by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at the EGM after the deposit of the
requisition. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not
in order, the Eligible Shareholder(s) will be advised of this outcome and
accordingly, the Board will not convene an EGM and/or include the
proposal or the resolution proposed by the Eligible Shareholder(s) at
the EGM; and

if within 21 days of the deposit of the requisition, the Board has not
advised the Eligible Shareholder(s) of any outcome to the contrary
and fails to proceed to convene such EGM, the Eligible Shareholder(s)
himself/themselves may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholder(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) by the
Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

By a Special Resolution passed at the Company’s annual general meeting
held on 28 June 2023, the Shareholders approved the proposed amendments
of the existing amended and restated memorandum of association and
amended and restated articles of association of the Company and the
adoption of the second amended and restated memorandum of association
and second amended and restated articles of association of the Company.

A consolidated version of the Company’s constitutional documents is available
on the Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange.
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BACKGROUND

The Group is principally engaged in research and development,
manufacturing and sale of consumer electronic products, such as
fitness bracelets, GPS personal navigation devices, mobile internet
devices and TV set-top boxes and provide an internet trading platform.

ABOUT THE REPORT

The Group contributes to sustainable development by delivering
environmental, social and economic benefits to all stakeholders in a
balanced way. The Group is pleased to present the environmental,
social and governance report (the “ESG” report) for the year ended 31
December 2023 (“2023” or “Year”) for the purpose of demonstration of
its efforts on sustainable developments to the stakeholders.

This ESG report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide as set out in
the Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules and is divided into two parts,
namely environmental and social. This ESG report has been prepared
to cover the ESG performance of the Group’s operating entities.

The basis of reporting principles — materiality, quantitative and
consistency:

° “Materiality” Principle: The Group determines material ESG issues
by stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment.

o “Quantitative” Principle: Information is presented with quantitative
measure, whenever feasible, including information on the
standards, methodologies, assumptions used and provision of
comparative data.

o “Consistency” Principle: The Report will use consistent
methodologies for meaningful comparisons in the past years
unless improvements in methodology are identified.
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BOARD STATEMENT

As a group listed in the GEM of the Stock Exchange, the Group
undoubtedly places a strong emphasis on growth and development
so as to transform to a scalable enterprise. Notwithstanding such
emphasis, the Board is fully aware that the duly performance of our
responsibilities relating to ESG are key to our sustainable development
and plays a primary role in overseeing the Group’s ESG issues.
The Board approves environmental goals and social goals for the
sustainability of the Group’s business. We strive to align our long term
corporate development with environment and society.

The Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s ESG strategy. The
ESG working team, reporting to the Board, identifies ESG issues and
risks posed to the Group and evaluates the impacts of ESG-related
risks towards our operation. In managing the priorities, the team
takes into account the relevant materiality assessment and focuses
on those ESG issues that would have significant impact and risks and
within the parameters agreed by the Board. The team formulates ESG
policies in dealing with the relevant material risks. Balancing the cost
against returns, we endeavour to integrate social and environmentally
friendly measures into our daily operations where practicable. The
team compiles ESG issues which are (a) identified internally from our
operations, and (b) collated externally from our stakeholders. Data
from relevant material risks is gathered and KPIs are created to set
practicable targets. The team manages relevant material risks by
regularly monitoring the KPIs against the targets.

The oversight of the Board ensures that the team can have all the right
tools and resources to deal with the ESG issues. The team updates
to the Board at the regular meetings with the progress and the status
of achieving the KPI targets, the environmental goals and the social
goals. The Board reviews and monitors the team’s reporting, ensuring
that the requirements from the Board are met. All of the operations and
businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries, subject to the relevant
material identified, are under the scope of review and assessment. As
the business evolves, we continue to pay attention to the compliance
status of ESG-related rules and regulations and identify new ESG
issues.
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4  MATERIALITY MATRIX 4
During the Year, the Group has evaluated a number of environmental,
social and operation related issues, and assessed their importance to
stakeholders and the Group through various channels. This assessment
helps to ensure the Group’s business development is in line with the
expectations and requirements of its stakeholders. The Group’s and
its stakeholders’ matters of concern are presented in the following
materiality matrix:

EEMER

WNEERN - AEBFGETZERRE - HEREER
FRRE - SWRBRERBIME T 2 EHEY N aA
HERASENERN - IFHEE R ERASER
EBERTAEMNDAHEENREREF - AEE R
HAMGSHAENBIEREATEZ R HIIR

Importance to the Group
HAEENEEY
Low Medium High
High € Anti-discrimination & Talent management > Customers’ satisfaction
= AR AT ER Level
Protecting labour rights Staff training and promotion EPREE
IRELBYRER) opportunity Anti-corruption
BT RE B R&EA
Staff compensation and welfare Product quality and safety
5 policies mEERLTE
E EH_K B TR K 12 AR Suppliers management
2w HEmERE
(% ﬁl Occupational health and
% % workplace safety
£ WERFRTIFSHZS
EX Medium > Community involvement Use of resources > QOperational compliance
il fma BIRERA EEAR
Protecting customers’ privacy
REF PRI
Air emissions
[BERHER
Low Preventive measures for child Non-hazardous wastes Use of raw materials
® and forced labour produced R EHE A
TEPE T R RB 5 EREE FIEARNEEREEY Hazardous wastes produced
FEXNEZERY

< Environmental 2835

& Employee B8

> Operation &&
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The table underneath showed aspects on the ESG Guide to be assessed and
those ESG issues were determined to be material to the Group.

ESG Aspects as set forth in ESG Guide

T RETIESGHE 3| FFIALEH A H0 B KA E
REAREEBEARNNESGEIR

Material ESG issues for the Group

ESGE 5| FT 5| fWESGE | HEAEEEEAWESGSEE
(A) Environmental
A) RE
A1 Emissions Emission from town gas or Vehicle
A1 BERR BRETERBEN
A2 Use of Resources Use of energy and paper
A2 &R {5 BER R R A
A3 Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIERBAEIR
A4 Climate Change
A4 TIREE
B) Social
B) e
B1 Employment Labour practices
B1 &% BIER
B2 Health and Safety Workplace health and safety
B2 f@REE e ITHESAERREZ S
B3 Development and Training Employee development and training
B3 # /& KIF ST RIS
B4 Labour Standards Anti-child and forced labour
B4 & Tizx% HFET oA
B5 Supply Chain Management Supply chain management
B5 {ffEdEE 12 HEEER
B6 Product Responsibility Product responsibility
B6 EmAIE EmEE
B7 Anti-corruption Anti-corruption, fraud prevention and anti-money laundering
B7 k&S RES - BIEREFRRAERE
B8 Community Investment Community programs, employee volunteering and donation
B8 tt[@ £ 8 HEES  BEIEBEKIBEEY
A. ENVIRONMENTAL A ERE

Environmental protection is one of the core values of the Group. The
Group has proactively looked for and implemented new technology
at various stages of production in order to minimise its impact on
the environment. The Group’s products are designed to be safe and
environmental friendly for customer use, meaning recyclable and safe
to dispose materials are specified in its designs, and clean production
processes are adopted in its manufacturing process. Moreover,
unnecessary packaging that can cause harm to environment is not
introduced into its products.

The Group considers environmental protection an essential component
of sustainable and responsible business. The Group strive to negate
impacts on the environment and to seek environmentally friendly
methods of operation. Given the nature of the Group’s business,
electricity is the most significant resources consumed in the office in the
PRC and Hong Kong.
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The Group have narrowed down to the following key areas where it
should exert the effort on:

o Usage of resources from the operations;
o Energy consumption; and
o Indoor environmental quality.

The Current Environmental Policies

The Group’s main task is to measure and report the efforts in reducing
carbon footprints, promote waste reduction at source, enhance
its waste disposal management and set targets on environmental
performance. To minimise the environmental impacts concerning the
activities, products and services, the Group will:

o Comply with applicable legal requirements and other
requirements which relate to the Group’s environmental aspects,
and to which the Group subscribes;

o Identify environmental impacts associated with the operations
and set the targets to reduce stress on the environment in
consideration of social expectations;

o Prevent pollution, reduce waste and minimise the consumption
of resources from all daily operations and actively promote
recycle, reuse and replace;

o Educate, train and motivate employees to develop a social
viewpoint that enables them to conduct business activities in an
environmentally responsible manner.

A1.1. Emissions Data from Gaseous Fuel Consumption

For Hong Kong office operations, the key environmental impacts
from the Group’s operations related to energy and paper
consumption. To achieve environment protection, the Group
encourages employees to shift to e-statement or scanning to
reduce the use of paper and greenhouse gas emissions; to
switch off all computers and office equipment and air-conditioner
at the end of each working day.

The Group has integrated environmental objectives into the
business decisions in a cost-effective manner. The Group has
required all staff to assume environmental responsibilities in
normal operating procedures and has enhanced the awareness
of environmental and resource efficiency issues amongst the
customers, staff and stakeholders. All important green and
quality assurance policies have been posted on the notice
board and stated in the standard operating procedures of the
manufacturing plant.
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a) The Company did not have town fuel and town gas
consumption during the Year.

b) The Company did not have motor vehicles during the

a  AREFALEBERE RS -

b ARFRFALEE  ETEREN

Year, the emissions data in relation to gaseous fuel FEFR REEMAEDEREBE 2 BUE -
consumption of motor vehicles applied.
Greenhouse Gas Emission Al2. BERBHKE
The table below highlights its carbon footprint during the Year: TREHZRERFRNHREH
KPI
BARENER
2023 Unit %

—E=-= By %
Scope 1
£ E1
Direct Emission S Kg -
BN F
Scope 2
£iE2
Indirect Emission 8,376 Kg 95%
fE HE BRI Fr
Scope 3
i [E3
Other indirect Emission 456 Kg 5%
H b B2 BE PR Fr
Total 8,832 Kg 100%
#Et F
During the Year, there is 8,832kg of carbon dioxide equivalent FR - AEBEREEPES 82T 7 Ak
greenhouse gases (mainly carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous SEZEERE (EERE-SLE TR
oxide) emitted from the Group’s operation. fbER) °
Total number of staff as at 31 December 2023 is 25 (2022:28). RZBZ=F+-A=+—H0 BEIHAER
The annual emission intensity was 353 KgCO.,e/staff. BEZ(ZTE_F:28%) FEHHBER

During the year, the Group had set targets to decrease their
greenhouse gases emission by 1%, relative to their 2022 target
which are 19,800kg of greenhouse gases emission for the Year.
The Group has achieved the target during the Year.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations:

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste of the Group during the Year. In addition, no significant
fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.
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HERERBE

A1.3. Hazardous and non-hazardous Waste

A2.1.

AS.

The Group generates no hazardous waste in its operation.
Non-hazardous waste from use of electricity of the Group’s
operation but the management of the Group believed that is
insignificant waste.

Use of resource

The Group is committed to minimising the impact of business
activities on the environment, and supporting environmental
protection programmes. In particular, a number of initiatives
designed to conserve resources were introduced to promote
employee awareness of the need to achieve efficient utilisation of
resources.

The Group has been encouraging employees to establish

A3 BEREEEREY

ARBG BB BELHEERY - FRED
BEERENEEERERRY  BAEEYE
BERSBEENLTEA -

. BRER

REBNINENEE R EEEDHRE
MFE  WXERREE - FHE  AKED
HHZREEHHNERNE UEREER
BRBNBERNFERZH -

1

AEE-BEHBESBERIEZEHELEIE P

energy-saving habits in the office, such as switching off lights MARBERBRAZAAME L RER  WKER
and electronic appliances before leaving the office, as well as REAEB5EKE -
setting indoor temperature at 25.5°C.
During the Year, the energy consumption by type in total of the RERN - NEBFMEFERNERIZER L RET
Group are showed as below: REOR
KPI
BRENEE
2023 Unit
—E-= B
Total energy consumed BB S 10,011 KWh
TR
Total number of staff ETHRAH 25 staff
8T
Electricity consumed per staff HETHHRENEN 400 KWh/staff
TRE/BT

The Group had set targets to decrease their energy consumption
by 1%, relative to their 2022 target. The Group set targets to
19,800 kWh of energy consumption during the Year. the Group
has achieved the target during the Year.

Environmental and Natural Resources

The Group has established a series of policies, mechanisms and
measures on environmental protection and natural resources
conservation to enhance its efficiency in the usage of energy,
water and materials and also complies with relevant local
environmental regulations and international general practices,
with an aim to reduce the use of natural resources and protect
the environment.

There were no non-compliance cases noted in relation to
environmental laws and regulations during the Year.

A3.

AEECTVEE BERERERE T
ZZFEBAM%  AEERAFEILE
12 RREEE A19800T BB - AEBRE
REERK I BAZ -

BRERBERER

AEEEHE - RN EBREREREAER
IRIERBUR - #H RIEHEREESE AR - K
RMEERE - BT ERANMRTEER L —
REIRES - 5RO BERER RRERSE -

BAINFEALEEREARTERIOER -
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Climate change

Global climate change is getting worse and global warming has
been a serious problem. The Group, as a responsible enterprise,
endeavoured to introduce measures as far as practicable, such
as those mentioned in A2.1 above, to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from business operations.

To cope with extreme weather conditions, the Group
takes precautionary and protective measures including,
where necessary, home office arrangement, work schedule
rearrangement and redeployment of resources, to ensure the
safety of employees, to minimize the impact on business process
and to avoid any physical damages to assets of the Group.

SOCIAL

Being a responsible business and employer, the Group are committed
to consistently looking for ways to meet the corporate social
responsibilities. The Group focuses on its staff, environment and
community as well as its business partners.

B1.

Employment and Labour Practices

The Group places a significant emphasis on developing human
capital and provides competitive remuneration and welfare
packages. Promotion opportunities and salary adjustments are
benchmarked against individual performance. Employees are
entitled to benefits such as annual leave, sick leave, maternity
leave, marriage leave, funeral leave and medical coverage in
accordance with local regulations.

The Group emphasis on equal opportunities for all personnel
in respect of hiring, pay rates, training and development,
promotion and other terms of employment. The Group is
committed to providing a work environment free from any form
of discrimination on the basis of ethnicity, gender, religion, age,
disability or sexual orientation.

The Group has a wide diversity of cultures including the
employees with different genders, ages, skills, educational
backgrounds, industry experiences and other qualifications in
order to achieve the most suitable composition and balance.
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The Group’s remuneration package is structured with reference
to the individual performance, working experience and prevailing
salary levels in the market. In additional to basic salaries and
mandatory provident fund for Hong Kong office staff, fringe
benefits include a basic five-day working week, flexible leave
arrangement, medical coverage scheme and annual dinner.

The Group has developed an employee handbook in accordance
with the Labour Law of the PRC and has distributed it to all
employees. The remuneration policies are determined on the
basis of performance, qualification and experience of individual
employee. The remuneration generally includes salaries and
allowances.

The Group had subscribed to those basic pension insurance,
basic medical insurance, unemployment insurance, occupational
injury insurance, maternity insurance as prescribed by the Social
Insurance Law of the PRC, as well as housing fund schemes as
prescribed by the Regulations on the Administration of Housing
Fund.

Employees’ wages, overtime payments and related benefits
are made not less than the local government’s minimum
requirements. The normal working hours for general employees
are normally 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week. Integrated
computation of working hours is implemented with reference to
the requirements of the Labour Law of the PRC.

Staff Composition

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 25
(2022: 28) staff, including operational office, sales and marketing,
and back office division. All staff members are allocated in Hong
Kong and Mainland China.

FEFEZZEARE  TEERIEERTISH
SRFMEEHINEE - BEEMERETHZ
BEAFRRHIMELERIN  BEHOEI
BABEERNARIER BIERERETHE -
BERBETAMAFRE -

AEEERB(PFEARKNMBLS X RS
TFM - A2 EESFEHRETFM - HFIK
RIRERNEENRER  ABRREREE - H
Bl—ReEHe MRk -

REBEDR(PEARKMBESREE)RE
AT ERKRR EREHERR K
(R THERBRRESRBURKER 2
SERGIDRENES AR E -

EEMNIE  MMETERBEBAG™MERE
HWHANREZER - —RE TMER TIERH
AT RSN R BB o TR T2 R(PE
ARKNBESER R EGATTE -

BTHRK

R-Z-_=F+-A=+—8 XEEHLEH
BH(ZTZZF:28%) BT RRELEENRSE
B HERMIBHEREYBPINEL - 2%
BTN ES P E A -

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RS -HEgkERKRE

Employee’s Employment Type Distribution @ REEMRMBEI DM
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-—
Male Female Male Female
By employment type REFEERE S B zZ EXL 7
Full-time employment 2HE A 60% 40% 61% 39%
Part-time employment FEER 0% 0% 0% 0%
Total “aEt 60% 40% 61% 39%
Employee’s Age and Gender Distribution b EEFRRMRINM
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
Male Female Male Female
Age Group FHRAER B i S 7
0-15 0-155% 0% 0% 0% 0%
16-18 16-185% 0% 0% 0% 0%
19-30 19-305% 0% 4% 7% 7%
31-45 31-455% 44% 20% 32% 25%
46 - 60 46-605% 16% 16% 18% 7%
61 or above 615k A E 0% 0% 4% 0%
Total FE 60% 40% 61% 39%
Employee’s Geographical and Gender Distribution © & 8 [ ] B 545
2023 2022
—EB-=HF —F-—
Male Female Male Female
By geographical it EE 5 B kg -3 Bk I
Hong Kong a5 16% 8% 25% 1%
Mainalnd China R A 3 44% 32% 36% 28%
Total HET 60% 40% 61% 39%

The Group will continue to provide a well-structured and
caring environment to employees to raise their sense of
belonging and work efficiency in the Group.
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The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare on the Group during the Year. In
addition, no non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that resulted in significant fines or sanctions
had been reported during the Year.

Employee Health and Safety

The Group adopts non-discriminatory employment practices
and provides a healthy and safe workplace. The Group seeks to
attract and retain talented employees through providing a safe
and healthy workplace for each and every employee in line with
established internal guidelines and systems.

For Hong Kong office staff, the Group provides its employee with
flexible rest leave arrangement, medical and hospital scheme.
The Group understands that a good working environment for
its employees with a safe and comfortable working condition
is very important. The Group has set a clear guideline of work
arrangement for typhoon and rainstorm warning.

The outbreak of the novel coronavirus (Covid-19), has become
the latest challenge for the health authorities in Hong Kong and
Mainland China, the Group has several policy to protect its staff:

All public area would be performed disinfection on timely
basis;

- Provide mask and disinfection supplies to all staff;

- Request all management provide mask himself/herself;

- Request all staff to perform body temperature test
everyday;

- Request each staff to report their health status everyday;
and

- Request each Department Head to monitor the health
status of its staff on timely basis.
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During the Year, there was no occurrence of any fatal accident.

() Occupational Health and Safety Data

FA - WEBEEFEFIETES -

@ BEEERZ2EE

2023 2022 2021
Health and Safety BRERZE —E-= —E-= —E-—F
Number of work-related fatalities TEBREMILTHAE - = -
Lost days due to work injury THEEATIEAR - - -

During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance
cases regarding violation of relevant laws and regulations
on occupational health and safety.

Development and Training

The Group has committed to provide on-the-job education and
training to its employees in order to enhance their knowledge
and skills. All employees are encouraged to enhance their skills
and knowledge at every opportunity in order to perform their
current job more efficiently and effectively and to be better
prepared for career opportunities which may arise. During the
Year, 36 training hours for the regular courses were provided to
the employees included but not limited to orientation training,
technical training and quality training.

Performance evaluations are initiated each year. Recognising
the value in the skill and experience of our staff, the Group
has adopted a policy that any promotions will be considered
internally first before hiring any outside staff. It is the Group’s
policy to select the most suitable candidate for appointment to
a higher rank based on merit, rather than on the seniority of the
candidates.

Labour Standard

The Group fully understand that the exploitation of child and
forced labour are universally prohibited, and therefore take the
responsibility against child and forced labour very seriously. The
Group strictly comply with all laws and regulations against child
labour and forced labour in Shenzhen, PRC.

For entry registration, all employees must present valid
documents to the PRC office as follows: (i) identity card and
vocational qualification certificate; (i) social security card; (iii)
medical or health certificate; (iv) recent photos; and (v) other
relevant information and documents required by the Group. The
above procedures can ensure no child labour will be employed
in manufacturing plant.
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All employees of the PRC office are entitled to have sick leave,
injury leave and maternity leave with medical proof in accordance
with the Labour Law of PRC and Law of the PRC on the
Protection of Labour Rights and Interests and other applicable
regulations. In addition, all employees work normally 8 hours
daily and are not encouraged to work overtime. But if overtime
work is required, the relevant employees and superior will agree
mutually in written form. The compensation for overtime work is
in accordance with the provisions of the Labour Law of PRC.

During the Year, the Group has had no non-compliance cases
regarding violation of relevant child labour and forced labour
laws.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has the greatest respect for the laws and regulations
that govern its business. The Group always adheres to
international best practices and conducts fair and unbiased
procurement processes when dealing with suppliers.

The Group adheres to the principle of transparency and
implements the value of honesty, integrity and fairness in
its supply chain management. The Group’s procurement
procedures provide directions and guidelines on evaluation and
engagement when dealing with suppliers of goods and services
to ensure business is conducted with legally, financially and
technically-sound entities. In addition, approval procedures are
in place to ensure that supplier engagements are monitored and
approved by the appropriate level of management.

Where ever possible, the Group compares the price with the
different suppliers, evaluates the quality of the raw materials
or machinery and confirms the qualifications of the suppliers
before making contracts, in order to ensure the quality of the
raw materials and machinery under an acceptable price. The
group strives to ensure that their suppliers uphold similar stance
in sustainability. The Group also tends to maintain long-term
relationship with its suppliers for ensuring a stable supply of
materials or goods. During the Year, the Group carried out
a regular review on their current suppliers and assess other
alternative potential suppliers. Where ever possible, the Group
would tend to suspend cooperation with suppliers if significant
deterioration was found in the supplier’s quality: this ensures that
suppliers conform to the Group’s standard.
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When choosing a new supplier, the Group give priority to
the suppliers who are environmentally friendly and socially
responsible in order to promote and support environmentally
preferable products and services in supply chain.

Performance of suppliers impose direct impact on the
sustainability of the Group’s operation. The Group implements
the procedures on selection of suppliers strictly to minimize both
the environmental and social risks of the Group’s supply chain. A
systematic supplier management mechanism has been set up to
closely monitor the performance of suppliers. As at 31 December
2023, the Group has 7 major suppliers.

EHRIHERR - AEBELEFEARRR
Mg B ENHER  UEHRBRDHEERS
FrIRIRE f S AR °

HEFNRRERTYEAEEZENAHER
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AR EAKEHRERE T mANRER LR R -
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REEENRR -R-_T-=F+-A=+—
B AEETERHETRMERS -

No. of major

suppliers
Geographical HE FTEHEBEE
Mainland China and Hong Kong R B 7
Overseas gl S
Total st 7

Product Responsibility

A high priority for the Group is to ensure customer satisfaction in
terms of its products and services. Strenuous efforts are made
to ensure compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
relating to product health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters of the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
The Group requires its employees to comply with applicable
governmental and regulatory laws, rules, codes and regulations.

During the Year, the Group do not have any recalled products
and do not receive any compliant from its customers in relation
to either its quality of service or products. The Group has had no
non-compliance cases regarding violations of relevant laws and
regulations on product responsibility and data privacy.
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Anti-corruption

Corruption, bribery or fraud in any form is strictly prohibited. The
Group’s anticorruption policies set out standards of conduct to
which all employees are required to adhere in order to promote
the integrity environment in the workplace.

To combat corruption and to govern conflicts of interest,
unless with the Group’s approval, Directors and employees are
prohibited from accepting any valuable items from co-workers,
customers, suppliers or other stakeholders. Unless with approval
the Board, senior management members are also prohibited
from engaging in any activities that involve a potential conflict of
interest with the Group or may do harm to the Group’s overall
interests. Breaches are subject to disciplinary actions, including
the termination of employment contracts where necessary.

Various policies have also been formulated to accord with the
Securities and Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter— Terrorist Financing, including the
basic procedures for customer identification and due diligence,
suspicious transactions report and recordkeeping. Ongoing
staff training has also been carried out to ensure each of the
employees is fully aware of these policies.

The PRC office is fully aware of the Group’s anti-corruption
policies and of the priority to avoid corruption from taking root
in its operation. Its management understands layered audits
and clear accountability to monitor work related activities of the
next level and as well one more level below is the key to avoid
possible corruption.

In the Year, there is no legal case concerning corruption brought
against the Group or employees.

During the Year, the Group provide no training hours to its staff
in relation to anti-corruption.

Community Investment

The Group always seeks to be a positive force in the
communities in which it operates and maintain close
communications and interactions with the communities in order
to contribute to local development from time to time.

As global responsible citizen, the Group strives to improve the
society image and social responsibility through community
investment. All employees of the Group are encouraged to
participate their own initiatives on helping and supporting the
local communities and neighbours.
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M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

MILLENNIUM PACIFIC GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Millennium Pacific
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 70 to 150, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2023,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
which mentions that the Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$17,334,000 during the year ended 31
December 2023 and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$6,125,000 and the total liabilities exceeds its total
assets by approximately HK$13,901,000 as at 31 December 2023. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. Notwithstanding the above,
the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which is dependent upon the outcomes of the Group to
(i) attain profitable and positive cash flows from operations; and (i) obtain the
financial support from a shareholder as detailed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were REBEESCHENEG  AREZFERTESR
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the ~ BHRERBEFHZEZMNEHE - WEEHIAES

BAREXSE
S EEABRA I
ERRBBE

current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of ~AMBHREMERBSHENBSREHETERE MESTE
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion ¥ IS EBIRHEBFER - B[ HEFESLHNEATHEE L]
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In  —&iFTtEIBIN - BED T RKERTORE ARIREZSE -
addition to the matter described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going IR & % FE -

Concern section, we have determined impairment of trade receivables to be

the key audit matter to be communicated in our report.

Key Audit Matter
BRERERE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BRERESEEEZPOMERE

Impairment of trade receivables

FEW R 2 a1

Refer to material accounting policy information in note 5, critical
judgements and estimates in note 6, financial risk assessment in
note 7(b) and its relevant disclosures in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEKGEEN BRI AEEA ST BEEN W iF6EZHE R
1&51 - Wit 7(0) BT 75 /m e 5T 18 R I iF 2447 16 /6 1% FE F A -

The Group would grant credit terms to its customers ranged between
60 to 90 days. The Group would perform periodic assessment on
impairment assessment of trade receivables by established with
provision matrix with loss rates based on aging of debtor and applying
on information including credit risk characteristics of each customers,
historical ageing and settlement records, subsequent settlement
status, on-going trading relationships with the relevant customers and
forward-looking information in order to estimate the expected credit
losses (“ECL”) for the impairment assessment.
EEEBMARPETE0Z0RNEER - BEEEHEBEREBA
WERERERERSEFPNEERRIEE - BEKRKIEELE B8
BEMR EEAEFORERSBERARAIELEERRIER
BB - H PR WBR SR AR E R E TR BRI - DA ETRUERTY
HHEREEHEE((FHEEBR] -

Due to the significance of trade receivables to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements (representing approximately 81%
of the Group’s total assets) and the impairment assessment of trade
receivables under the ECL model involved the use of significant
management judgements and estimates, we considered this as a key
audit matter.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:

EEHHRUKEFRENENEXREFSE

— Evaluating the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over credit control,
debt collection and estimate of ECL;

— FMEEBEEEH - mRERRGHEDREEBENE
ZAIEEH R - BIEAE L F L

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s ECL models
by examining the key assumptions applied by management
to justify the ECL model, including testing the accuracy of
the debtor aging analysis historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted
based on current economic conditions variables and
assumptions used in each of the economic scenarios and
assessing whether there was an indication of management
bias when recognising impairment loss; and

— ERAREEREEIHAEDNCEEBEEAMEANEIER
#& o UEHE EEEEHEEERERANSEN  BFEE
BARERS T ARBEENCHNERY  FHBE
BEAERERBENESLBBERPACAOE AL B GEHE
BERRIETEERE  TIHNERAREEERFZ
EHEEEEERRE Rk

— Inspecting settlements records after the financial year end
relating to the trade receivables as at 31 December 2023.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The Audit Committee and the directors of the Company are responsible for
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose.

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
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the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, EEREZHBEHERN
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during

our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matter. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hui Chi Kong

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO7348

24/F., Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBRaREME2ERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
—E= - F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
HtaF FERT FHET
Revenue & 9 61,456 65,654
Cost of sales SHE 2 AR (57,681) (62,400)
Gross profit ER 3,775 3,254
Other income HAbYA 10 1,852 1,452
Administrative expenses TBFS (7,630) (14,698)
Other operating losses H g Eia - (250)
Impairment losses for trade receivables FEMER R R (EEE = (49)
Reversal of impairment losses E i EYGRIA 2 RIEREER
for other receivables 142 130
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets AL E 2 REEE - (2,080)
Loss from operation BEEE (1,861) (12,241)
Finance costs MBER 11 (1,975) (2,026)
Share of results of associates Pak oy /NG ES (13,691) (7,248)
Loss before tax RBiBIES I8 12 (17,527) (21,515)
Income tax FriS 13 - -
Loss for the year FREE (17,527) (21,515)
Other comprehensive income: Htt2muks :
Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss: FJFEEZHIEZ/8mAIEH -
Exchange differences on translating BB EINETE IR RE K 25
foreign operations (1,570) (815)
Share of other comprehensive loss of SEEFE R R EM R EER
associates (215) (1,563)
Other comprehensive loss FRHEMEEERE » HIBRBIE
for the year, net of tax (1,785) (1,878)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EREHEERHEEE (19,312) (23,393)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REBERREMEEHKER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-_=F+=-A=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
—E_=F —E__F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF FERT FHET
Loss for the year attributable to: BT ATEEERESR !
— the owners of the Company — RNAFHEBA (17,334) (18,377)
— non-controlling interests — FEIEAR R (193) (3,138)
(17,527) (21,515)
Total comprehensive loss for ATATEEFREAEESIBEE:
the year attributable to:
— the owners of the Company . YNGIET =N (17,321) (20,170)
— non-controlling interests — FEIE AR iR (1,991) (3,223)
(19,312) (23,393)
(Restated)
(&E7))
Loss per share (cents) FREE GBAL)
— Basic —BK 16 (16.82) (17.83)
— Diluted — 16 (16.82) (17.83)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR R R

At 31 December 2023
RZE_=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—=E-= —E-—fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FERT FAET
Non-current assets FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% - = Kk fE 18 6 56
Right-of-use assets EREEE 19 = -
Interests in associates N NI £ 20 - 13,906
Investment in a joint venture R—EaELEZIRE 21 = =
Goodwill fEES 22 74 =
80 13,962
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 23 705 =
Trade receivables FEUERTR 24 29,629 21,841
Other receivables, prepayments and deposits  E b fEUFIE ~ FB FIE Mg d 25 4,112 1,263
Bank and cash balances RITRIR B 4R 26 1,864 1,655
36,310 24,759
Current liabilities nREEE
Trade payables JESTBRFR 27 15,630 551
Other payables, deposits received and HipfENZIE - BUNET S RETER
accrued expenses 28 18,454 13,532
Amount due to an associate FET— & A RIFIE 20 906 906
Other borrowings Hinfg & 29 6,901 -
Convertible bonds AR ES 30 = 20,577
Lease liabilities HERE 31 544 1,515
42,435 37,081
Net current liabilities REBEEFE (6,125) (12,322)
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBEE (6,045) 1,640
Non-current liabilities FEREEE
Convertible bonds AR ES 30 7,856 S
Lease liabilities HEAE 31 - 561
7,856 561
(NET LIABILITIES)/NET ASSETS (BEFE) BEFE (13,901) 1,079
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 December 2023
RZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

2023 2022
—E_=F —E__F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B et THET FETT

Capital and reserves BRAEREE
Share capital f& A 33 1,649 1,649
Reserves ] (14,052) (34)
(12,403) 1,615
Non-controlling interests FEFE R (1,498) (536)
(CAPITAL DEFICIENCY)/TOTAL EQUITY (&7 E4l) 4% (13,901) 1,079

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March
2024.

Director Director

5% Ex
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREE R

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=—F+-_A=+—RALtFE

Attributable to the owners of the Company

LN TN 3
Foreign Equity
currency component of
Share Share translation Statutory  convertible  Accumulated Non- controlling
capital premium reserve  Option reserve reserve bonds losses  Total reserve interests  Total equity

TARES

e ROEE ARRERE  BRERE EERE EEHS ZithE B5%  FERER BEs
note 350)))  (ote 3dc)fi)  (note 3a(c)fi)  (note S5(c)y)  (note 35(c)iY)
(dsqen)  (Wsssom)  (hEsem)  (Esqew)  (WEsse)

HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK§000 HK$ 000 HKS000

T T i Fhr Thr T i FhL T T

At 1 January 2022 R-E--%-f-B 1,649 110,837 1,633 1,390 - 2212 96,660) 19,112 2575 23336
Recognition of share-based payments BRI BRI - - - 1,136 - - - 1,136 - 1,136
Acquistion of non-controling interests DG ERER (Wo9n)

frote 330) . . = . . . 12 (1 112 -
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREABREE - - (1,799) - - - (18,377) (20,170) 3229 (23,399
Ohenges i equy forthe year ERERES = . (7% 11% . . (18489 (19,146) Bit) 225)
As 31 December 2022 and W-B--#+-f=t-A

1 January 2023 B-2-z£-f-R 1,649 110537 (160) 25% 5 222 (15149 34 (536) 1,079
Lapse of convertiole bonds WHRREREN - - - - - 2212 2212 - - -
[ssue of convertible bonds BIMERES - - - - - 2,240 - 2,240 - 2,240
Recognition of share-based payments MR BEBH [ e e C 1,063 e e e 1,063 o 1,063
Transfer of share option reserve REREXNEERERE

upon lapse of share options 1 - - - (216) - - 216 - - -
Non-controling interest on acquistion of & —EHEBAZE

a subsidiary (note 38(3) SHERER (Wi%50) - - - - - - - - 1,029 1,029
Transfer to statutory reserves BRTATER - - - s 166 s (166) = s =
Total comprehensive loss for the year A2 EEBEE - - 13 - - - (17,334) (17,321) (1,991) (19,312)
Changes in equity for the year FRERED - - 13 87 166 2 (15,072) (14,018) (962) (14,980)
As at 31 December 2023 HoBoZE+=Az+-7 1,649 110537 (147) 337 166 2200 (130221) (14,052) (1,499) (13.901)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—ALHFE

2023 2022
—E-= bk ikt
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM BETERHEESR
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax FRELATE R (17,527) (21,519)
Adjustments for: AT SEELFAE
Interest income F B A () ©)]
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERREBITE
equipment 54 254
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEERE - 2,086
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—HeatE sl (5) =
Gain on dividend forfeited by NCI FEFE AR M 2R IR B 2 e (1,821) =
Finance costs M%ER 1,975 2,026
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets FRAEEEREBEERE - 2,080
Impairment losses for trade receivables RS 2 BEEE - 49
Reversal of impairment loss for H M EWRIE 2R EBER D
other receivables (142) (130)
Written off of inventories FEMH - 3,750
Share of results of associates Pak =)k NCIE 13,691 7,248
Share-based payment expenses VARG 1D B ER N KX 1,063 1,136
Operating loss before working capital changes 4 i & 4 % B/ i 4% & £ 18 (2,715) (3,019)
Increase in inventories FEEM (711) (694)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables FEU AR 7R (35 00), iR > (7,787) 32,144
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HAth FEWGRIE - B RIE R
prepayments and deposits e GEm),m (1,596) 7,984
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FEATERRRE AN, CRi ) 15,100 (33,943)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables, HEMEMATE BERET& R
deposits received and accrued expenses FEET B RGN, CRd) 4,952 (1,377)
Cash from operations KEMBRE 7,243 1,095
Interest on lease liabilities HEARNE (55) (122)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) paid BEX R BEEMSH
([EAmEH)) - (398)
Net cash generated from operating activities 4 & E B FT15I8 & %48 7,188 575
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-_=F+=-A=+—RHLLFE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM BRETEHEESR
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of a joint venture HE—MAEEZMERE 5 =
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WE—FHRB AR ZRERAFE
a subsidiary (38(a)) 45
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B A% - K E & E & (8) (193)
Interest received 2 WFLE 3 3
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities WEEBE/(FTR)IREF5E 45 (190)
CASH FLOWS FROM BMETHEESR
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of convertible bonds BITARE R Z ATE B 9,500 =
Repayment of other borrowings EBEEMES (15,000)
Principal elements of lease payments AER MZﬁ%ﬁB“ (1,484) (2,079)
Increase in amount due to an associate FE A~ — B Bt 4 N B FRIETE AN - 906
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBARSFE (6,984) (1,173)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERBEEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #wmCRd) FHE 249 (788)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNERE K& B) 2 & (40) (165)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT R—A—HBHWEBEER
1 JANUARY REEEY 1,655 2,608
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RT-ZA=+—HBWRER
31 DECEMBER HEZEY 1,864 1,655
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND BERASEEYIWN
CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank and cash balances RITRBEE 1,864 1,655
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as an exempt com-pany with
limited liability under the Company Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 10 September
2013. The address of its registered office is Windward 3, Regatta Office
Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is located at A709-A22, 7/F.,
Block A, Jiangsu Building, 6013 Yitian Road, Fuxin Community, Lianhua
Street, Futian District, Shenzhen, Guangdong Province, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”). The principal place of business in Hong
Kong is located at Unit 5, 4/F., Energy Plaza, No. 92 Granville Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares
are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) since 18 July 2014.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are research and development, manufacture, sale of
electronic devices and provision of application software development
and online information and digital marketing services.

GOING CONCERN

The Group incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$17,334,000 during the year ended 31 December
2023 and, as at 31 December 2023, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$6,125,000 and the
total liabilities exceeds its total assets by approximately HK$13,901,000.
In view of these circumstances, the Directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the impact of the current and anticipated
future liquidity of the Group.

The validity of the Group to operate as a going concemn is dependent
upon the outcomes of the Group to () attain profitable and positive
cash flows from operations by exploiting business development and
implementing effective cost control measures; and (i) a shareholder
of the Company has agreed to provide interest-free and unsecured
financial support to the extent of HK$12,000,000 to the Group for the
next twelve months to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. Up
to the date of these consolidated financial statements, the shareholder
has deposited HK$5,000,000 to the bank account of a subsidiary of
the Company.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having taken into
account the above measures, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group will be able to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business. Therefore,
the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared
on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BB MRk MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

3.

78

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASSs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong. These consolidated financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622).
Significant accounting policies adopted by the Group are discussed
below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 4 provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are relevant to the Group for the
current and prior accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs

(@) New and amended standards adoption by the Group
The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKSA 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no material
impact on the Group’s financial position and performance for
the current and prior year and/or the disclosures set out in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

4.

(b)

Change in accounting policy

Change in accounting policy as a result of application of the
HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the abolition
of the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) — Long Service
Payment (“LSP”) offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

The Group has several subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong
which are obliged to pay LSP to employees under certain
circumstances. Meanwhile, the Group makes mandatory MPF
contributions to the trustee who administers the assets held
in a trust solely for the retirement benefits of each individual
employee. Offsetting of LSP against an employee’s accrued
retirement benefits derived from employers’ MPF contributions
was allowed under the Employment Ordinance (Cap.57). In June
2022, the Government of the HKSAR gazetted the Employment
and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”)
which abolishes the use of the accrued benefits derived from
employers’ mandatory MPF contributions to offset severance
payment and LSP (the “Abolition”). The Abolition will officially
take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). In addition,
under the Amendment Ordinance, the last month’s salary
immediately preceding the Transition Date (instead of the date
of termination of employment) is used to calculate the portion of
LSP in respect of the employment period before the Transition
Date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” which provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact arising from abolition of
the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong. In light of
this, the Group has implemented the guidance published by the
HKICPA in connection with the LSP obligation retrospectively so
as to provide more reliable and more relevant information about
the effects of the offsetting mechanism and the Abolition.

The Amendment Ordinance has no material impact on the
Group’s LSP Liabilities and staff cost.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

BB MRk MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs
(continued)

(©

80

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1

and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of
Accounting Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies” for the
first time in the current year. HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial
Statements” is amended to replace all instances of the term
“significant accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related
transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are
immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial accounting
policy information, such information must not obscure material
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements”
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an
entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting
policy disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance
and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set
out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-F-=F+-A=t+—HLFE

4. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 4. EAFITRLETERBUMHREER (B
(continued)

(d)

New standards, amendments to standards and d) MREXGHFER - EAEITRRE

interpretations not yet effective
The Group has not applied any amendments to standards and
interpretation that have been issued but are not yet effective for

AEEYEERCRMER T _=F—H—
H B %A B9 B B T2 18 R A A (] B BB RT 2

the financial year beginning 1 January 2023. The amendments to 2R o ¥PERIMESET RBREBIE T AT gE A

standards and interpretation include the following which may be SEBBEMNEE -
relevant to the Group.

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning
on or after

RT3 BEHH 2%
BRI ST R £ XK

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of liabilities ~ FE @5 EB|E15 23] - 88 &

as current or non-current DB AREKIERE

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current liabilities BB EREIR 2B —MHEEHL
with covenants ERBAE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 — Lease Liability BB BHELRFE16 2 ER] —
in a sale and leaseback ErERmEEaE

Amendments to revised Hong Kong BBREEST (KB UBHRENEY —
Interpretation 5 (revised) presentation of ERAHBEREREREBRRD

financial statements-classification by borrower of a & HiE Z ) 7 58
term loan that contains a repayment
on demand clause

Amendments to HKAS 7 and BB G ENETRERB BT KRS &R
HKFRS 7 Supplier finance arrangements BT BR] —HERRME LT
Amendments to HKAS 21 — Lack of BB EREIR 2B — B A Kk

Exchangeability

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or &/ B 8 &E R F1058 R &6 &5 48|
contribution of assets between an investor and its 2855 V7 {£5] — R A EEEBE N T E

associate or joint venture ¥CEMEELESTEE

o
£
B

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of

1 January 2024

—ENF-RA—

H

1 January 2024

—ENF-RA—

H

1 January 2024

—ECNF-RA—

H

1 January 2024

—ENF-RA—

H

1 January 2024

—ENF-RA—

H

1 January 2024

—ENF-RA—

H

To be determined by
the HKICPA
FEEEHMAE
EiE

what the impact of these amendments is expected to be in B2 E KRB EERIRERE Lt

the period of initial application. The directors of the Company
hence concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / £ EE ¥ #5 2023

TRABHGEAMBHRRELEATE -

AEEEEEHEEMZSEITHERERD
usCH|

81



Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 k2R B 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_E-_=F+_A=+—HIFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

5.

82

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 6.

Significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
financial statements are set out below.

(@

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
December. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has
control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant
activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties.
A potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in
a loss of control represents the difference between () the fair
value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated foreign currency translation
reserve relating to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B RS SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

(@

(b)

Consolidation (continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries
not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position and consolidated statement of
changes in equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total comprehensive
income for the year between the non-controlling shareholders
and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners). The carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted
and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the
Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment loss, unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal
group that is classified as held for sale).

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable
or convertible, including potential voting rights held by other
entities, are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right
contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention and
financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

5.

84

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(b)

Associates (continued)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the
associate in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the associate’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and
is tested for impairment together with the investment at the end
of each reporting period when there is objective evidence that
the investment is impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.
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B RS SRR M AT

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

(©)

Joint arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or more
parties have joint control. Joint control is the contractually agreed
sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when
decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control. Relevant activities are
activities that significantly affect the returns of the arrangement.
When assessing joint control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by other
parties. A potential voting right is considered only if the holder
has the practical ability to exercise that right.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the arrangement.

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint
venture in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the cost of the investment
over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the joint venture’s
identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill, which is
included in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess
of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in a joint venture may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of
the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss
recognised is not allocated to any asset, including goodwill, that
forms part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal
of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

Joint arrangements (continued)

The Group’s share of a joint venture’s post-acquisition profits
or losses and other comprehensive income is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. When the Group’s share of losses in a joint venture
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the
Group’s net investment in the joint venture), the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture
subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its
share of those profits only after its share of the profits equals the
share of losses not recognised.

5.

86

(©)

(d)

Foreign currency translation

U

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”), which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial
statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B 75 k2R B 5E
For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-_T-_=F+-_A=+—HLHFE
5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(d) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(ii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

- Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

- Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at
the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

- All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and
of borrowings are recognised in the foreign currency
translation reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such
exchange differences are recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
rate.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in the
profit or loss during the period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-T-=Ft+-A=t-BLFE

5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(€

()

88

5. EARSFHERER (&)

Property, plant and equipment (continued) (e) W#¥ BMERREGE
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated at ME - BB KRBT E RIE R AMEEE KA
rates sufficient to write off their costs less their residual value BEAGEFT A AF AR RIREE - AERE
over the estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The FE - FEFRERMNT -
principal annual rates are as follows:

Residual value Useful lives

FItAEE Al 5

Motor vehicles RE 0-10% 3 yearst
Furniture and fixture RMREE 0-10% 5 yearstE
Office equipment RN 0-10% 5 years4
Plant and machinery [R5 R 25 0-10% 10 years4E
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method FIRAEE  AIERFHRITE A ZRNSHRESR
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each RF AR RFAR (WEA) -
reporting period.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon ME BERREEENEEREBHAER
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected HLE(F AZ B EREE AR ER =B R
to arise from the continued use of the asset. The gain or loss HEWE BERREB 2 IEBRIVIEERSIUA
on disposal of property, plant and equipment is the difference FREOAEHEAEREEME 2258 WRZIE
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the BRILEREENBEAER
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which the item is derecognised.
Leases nm HE=E
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the AREBSRAEOVRERETEZAREE
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a HESBREHE - WEHNABRBRAREMS TE
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an — BRI R R ) ] s 1) B EE A B AOAE R - BIEZ

identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.
Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from that use.

The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the Group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component
for all leases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

()

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. When the Group enters into a lease in respect
of low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which they
are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred. Where
applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end
of the lease term are depreciated from commencement date
to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its
estimated useful life and the lease term.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

90

()

(9)

Leases (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in
future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s estimate of the amount
expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change
in the scope of a lease or the consideration for a lease that
is not originally provided for in the lease contract (“ Lease
Modification”) that is not accounted for as a separate lease. In
this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised
lease payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs is determined using the weighted average basis
and comprise all costs of purchase and, where applicable,
cost of conversion and other costs that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the sale and
non-incremental costs which the Group must incur to make the
sale. When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised in the profit or loss in the period of write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories recognised as an increment in the amount of
inventories and recognised in the profit or loss in the period in
which the reversal occurs.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

(h)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when the Group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset
and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the
Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise
the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing
for the proceeds received.

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have
expired. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the statement of financial position when there is a
legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

V)

0

92

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All
recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their
entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending on the
classification of the financial assets.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method
for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost.
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning
of the reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective
interest method less impairment loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

(k)

V)

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within
three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
expected credit losses (“ECL”).

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Debts and equity instruments are classified according to the
substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument under
HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at fair value through
profit or loss.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds which entitle the holder to convert the loans
into a fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion
price are regarded as compound instruments consisting of
a liability and an equity component. At the date of issue, the
fair value of the liability component is estimated using the
prevailing market interest rate for similar non-convertible debt.
The difference between the proceeds of issue of the convertible
loans and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded option for the holder to convert the
loans into equity of the Group, is included in equity as equity
component of convertible bonds. The liability component is
carried as a liability at amortised cost using the effective interest
method until extinguished on conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
equity components of the convertible bonds based on their
relative carrying amounts at the date of issue. The portion related
to the equity component is charged directly to equity.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated initially at their fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.
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(p)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, ie when “control” over a product or service is
transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue from the sale of manufactured products and trading of
electronic accessories is recognised when control of the goods
has transferred, being when the goods have been shipped to the
buyer’s specific location (delivery). Following delivery, the buyer
has full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to
sell the goods, has the primary responsibility when on selling the
goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in relation
to the goods. A receivable is recognised by the Group when the
goods are delivered to the buyer as this represents the point in
time at which the right to consideration becomes unconditional,
as only the passage of time is required before payment is due.

Revenue from provision of online information and digital
marketing services is recognised when the services have been
provided.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost
that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit impaired
financial assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss allowance)
of the asset.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)
(@) Employee benefits

U

(i)

(ii)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension obligations

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme in Hong Kong.
Contributions are made based on 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a ceiling of monthly relevant
income of HK$30,000 and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF Scheme.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offsetted as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in
term of HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a) and it is measured
on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit
is determined after deducting the negative service cost
arising from the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s
MPF contributions that have been vested with employees,
which are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.
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Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the effect of
non-market based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date
of the equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions.

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse
are deleted from the register of outstanding options. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in the share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses as a movement in reserves.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

(t)

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised.
Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
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5.
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(u)

v)

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at
each reporting date for indications of impairment and where
an asset is impaired, it is written down as an expense through
the consolidated statement of profit or loss to its estimated
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs of disposal of the individual asset or the
cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present values are
computed using pre-tax discount rates that reflect the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset/cash-generating unit
whose impairment is being measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated first
against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata amongst the
other assets of the cash-generating unit. Subsequent increases
in the recoverable amount caused by changes in estimates
are credited to profit or loss to the extent that they reverse the
impairment.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on trade
receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting
date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of
the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.
The ECL on these financial assets are estimated using a
provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime
ECL when there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group measures the loss allowance for that financial
instrument at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the reporting
date.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the
future prospects of the industries in which the Group’s debtors
operate, obtained from economic expert reports, financial
analysts, governmental bodies, relevant think-tanks and other
similar organisations, as well as consideration of various external
sources of actual and forecast economic information that relate
to the Group’s core operations.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

100

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.
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5. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of
default for internal credit risk management purposes as historical
experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the
following criteria are generally not recoverable.

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

o information developed internally or obtained from external
sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into
account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90
days past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset
is credit-impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

o a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or

contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the counterparty will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

102

v)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, including when the debtor
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based on historical
data adjusted by forward-looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets, this
is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the
reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts, the exposure
includes the amount drawn down as at the reporting date,
together with any additional amounts expected to be drawn
down in the future by default date determined based on historical
trend, the Group’s understanding of the specific future financing
needs of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

If the Group has measured the impairment for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Group
measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(continued)

5.

v)

(w)

()

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt instruments that are measured
at FVTOCI, for which the impairment is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment
revaluation reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of
the financial asset in the statement of financial position.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed
as contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
financial statements. Events after the reporting period that are
not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements when material.
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104

Eo=F+ A=+ —HIEFE
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 5, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that
have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

(@) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon the
successful implementation and outcome of the measures to be
undertaken by the Group. Details are explained in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.

(b)  Judgement in joint control assessment

The Group holds 51% of the voting rights of its joint venture,
Millennium Pacific Electronics Limited (“MPEL”). The directors
of the Company have determined that the Group has joint
control over MPEL based on underlying contractual agreement,
it appears that unanimous consent is required from both parties
to the agreement to enable to direct for all relevant activities of
MPEL.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(@) Impairment losses for trade receivables

The directors of the Company estimate the amount of impairment
loss for ECL on trade and other receivables based on the credit
risk of trade and other receivables. The Group uses practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables which are not
assessed individually using a provision matrix. The provision rates
are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various debtors
taking into consideration the Group’s historical default rates and
forward-looking information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes
in the forward-looking information are considered. The provision
of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information
about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed
in note 7(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$29,629,000 (2022:
HK$21,841,000), being net of impairment loss of approximately
HK$934,000 (2022: net of approximately HK$934,000).

(b)  Impairment of investments in associates

As at 31 December 2023, in view of impairment indicators,
the Group performed impairment assessment on associates.
Determining whether impairment loss should be recognised
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the relevant
associates which is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the
management of the Group to estimate the present value of the
estimated cash flows expected to arise from dividends to be
received from the associates and the proceeds from the ultimate
disposal of the investment taking into account factors, including
discount rate, dividend payout rate, etc. In cases where the
actual cash flows are less or more than expected, or change in
facts and circumstances which result in revision of future cash
flows estimation or discount rate, a material reversal or further
recognition of impairment may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a reversal or further
recognition takes place.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY ESTIMATES
(continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

6.
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Impairment of investments in associates (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of investments in
associates is Nil (2022: HK$13,906,000), being net of impairment
loss of investments in associates of approximately HK$7,963,000
(2022: HK$7,963,000).

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment,
if any. In determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group
has to exercise judgement and make estimation, particularly in
assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators
that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in
the case of value in use, the net present value of future cash
flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the
asset; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow
projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual
asset (including right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
assets belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used in
the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are approximately
HK$6,000 (2022: HK$56,000) and Nil (2022: Nil).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s
overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group’s financial performance.

7.

(@

Foreign currency risk

The functional currency of the Group’s entities are principally
denominated in either HK$ and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated
in currencies other than its functional currency such as United
States dollars (“US$”). The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities. The Group will monitor its
foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Set out below the sensitivity analysis the Group’s foreign
currency risk.
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Year ended 31 December 2023
Year ended 31 December 2022
Note: This is mainly a result of foreign exchange gain/(loss) on bank

deposits, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables
denominated in US$.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

108

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its
obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract,
leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit
risk from its operating activities (primarily trade receivables)
and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks,
foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments.
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arising from cash and
cash equivalents is limited because the counterparties are
banks and financial institutions with high credit-rating assigned
by international credit-rating agencies, for which the Company
considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables

The Group has significant concentrations of credit risk as 84%
(2022: 96%) of the Group’s trade receivables were due from
one (2022: two) customers. The directors of the Company are
of the opinion that the credit risk exposure in relation to these
customers is not significant as these customers had sound
financial position for whom there was no recent history of default.
In addition, the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales
are made to customers with an appropriate credit history.

Customer credit risk is managed by each business unit subject
to the Group’s established policy, procedures and control
relating to customer credit risk management. Individual credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over
a certain amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and current ability to
pay, and take into account information specific to the customer
as well as pertaining to the economic environment in which
the customer operates. Trade receivable are due within 60 to
90 days from the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not
obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures impairment loss for trade receivable at
an amount equal to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due
status is not further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

7. BERERERE ()

(o)

FERR
FERREEFIELZBTERTARER,A
HETHEEMSI RS RMIBRNER - KAT
Rgeme) (TERRERNR) REBELH (2
BRITOEF IEXZREMESRTE) M
HEREERR - ARRERS MRS EEYE
ROEERRER  REASYHTFHREBRE
B RREBA TREERNRITR S RERE
AR RRARREBEEERR

JEN AR

AEEEBEANEESTRR - ILTRRAE
E84% (=T = —4F : 96%) MU IR IR B
—H(CE_F BMR)EP - ARRESR
B ARZEFEPMBMRIBRE - BT H &
ERRE AMEZFEFAENEERRMK
A ARERX © A REB D BIFTHE - A
REBFIELHNEEFSBAOEEED -

EPEERRREBEASESFAME,EER
RETRNBER - 1B RIERIR S B ER -
AEEHMBEERBAETEESRLEPE
TERIEER G - ZFTEETREFBER
REHFAZCHERBNZERENTEER
PR EEMNAREREP 2EZLHRIT -
FEUR RN B 3R H BIAEETE0ZE90H M EHE - —
gms  ARENEESKEELHEMRM -

AEBEERBBERGEN2HRBEREER
SR ERUCRRABERE - AR AKEH
BEFEBRERY BB R TREL D HNE
BRAAARARER QU EE—FROAE
N [R] % P B e B B0 RS 1R 8
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BERBRERE(E)
(b) Credit risk (continued) b) FEREGE)
Trade receivables (continued) JEW IR (4)

TRE#AEER-_ZT-_=F+=-_A=+—H
HREERBREKEWREREHEEEEZE

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables as at 31

December 2023: #
2023
—E-=
Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
FEHEEE IREAE BRERF
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% THT FHET
Current (not past due) BVER (37 #E280 HR) 2.0% 4,279 84
1- 30 days past due B HEAI1Z=30H 2.0% 608 12
31-60 days past due #HIB1ZE60R N/AT i A - -
61-90 days past due #HIB1 290 N/ATHE A - -
More than 90 days past due #HA90B LA E 3.3% 25,676 838
30,563 934
2022
T

Expected loss Gross carrying Loss
rate amount allowance
TE BT 1 K FRE A EERE
% HK$’000 HK$'000
% FHET FHET
Current (not past due) BNER (I f80 BR) N/AT 3 A = =
1- 30 days past due BHEAI1 300 N/AZ 4 = =
31-60 days past due #HI31Z60H 2.4% 791 19
61-90 days past due #HI61Z290H N/AA i@ F - -
More than 90 days past due #HA90B LA+ 4.2% 21,984 915
22,775 934

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors and
adjusted for forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

110

Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables (continued)

Movements in the loss allowance for trade receivables during the

year is as follows:

MR EEE (H)
b FERRE
FEW IR ()

RERRYSRRERBEESH T

2023 2022

—E-= —ET-F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT FHET

At 1 January ®n—A—H 934 885

Impairment losses recognised for the year — 4E AR R E E 18 - 49

At 31 December W+=ZA=+—8 934 934
Deposits and other receivables 2% KA Mg K HE

In order to reduce the credit risk, the management of the
Company has assessed the credit quality of each debtor
taking into account its financial position and other factors.
ECLs on deposits and other receivables are assessed under
general approach and as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
management considers these receivables had no significant
increase in credit risk since its initial recognition and therefore
ECL for stage 1 assets applies, i.e. allowance equal to 12-month
ECL.

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for deposits and other
receivables as at the end of the reporting period:

ABREEERR ARARBEEEFRSEBHA
MBI REMEAZTEEEELE R - &S
REAMERFIEN B EEEIBIR R ET
B RZEZ=FRIFEF+ZA=+—
B ERERAXZSEWFEEVIAEREE
BRBIEEZEN ANERE —BREE
MIEHEEEE  BESEM2EAESER
18 -

TRRUABARERBERAIES R
EUHOBE R B AR RS E RN E
B

2023 2022
—E=-= T

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET

Gross carrying amount classified as NEARFBREENEREAE
stage 1 assets 2,321 1,299
Weighted average expected credit loss rate Il FHTEEE B BB X 0% 11.2%
Loss allowance EERE = 146
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b)

(c)

Credit risk (continued)

Deposits and other receivables (continued)

12-month ECL on deposits and other receivables that has been
recognised in accordance with general approach set out in
HKFRS 9 is as follows:

MHEREE (E)

(b)

FERK (&)

1B RE M IERFIE (E)
RBEBUBREERIFORATE — M AR
REZE REMERGER12E A FEREEES
BT :

2023 2022

g = —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT FHET

At beginning of year REA] 146 294
Reversal of impairment losses RAFE B RN EEIEERD

recognised for the year (142) (130)

Exchange realignment M 5 AR (4) (18)

At end of year RER - 146

Interest rate risk
The Group’s convertible bonds are arranged at fixed interest
rates and therefore subject to fair value interest rate risks.

The Group’s exposure to interest-rate risk arises from its bank
deposits. These bank deposits bear interests at floating rates
varied with the then prevailing market condition.

Except as stated above, the Group does not have other
significant interest-bearing assets and liabilities at the end
of reporting period, its income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest rates.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

7.

112

()

Liquidity risk

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Group have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity and going concern of the Group in light of the fact
that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets
by approximately HK$6,125,000 at 31 December 2023.
The directors have carried out a detailed review of the cash
flow forecast of the Group for the twelve months ending 31
December 2024 and other measures taken by the management
as referred to in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements,
and consider that the Group will have sufficient working capital
to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due for the
twelve months from 31 December 2023.

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities
at the end of each reporting period of the Group’s financial
liabilities, based on undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date the
Group can be required to pay.

7.

MHEREE (E)

()

RBESRE

NRBUZ A TEREE  ERNREFR -
ZEFTZ A=+ -ARBDAEERERSE
EE#96,125,0008 70 * AEEZEEDFEZ EAR
SERRABDESRIFBELE -EFCHAE
EfE—_Z_NE+_A=+—B1L+=1&
R 2B & RETERA RERE B4R M sE2Fr it
EIREFTERANE B A M A TR AR BT - R
REAKSEEERRNEEEASUBITEE =S
=+ A=+ A+ AR AR
BEE -

TRITFAEERN SR A ERN SRS MRO%
TARMR - MARKRT A RHBRIRERR
ARERE (BIEERE RN XK (MEZBF
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R AR AR A EE L& F BHEH -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 7. BERBRERE(E)
(d) Liquidity risk (continued) 0 REBELERE)
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities based on AEERBEERRMERSTENENEHE
contractual undiscounted cash flow is as follows: EHR BRI T ¢
Less than Between 1
On demand 1 year and 2 years Total
RER —EHTF —EWE mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TERT TERT
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE-=%+=H
=t+—H
Trade payables ERER - 15,630 - 15,630
Other payables, deposits received HttEMAFIE - ST £
and accrued expenses REGER 6,227 11,940 - 18,167
Amount due to an associate B —EBeE A RRE 906 - - 906
Convertible bonds R ES - - 10,260 10,260
Other borrowings HEs - 6,901 - 6,901
Lease liabilities HERE - 550 - 550
Less than Between 1
On demand 1 year and 2 years Total
BEKR —FLT —EmEF BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 31 December 2022 RZZ-_—_F+-A
=+—H
Trade payables FEfTERRX - 551 - 551
Other payables, deposits received HbEA5E - eI 2
and accrued expenses MIEER 2,331 10,908 - 13,239
Amount due to an associate FEf— B & 2 RIFUR 906 - - 906
Convertible bonds AR E S - 21,600 - 21,600
Lease liabilities HEBE - 1,570 566 2,136
(e) Categories of financial instruments at 31 December © Rt-A=t—Hz2mIAKNEHR
2023 2022
== ==l - =
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Financial assets: tRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKR AR, eRE E 33,739 23,963
Financial liabilities: SRAsE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEX ARz 2BEE 49,460 35,273
()  Fair value ® 2FE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and e ABTER R EF2MAEBSBHEERS
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of HEENEEREEER S ATEMRE -

financial position approximate their respective fair values.
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8.

114

Fo=Ft+-A=t-ALFE
SEGMENT INFORMATION

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as
those described in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Operating segment information

The Group is principally engaged in a single type business of research,
development, manufacturing and trading of electronic devices, while
the revenue from provision of online information and digital marketing
services contributed approximately 1% to the Group’s consolidated
revenue. Information reported to the board of directors, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment focuses on revenue analysis by products. No other discrete
financial information is provided other than the Group’s results and
financial position as a whole. Accordingly, only entity-wide disclosure,
major customers and geographical information are presented.

Geographical information
Non-current assets of the Group are presented based on the
geographical location as follows:

8.

7 EEF
DB R BUREE S MBRE M EEM AN
R —5 -

rasHEs

AEBTZEENE HEREEETRENE R
BT - MR EERRBF 2 HRERAL
RARERARAMI % BHAEFTE 2R Bx
BRERRE  NEHFINEBER WG ITT
ETERD LR - RIEHASEZEE RERRB
IS - R BB M E R - At - £27
BREE TEFFPMMEER -

o 72
AEBRERBEERMIBLEZSINT

2023 2022

—E—= —E-_F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHET

Chinese Mainland RS A 3 6 56

Non-current assets include property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers is
presented based on the geographical location as follows:

FRBDEERENE BELRBRERREE -

BRAARSERK B IMNIE P WS EFRBIA T I
B2 :

2023 2022

—g=-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
Hong Kong BE 60,662 18,245
Chinese Mainland R i 794 47,409
61,456 65,654
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8.

10.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base included two (2022: three) customers with
whom transactions have exceeded 10% of its revenue during the year
is set out as below:

7 RPE X ()

FBREXEEFNEHR
REBRFRANEFERHINWT - EhBEEREZ
(ZZ=F : =R) R FBBREBREE10%NEF -

2023 2022

B = —ET-—F

HK$’000 HK$'000

THT FHET

Customer A ZHEA 40,799 =

Customer B =B 12,980 -

Customer C (note (i) BEC(KIZ)) - 20,343

Customer D (note (i) BED (K 0) - 15,992

Customer E (note (i) BEE(K0)) - 6,708
(i) These customers did not contribute over 10% of the total [0} BE_Z_=F+-_A=+—HIEFE Z

turnover of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by major

ERFEBMZKRAGAKEZ LRETER

10% °

Wz

FA BEBEMIRBRE DTS KM EEAMA

products or service line for the year is as follows: me
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EARMEHREERFEIEER AN
within the scope of HKFRS 15 P&l
Products and services transferred at a point RE e o] B B2 B 2 an R AR TS -
in time:
Provision of online information and REE FEARETE HRY
digital marketing services 794 338
Sales of manufactured products BREmMEE 53,779 17,907
Sales on trading of electronic products, BEFER BAERRMBESHEE
accessories and raw materials 6,883 47,409
61,456 65,654
OTHER INCOME Hib A
2023 2022
—B2—= —ET-_F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FHT
Interest income B U A 3 3
Sales of scrap BEmHE - 1,448
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—HeEtE 2 ME 5 -
Gain on dividend forfeited by NCI FEIE R R ROR R B 2 WA 1,821 =
Others Hith 23 1
1,852 1,452
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11.

12,

116

FINANCE COSTS 11. HBEA
2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—

HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHBT
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaERNL 55 122
Effective interest expense on convertible bonds A #% (& 5 B R H 2.5 % 1,619 1,904
Interest on other borrowings HEEHNE 301 -
1,975 2,026

LOSS BEFORE TAX 12. BRELAIEE

The Group’s loss before tax is stated after charging/(crediting) the

AEEMBATEETER,/(GEA) AT S IE&TER

following:

2023 2022

—E=-= —F-—
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
it FERT FET

Depreciation LANTIEEZITE

— Owned assets -BHEEE @) 54 254
- Right-of-use assets - FREEE (®) = 2,086
Staff costs (including directors’ BIRA(BEESEHE)
emoluments)
— Salaries, bonus and allowances - 5& - TEALROER 3,773 4,392
— Share-based payments - L‘A%Tﬁﬁgﬁ*" kRPN 1,063 1,136
— Retirement benefits scheme RREFIFT B3R
contributions 176 270
5,012 5,798

Cost of inventories sold BEEFERAE 57,646 62,400

Foreign exchange losses, net HMNE B 185 58 1 38

Short-term lease charges on premises WMEZRPHEHEE A 367 166

Auditors’ remuneration 1% £ BN B

- Audit services - BET RIS 570 570
— Non-audit services - IERET IR 60 40

Impairment losses for right-of-use assets AL EREEIE - 2,080

Impairment losses for trade receivables JiE U BR R (E B 1R - 49

Reversal of impairment losses B fE R IB 2 R E B R B

for other receivables (142) (130)

Written off of inventories FE M = 3,750

Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—HeErE WS (5) -

Gain on dividend forfeited by NCI FEFERR RO AR B 2 W e (1,821) -

Notes: Hiat -

(@) Depreciation of property, plant and equipment of approximately Nil (2022: @ E}gﬁ T=F+ZA=+—BLFE Y% BE
HK$78,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 is included in cost of REFENAT (T4 : 78000 7T) * 5T A
sales. SHE 2R ©

(b) Depreciation of right-of-use assets of approximately Nil (2022: () BE_Z-_=F+-_A=1+—RHLLEE FHAEEE
HK$510,000) for the year ended 31 December 2023 is included in cost of WENAZT (ZZE - —4 5100008 7T) ' st AHE

sales.

ZRRA
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13. INCOME TAX 13. Fi8#H
Under the two-tiered profits tax regime, one of the Company’s Hong RERBFIFIEHESE AR Edh—HESHBA
Kong subsidiaries is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate RIZA R E (A R E R TR I 8 B2 8 & 78 T 1k8.25%7 &
of 8.25% for the first HK$2 million of its estimated assessable profits BB BFET R A ERT SR BiE2E BH T
and at 16.5% on its estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. KB D IR16.5% TR R MMB BN B - BE_T =
Other Hong Kong subsidiaries not qualifying for the two-tiered profit tax FROZZFIZFTZAZT—HIEFE  Hio A FE
Regime are subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax at the rate of 16.5% AR B RS B E BB E A B ER16.5%F R4
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. MEBNEE -
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is required since the Hong BREBIEARAFROTIEEBAE L IKEE AT
Kong subsidiaries have sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off FENERBRSN - WBERESTISBELRE
against current year’s assessable profits.
The tax rate applicable to the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were 25% RER - NEE R BT B A B A R R A25% (=
(2022: 25%) during the year. TZZF 1 25%) °
No provision for PRC EIT is required since the PRC subsidiaries has no HE-_Z-_=ZEN_T-_—_HF+_A=+—HILFE"
assessable profit for the year for the years ended 31 December 2023 R R BT BB A B I 4 FE SR BB F - B AR B
and 2022. FPAERELEE
The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the loss before REBEAEHHIKE BRI AT BB TRATBFEHEL
tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of the Group is as HERNT -
follows:
2023 2022
g = —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax B TL A B 18 (17,527) (21,515)
Tax at the domestic tax rate of 16.5% LA %E16.5%

(2022; 16.5%) (ZZB=—4 : 16.5%) B QFIE (2,892) (3,550)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERRRANT G2 (455) M
Tax effect of share of results of associates DMEEE AR EENNB T E 2,259 1,196
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible TAIMBIAZ RIS & 1,275 1,242
Tax effect of temporary differences AERERFEZENRIETE

not recognised (407) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERREBENHEZE 339 1,803
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses not FABAARERANBEBEOB B E

previously recognised (194) =
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAM B AR R LR

operating in other jurisdiction MEBAR TR ENFE 75 (690)
Income tax expense for the year FRMEHRAX = =
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS 14. EEREEHS
(@) Directors’ emoluments @ E=Me
The emoluments paid or payable in respect a person’s services BTSRRI A RIS E M B A R R AR
as a director, whether of the Company, or its subsidiaries BrESEMEWT -

undertaking were as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z-_=F+-A=+—HLEE
Retirement
benefits
Salaries and scheme Share-based
Fees allowances  contributions payments Total
EHREA NRB A
ER HFERZER B LA ERHMAR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TET TET
Executive directors HTES
Wang Li () T ) - 86 - - 86
Zhou Chuang Qiang (i) BRG] - 114 - - 114
Chen Yiliang (i) BR1E 52 i) - 95 - - 95

Independent non-executive BV FHTES

directors
Zheng Wan Zhang (iv) EIri(v) 15 - - - 15
Man Wai Lun VB 118 = - - 118
Wong Tik Tung (v) pas /ﬂ%%(V) 120 = - - 120
Liang Zhijun (vi) REBWM) 4 - - - 4
Chen Yifan (vi) R — i) 16 - - - 16

273 295 - - 568
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

14. EEREEMS (E)

@ E=M< @
BE_ZT-—_F+-A=+—HLEFE

Retirement
Salaries and  benefits scheme Share-based
Fees allowances contributions payments Total
RKAER PARR D 7
4] HENRR BE L3N ERHR® Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FTAET FAET FTAET TAT
Executive directors HITES
Wang Li (i TE() - 240 - - 240
Zhou Chuang Qiang (i) BRG] - 240 - 216 456
Independent non-executive BIFHTES
directors
Zheng Wan Zhang (iv) Iy 145 - - - 145
Man Wai Lun NEHB 120 - - - 120
Wong Tik Tung (v) SRR 145 - - - 145
410 480 - 216 1,106
Notes: Kt -

(i) Resigned on 10 May 2023

(ii) Resigned on 21 June 2023

(iii) Appointed on 29 May 2023

(iv) Resigned on 13 February 2023
(v) Resigned on 31 December 2023

(Vi) Appointed on 29 May 2023 and resigned on 29 June 2023

(vii) Appointed on 27 September 2023

There was no arrangement under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals
The five highest paid individuals in the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 included none of the (2022: one) director
who emolument is reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments of the five (2022: four) individuals are set out below

14. EEREEMS (E)

(b)

hEREFHAL

BEZZT-_=F+-A=+—HILFE K&
ErEsmiMATHEaRE (2 -2F:
—B)EZF EMe RN EXFREINNST
PREE(CEZZF B AL S R

respectively: HIEAT -
2023 2022
—E—= —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Basic salaries and allowances AR S RERL 1,854 1,674
Share-based payments LARR 19 A EE R 3R 88 30
Retirement benefits scheme contributions ROKEFFT S 5K 78 66
2,020 1,770

The emoluments fell within the following band:

B @i THIHE

Number of individuals

N |
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —F-—
Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 %1,000,000/% T 5 4

There was no discretionary bonus paid or payable to any of the
directors and the five highest paid individuals during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors
or the highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

(c) Senior management’s emoluments
Senior management represents the executive directors. The
emoluments paid or payable to senior management during the
year have been set out in the analysis presented above.

(d) Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts
No significant transaction, arrangement and contract in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company was a party and
in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected
party had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year of at any time during the year.

©

(@

BE_ZE-=FR-_T-_—_F+=-A=+—H
IEFE  WEATWESRAEERTMAL
AT SR R BB FEAL ©

BHE_ZE-_=FR-T__F+-H=+—H
IEFE  AEERERTAEESIESHHA
TR EAMEERNBRINBRE B LR
Bk VE BBk (E -

EREEAEBNHS
BRERABRATEE - RER  EHRE
HFERERARZBEERA L2505
i -

ESRRS  EHAANPEENEX
L
ARREFREBEFTBEARA AR AEE
ST BN A AR BN
FAZS  BHRANT  HERNEREE
KAl -
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DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
(continued)

14.

15.

16.

17.

(e) During the year, certain directors and employees were granted
share options, in respect of services to the Group under share
option scheme of the Company. Details of the share option
schedule are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIVIDEND

No dividend had been paid or declared by the Company during the

year (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

(@

(b)

Basic loss per share

14.

15.

16.

EEkESHE (B

() RFR BETEEREERREADABLE
SrEAARERN 2 REMERBERE - G5
BRI BB RN R A M HR 36 ©

RE
AR AR ERBORN HEREARS (ZB =4 -
=) -

BREE
@ BREFEE

2023 2022
g = —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Loss [Fi-1
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic BRFTESRERAREEEEN
and diluted loss per share E518 (17,334) (18,377)
(Restated)
(&gE5)
Number of shares R E 103,073,897 103,073,897

Diluted loss per share

The effects of the Company’s potential ordinary shares in respect
of the outstanding share options and convertible bonds are
anti-dilutive for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the purpose of calculation of basic and diluted loss per
share for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Share Consolidation (as defined in Note 33) being effective on
30 June 2023 was deemed to be effective throughout the period
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2023. Accordingly, the
weighted average number of ordinary shares of the Company in
issue during the year ended 31 December 2022 was adjusted to
reflect the effect of the Share Consolidation.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries
and wages subject to a monthly maximum amount of HK$1,500
(2022: HK$1,500) per employee and vest fully with employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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=T —RIEFENBRERAREEBHENS -
RZZZ=FAA=+TBHEBHIRMDEH(E
FRIMFSS)  WHRAR_ZE__F—H—H
EE=FHZA=+—HEMEER - Bt
HE-ZT-_—F+-A=+—HLEFE 4£2Q
RIE BT BRI METHEELAE - AR

B & BEE R o

EARENEE
AEEBEESRHEARSHBEOAEEREE
EEREFERHMATSHE (AMSHH)) - &
EEERTEDH B2 HHIRHF AR TAMS%E -
EHEESARSSHEAIS0BL(Z T4
1500/870) RAEFETES S B 2 HHBINMER

o

121



Notes to the Financial Statements

BB MRk MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE-Z-_=F+-A=+—HLEFE

17.

18.

122

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES (continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC are
members of a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute certain
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages to the central
pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits. The local municipal
government undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations
of all existing and future retired employees of these subsidiaries. The
only obligation of these subsidiaries with respect to the central pension
scheme is to meet the required contributions under the scheme.

There was no forfeited contribution in respect of the defined
contribution plan available at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17. RABEREE (&)

AN SR [ e B AR L O P B A B0 E B 20003 75 TR
BIERREARESFE - ZEMEBRAARP RENR
SERBREEBEAHERTENE TED LM A
REBABRIRHEES - 7 TR AR EZ SN B
RAMERE RARFRKERNBRABHNEL - ZF
B/ A B RS AT Bl M ME— B ERENEHEIR
TIRERH -

R-E—=FR - - —F+-_A=+—HUETH
HRETEIZ B M B FRATA -

18. Y% - BMENRRKE

Motor Furniture Office Plant and
vehicles and fixture equipment machinery Total
RE BRREE WARE BEREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET THT THT TET
Cost B
At 1 January 2022 il S = - 11 1,754 1,628 3,393
Additions NE 193 - - - 193
Exchange realignment fEHAR ©6) (1) [©) (128) (144)
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-__F+-A=+—-HR
1 January 2023 “Z-=%—-HF—H 187 10 1,745 1,500 3,442
Additions wE - - 8 - 8
Exchange realignment EXAE (5) = @ (42) (50)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+-A=1+-H 182 10 1,750 1,458 3,400
Accumulated depreciation and  ZitFERHEESE
impairment loss
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—H—H - 8 1,715 1,546 3,269
Charge for the year FRAY 145 3 28 78 254
Exchange realignment fEHAR ) (1) ©6) (124) (137)
At 31 December 2022 and RZBE-_—F+-A=+-HRK
1 January 2023 —Z-=%—-HF—H 139 10 1,737 1,500 3,386
Charge for the year FREX 46 - 8 - 54
Exchange realignment ERRE k] - (1) (42) (46)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+-A=1+-8 182 10 1,744 1,458 3,394
Carrying amount REE
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=f(+-A=+-H - - 6 - 6
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+-RA=+—H 48 - 8 - 56
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19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. FHEEE

Leased Leased
properties equipments Total
HEWSE HERE Bst
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHERT FERT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_—_F—H—H 2,678 1,607 4,285
Depreciation e (1,427) (659) (2,086)
Impairment losses BIEEBE (1,183) (897) (2,080)
Exchange realignment PEE 3 B 68) (51) (119)

At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2028 R-_ZT_-_—_F+-_/=+—H "
and 31 December 2023 —E-=F—A—HK
TR =F+=ZA=+—H - - -

As at the end of the reporting period, the lease liabilities recognised R|ER  BRELAFAREERBNEEAR
related to the above right-of-use assets are as follows: LU
Leased Leased
properties equipments Total
HEWHE HERE aE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHR FHx FHx
At 31 December 2023 R-ZEB-Z=F+=-HA=+-—H 310 234 544
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H 1,181 895 2,076
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HE—

19.

124

Bo=F+-AS+-ALFE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the lessor.
Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

19. EHAEEE (#)

BHEEAFANEEEETNERERS  BEBH
THEIER A REE - HEEETSRERERER -

2023 2022

—E-= —ET-F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FHET

Depreciation expenses on right-of-use assets FREEEZINERS - 2,086

Impairment losses for right-of-use assets FRESERERIE - 2,080
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBEsMBERX

(included in finance cost) GtABBEBER) 55 122

Short-term lease charges on premises MEZERHEER 367 166

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office buildings,
factory and other equipment for its operations. Leases of factory and
other equipment generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years.
Office buildings generally has lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
is individually of low value. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Due to the uncertainty on the volatility of economic environment
may progress and evolve, the directors conducted the impairment
assessment and determined the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit is lower than the carrying amount. The impairment
amount has been allocated to right-of-use assets. Based on the
value in use calculation, impairment loss of HK$2,080,000 has been
recognised against the carrying amount of right-of-use assets. The
recoverable amounts of the right-of-use assets have been determined
on the basis of their value in use of the cash generating unit (‘CGU”)
using discounted cash flow method. The key assumptions for the
discounted cash flow method are those regarding the discount rates,
growth rates and budgeted gross margin and turnover during the
period. The Group estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the CGU. The growth rates are based on long-term
average economic growth rate of the geographical area in which the
businesses of the CGU operate. Budgeted gross margin and turnover
are based on past practices and expectations on market development.

TEBRBRELNPLORE  THREEMERESS
BRIERFTYEESH - IR&EMRENAS—KR
1ZE3F o MAKBEH—RAB12(E A LER R LE
RIEERE - BEGRIVEERERE LEE - 285
T EMGR S AR o O RE B 3 B 5 R AT S #A
MERER - AEEERA NI ERILETE S KR R
HITROHAR -

HRNEERBRD TR S EREBE  ERETR
BT ETR S EE B2 PRE S RERREE
BRESBRCOEECMAREE - RIEEMEEFHE -
C B 66 A A & R I (B FE PR (BB 182,080,000/ 7T ©
EREEETREEDRERSELSBU((REE
SBEMDMEREERMRASREMREEE - RE
MERTEANTEBRRERAER - BEEX REEF
E R RS o NEE A RBER SRR REN
G Rh RIR & A A B AL M E R AORR TR AT EL R 1
FRRER K - MERARR S EL UKL EBAEL
EHRHIFHLERRER - BEEMN X RS ENB
FERRYTISERNES -
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REE QAT 2R

2023 2022
—E-= T

HK$’000 HK$’000
Unlisted investments: FELEWHRE : FET FAET
Share of net assets DL EEFAE - 13,906
Goodwill B 7,963 7,963
7,963 21,869
Less: impairment losses B REEE (7,963) (7,963)
- 13,906
Amount due to an associate (note (a)) FE — R8s & R R FE (K72t @) 906 906

Note (a):  The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Mi3E@) : FIEARIEAEER 2B REREREE -
Investments in associates represents investments in unlisted equity RELE N TR EENRIE LR AEFEENIEE - KR&E
securities, details of the Group’s associates at 31 December 2023 are ER-Z-_=F+-A=+—HZHBERRFEHT
as follows: mF
Place of
incorporation/ Registered/ Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
28 A Ryt E 2 HMERE RERERBDL TEEBRBEE
Direct Indirect
H#E 4

MNATEHEERAE  The PRC, RMB100,000,000/ 25% - Leasing of new energy cars,

REBRA A 30 November 2015 RMB10,000,000 (2022: 25%) sale of cars and accessories

(TMATE]) etc., the Chinese Mainland
MM EERAE  FE AR #100,000,00057t, 25% - MEMERAE HEAR

REBRA A —T-hE AER#10,000000 (ZZZZF: MBS - AR,

(THMHE]) +—A=+H 25%)
Celestial Rainbow BVI, USD50,000/ 46% - Manufacturing and trading of

Limited (“Celestial”) 9 June 2017 UsD100 (2022: 46%) electronic products,

the Chinese Mainland

Celestial Rainbow ABERRES 50,000 71,/ 46% - REREEETEMR B

Limited ([ Celestial |) —ZET—+EXAAR  100ET (ZB——F: A3,

46%)

The following table shows information of the associates that are material
to the Group. These associates are accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method. The summarised financial

CNCIEASSEL

information presented is based on the financial statements of the

associates.
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

20.

126

20. MREE QT oS (8

PN AT Celestial
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F —E-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT THERT FET
At 31 December: R+=—RA=+-—-8:
Non-current assets FEMEBEE 1,543 1,723 = 903
Current assets MEEE 10,675 11,409 807 47,937
Non-current liabilities FErRBERE - (186) - S
Current liabilities mENAE (15,654) (16,786) (18,084) (18,610)
Net (liabilities)/assets (B EEFE (3,436) (3,840) (17,277) 30,230
Group’s share of net assets AEESHEEFE - - - 13,906
Goodwill PEES - = 7,963 7,963
- S 7,963 21,869
Less: impairment losses B REEE - = (7,963) (7,963)
- - - 13,906
Year ended 31 December: BE+-A=1+—HILEE:
Revenue W 35 - 7,746 - -
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,(BE) 4 (1,631) (47,039) (15,756)
Other comprehensive income Hib2mEBA - = (468) (3,398)
Loss and total comprehensive FABEK
income for the year 2HEBRALE
4 (1,631) (47,507) (19,154)

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting to
approximately Nil (2022: HK$408,000) for #1342, The accumulated
losses not recognised were approximately HK$926,000 (2022:
HK$926,000).

The Group has not recognised loss for the year amounting to
approximately HK$7,948,000 (2022: Nil) for Celestial. The accumulated
losses not recognised were approximately HK$7,948,000 (2022: Nil).

As at 31 December 2023, the bank and cash balances of the Group’s
associates that operating in the Chinese Mainland denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately Nil (2022: HK$15,000). Conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administrative of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

REBRFETERMNITBERBEOT (=T
Z T4 1 408,000/ 7T) o ARFERRETEIEX)A926,000
BIL(ZE == : 926,000/87T) °

7N £ B 3 £ FiCelestialf 52 4F 7 &5 18 497,948,000/ 7T
(ZZTZ=F  |) - RAERHN R EEL /7,948,000
BL(ZEZZF  E) -

RZZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8  2EERTBERE
BREEARTUARKTENRITRRSEHRNAT
(ZEZZF 150008 T) - AR R RBINE AR
PEE AR ARBINEE BI04 - EERMSE
B R 51 AR
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21,

INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Investment in a joint venture represents investment in unlisted equity
securities, details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

21. R—EEELENKRE
KA SRR EIENIE L TRABEMIRE -
AEERBEIMRNS L LHEMT -

Place of Paid up capital Percentage of Principal activities and
Name incorporation HK$ ownership interest place of operation
1B 11 AR 37 it B BEREET HEEEEZEOLE FEEBRKEHE
MPEL Hong Kong, 10,000 —  Trading of cosmetic products,
28 June 2019 (2022: 51%) Hong Kong
[ERET B8 10,000 - EBHEHm BE
—E—-hEF (ZEB =% :51%)
~AZ+NA

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group disposed its
entire 51% interest in the equity of the joint venture at a consideration
of approximately HK$5,000.

The Group held 51% of the voting rights of the joint venture before
disposal. The directors have determined that the Group has joint control
over the joint venture as under the contractual agreement, it appears
that unanimous consent is required from all parties to the agreement
for all relevant activities.

Joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method. The summarised financial information
presented below is based on the financial statements of the joint
venture.

HEZZ-=F+-A=1+—HLEFE  ~EBUR

8 #95,000/ 7T

EENAEDEN2 1 %AE -

REBEHENREEREAIFE1%REM - ERETE
BEGHOHE AREHAECEEARZHE  —
PIAERDE B 2 R 9 B T A T —BRE

BECERABRENGRMBERRALR - T2WH
FBAMREDRESZOENVBIRRER -

2023 2022
—E—= —ET-_F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FTHET FHET
At 31 December: R+=-ZA=+—8:
Current assets MENEE = 341
Current liabilities nEAafE - (2,036)
Net liabilities BEFE - (1,695)
Group’s share of net assets REBDEREEFE - =
Year ended 31 December: BE+t-A=1t—HLEE:
Revenue W zs - -
Loss and total comprehensive FRBBEREZERALRE
income for the year - (1,695)
127
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22,

23.

24,

128

o=+ _fA=+—RHIEE

GOODWILL 22, mHE
2023 2022
—E—= —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET

Cost R

Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries (noted 38(a)) Wo BE R BB A B M = A (A7 2E38(a)) 74 -
Net carrying amount at 31 December R+ A=+—HXNEEFE 74 -

At the end of reporting period, goodwill of approximately HK$74,000
was arose from a newly acquired subsidiary which is engaged in the
sale and distribution of specialised milk products and healthy food

RERERIR - 4974,0008 TTH B B A 4+ BT BT B
NF] - EMBABTNEHE R HEEDBER R
BRM -RREHR  ARAEEERRBENER

items. As at the end of the reporting period, the management of the WEITEK
Company considers the potential impairment to goodwill is insignificant.
INVENTORIES 23. &
2023 2022
—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET
Finished goods and merchandise SURK G R P R 705 -

At the end of reporting period, the Group’s inventories were stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

RIER - AEBE 2 FE TR AL ZIRFHER
EREEIIR -

24, BUWRRRK

2023 2022

—B2—= —ET-F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FERT FHET

Trade receivables JEUBR 7 30,563 22,775
Less: Impairment loss B BEEE (934) (934)

29,629 21,841

The Group’s trading terms with its major customers is either on credit
or to provide the Group with irrecoverable letters of credit issued by
reputable banks, with terms within 60 to 90 days (2022: 60 to 90
days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

AEERETBREFNE S ERRBBRERAAEER
HEBRIFORTITHAEITHR B60E0RA (ZF ==
F : 60ZE90H) AR AT W E(E AR - REEBK
HAREEERURIBETRRES - ARBAHRBEST
HiEER -
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24,

TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables, based on the
invoice date is as follows:

24, PFEWERF (&)

REEIZEER B EORIERRARE DT

2023 2022

—E_= —E-_F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAT

0-30 days 0£30H 4,195 =
31-60 days 31%260H 596 =
61-90 days 61290H - -
Over 90 days 90H A £ 24,838 21,841
29,629 21,841

As of 31 December 2023, trade receivables of approximately
HK$25,434,000 (2022: HK$21,841,000) were past due. These trade
receivables related to customers for whom there was no recent history
of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables, based on due
date, is as follows:

BHE_ZT-_=ZF+_A=+—8 BEREZH
25,434,000/ 7T (ZF = = 4 : 21,841,000% 7t) B i
B o ZE RN AT AT HENLENETE AR -
ZEREUEETIZBI A E R AT ¢

2023 2022

—E=-= T
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
0-30 days 0z230H 596 =
31-60 days 31£E60H - 772
Over 60 days 608 A L 24,838 21,069
25,434 21,841

The Group does not charge interest or hold any collateral over these
balances.

The Group applied simplified approach to provide the ECL as
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The impairment methodology is set out in
notes 5(v) and 7(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the credit risk assessment are included in note 7(b) to the
consolidated financial statement.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that there is no
significant increase of credit risk regarding the outstanding balances of
trade receivables over due for over 60 days as at 31 December 2023
and 2022, after carefully considered (i) the payment patterns and credit
history of these customers; and (i) the amounts recovered subsequent
to the end of the reporting periods.
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables at the end of

24, PFEWERF (&)
RS A RS HASR B M AR SR A0 R B DA T 1) S et

reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: &
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
HKS BT - 11,943
uss$ i 29,629 9,898
29,629 21,841
25. OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 25, HEWNIE BANREREZEE
DEPOSITS
An analysis of the Group’s other receivables, prepayments and NEBHMEKTIE - BNRE LIRS FIBRRE) S
deposits, net of impairment, is as follows: DHTIT -
2023 2022
—E=-= —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Trade deposits BEo%E 1,791 -
Rental deposits HEZe 424 135
VAT receivables FEMILET 917 686
Other receivables H fth JE W R IE 31 332
Prepayments TERTFRIA 949 110
4,112 1,263
26. BANK AND CASH BALANCES 26. RITRAEHER
At the end of reporting period, the bank and cash balances of the REEHR - AEBERBRITRIBSAERIL TS
Group are denominated in the following currencies: 1B :
2023 2022
—E-= —EF -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAR THR
HK$ BT 74 310
RMB AR 1,790 1,315
uss$ EP - 30
1,864 1,655
Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the PRC’s AR ik AINE BT R BIIMNEE FIHEH M AETE - &
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of FE R FEINFEARBIFRIR o AR A @B A EEITIE
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations. HERHIETHBRAHME -
Exchange of RMB into other currencies is permitted through bank
authorised to conduct exchange business.
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. EFERR
An ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, based on the invoice AEEREZAHFENENRROERERSTOT
date is as follows:

2023 2022
g = —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
0-30 days 0&30H 4,625 =
31-60 days 31&£60H 3,447 =
61-90 days 61290H 4,532 =
Over 90 days Q0H A £ 3,026 551
15,630 551
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables at the end of AEBRRERROENERNETDEN T St
reporting period are denominated in the following currencies: 7 :
2023 2022
—E= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
RMB AR 1,250 551
uss$ EPM 14,380 =
15,630 551
28. OTHER PAYABLES, DEPOSITS RECEIVED AND 28. HMENTE - ST RESEHR
ACCRUED EXPENSES
2023 2022
—E-= -2
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Accruals for operations L ERTIE B 4,430 2,812
Accruals for staff costs FEET 8 TRk A 2,782 2,501
Amounts due to a director of a subsidiary ER—FEREBARc —REEHIE
(note (a)) (Bt5t(a) 6,227 2,331
VAT payable JERHEED 287 293
Others EApb 4,728 5,595
18,454 181632
Note (a): The amount due is unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Hiita) - FEWGIEAERT - R B NBREREEE -
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OTHER BORROWINGS

During the reporting period, the Company and the holder of the 2021
CB (as defined in note 30) reached an agreement upon the expiry of
the 2021 CB, pursuant to which the holder of the 2021 CB does not
demand immediate repayment of the total outstanding principal and
interest amounted to approximately HK$21,600,000, an annual interest
rate of 4% would be charged on the outstanding balance until full
repayment.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s other borrowings are
denominated in HKS.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS
2021 Convertible bonds (“2021 CB”)

The convertible bonds were issued on 2 July 2021. The bonds are
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at any time after the
period of twelve months commencing from the issue date and till the
fifth business day prior to the maturity date. The bonds are convertible
to an aggregated of 166,666,667 ordinary shares of the Company at
HK$0.12 per share. The maturity date is on the second anniversary of
the issue date.

If the bonds are not converted, they shall be redeemed at par with
interest of 4% per annum.

2023 Convertible bonds (“2023 CB I”)

The convertible bonds were issued on 14 June 2023. The bonds
are convertible into ordinary bonds of the Company at any time
commencing from the issue date and till the fifth business day prior
to the maturity date. The bonds are convertible to an aggregate of
203,125,000 ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.032 per share.
The maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue date.

If the bonds are not converted, they will be redeemed at par on
13 June 2025. Interest of 4% per annum will be settled with the
outstanding principal at maturity date.

29.

Hittfd &

RBEME - ARRE-_Z - —FaalkES (B
RMEE30) BEAR S —EaniRESEHEE
PRI - Bl —F-—FABRBESHEATEE
SRENES R AR EE A S RE R B 4921,600,0008 7T »
RMEBREHBEFNRA%E - AEBHEERL -

RIBZ=F+-A=+—H AEENEMEFA
ABTTAHE

RRES
—EC-FURRESF(ZE--—FURRE
%)

ARBREFR T —FLAZBET - BHARE
TEHRT—EAREEE RS RES XA K
BERs IR AR AR L BAR o EFH AR ER012B T,
#hA $£166,666,6678 AN A A) @AY o BIHAH AT
AE 2 5 — @B -

HESRER S
4%, 2 R 2. o

HERmERED ERFEHNER

—ECCHFURREF(ZE-=FURRE
#11)

HREFEN B =FNATHBET - EFA
NEEFTH B2 H H A1 S A2 2 A - B R
MR SARENERES - EFAIZER0.032E
TTE A& $£203,125,0000 A 2 A @Ak - FIEA &
BEITHBNE_@ASFH -

HESAESR  HER T -RFA+=AKA
EER - BFHRRERERS4% 2 MBREIHREE -
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30.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)
2023 Convertible bonds (“2023 CB II”)

The convertible bonds were issued on 14 September 2023. The
bonds are convertible into ordinary bonds of the Company at any time
commencing from the issue date and till the fifth business day prior
to the maturity date. The bonds are convertible to an aggregate of
20,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company at HK$0.15 per share.
The maturity date is on the second anniversary of the issue date.

If the bonds are not converted, they will be redeemed at par on 13
September 2025. Interest of 4% per annum will be settled with the
outstanding principal at maturity date.

As a result of the Share Consolidation 2023, the conversion prices
of the 2021 Convertible Bonds and the 2023 Convertible Bonds |
have been adjusted to HK$1.2 and HK$0.32 respectively. The 2021
Convertible Bonds and the 2023 Convertible Bonds | will be convertible
into 16,666,666 conversion shares and 20,312,500 conversion shares
respectively. The 2021 Convertible Bonds are matured in July 2023.
The Company reached an agreement with the holder of the 2021
Convertible Bonds and obtained written consent that the holder would
not demand immediate repayments of the outstanding principal and
interest. The amount outstanding shall bear an interest rate of 4% per
annum until full repayment.

The net proceeds received from the issue of the 2023 CBI and 2023

R ES (&)
CEC=EUERESF (ZE-=FTRRE
#1])

HREFENR B -=FNAATHBET - EFA
NEFTHEREZ 2B E A1 S AL 2 A - BT
MERAARNANEBES - ﬁa%—ﬁ BEPRO15ETT
#8534 $£20,000,00008 A 2 B Ei@ A - B EIE A E
THENSE _@BEFA -

WEFREESR R T RFE A+ =A@
EfEM - iﬁ‘%hﬁk@iﬁ BARA%ZFIBREEAGHE -

HRZZBEZ=FRMHaM —S_—FRRESF
RZZZ=FrHREFNERED HER2E
TTROB2BIL e ZE - —F A MREHR_T=F
Al AR & 18 5 Bl # #2 216,666,6660% 2 4% A% 15 &
20,312,5000% AR A% 7 c —FE=Z—F A MREHF K=
Z=FEANE c ARBE T -FABRRES
BEAERBBITREEARE  BEARETSE
K EMEEREEAE RFIE - REBSBEHRFN
KL% E - EERBHERALL -

%ﬁ:%:iiTﬁ%%%&:%:EiT%%%

CBIl have been split between the liability element and an equity HIZBEWRMEHREFEENRABBES O REEID Z
component, as follows: FEH D BT
2023CBI 2023CBIlI Total
2= —E-=
] # B% fE 3| ] iR E #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET FHET
Nominal value of convertible bonds B3 17A] BEHFHHEE
issued 6,500 3,000 9,500
Equity component o (1,430) (810) (2,240)
Liability component at date of issue RETRBPZBERS 5,070 2,190 7,260
Interest charged L HR A 1.2 467 129 596
Liability component at 31 December W+=—A=+—82
BEH 5,537 2,319 7,856
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30. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued) 30. TR EH (E)
Movements of the liability component during the reporting period are as HERAANEEBSOEBAT :
follows:
2021CB 2023CBI 2023CBII Total
—E-—F —E-= —g=-=
AR ES AR EHI AR EHI At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2022 WRZEZ=F—H—H 18,673 - - 18,673
Interest charged (note 11) BRI R B (B 7E11) 1,904 - - 1,904

At 31 December 2022 and MN-ZE-—4F

1 January 2023 +ZA=+—8AK
—E-=f#—F—H 20,577 - - 20,577
At issuance of the instrument M E1T T AR - 5,070 2,190 7,260
Interest charged (note 71) WER B F B (Bt aF11) 1,023 467 129 1,619
Expired and reclassified to MY EFRDER
other borrowings (note 38(c))  E b &k (#17238(c)) (21,600) - - (21,600)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZTE-_=%F
+=-—A=+—H - 5,537 2,319 7,856
The interest charged for the year is calculated by applying an effective FERNWEEF EiR B E5EITR4E A BHEERR
interest rate of 10.20% to 21.6% (2022: 10.20%) to the liability BEHD BRI EI1020%E216% (= —
component for the 24 months period since the bonds were issued. 10.20%) 5t & ©
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
The liability component is analysed as: BEBIHOWNET :
Current liabilities nEaE - 20,577
Non-current liabilities EmEBBEE 7,856 -
7,856 20,577
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31. LEASE LIABILITIES

31. HESRE

Minimum lease payments

Present value of

minimum lease payments

32.

REAENE BEHEREZRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E== —E-—fF —E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET THERT FAET
With one year —FR 550 1,570 544 1,515
More than one year, but not —FLAEETBBME
exceeding two years - 566 - 561
550 2,136 544 2,076
Less: Future finance charges B RREE B R ) (60) N/AT i A N/AT 3 F
Present value of lease obligatons ~ HE &2 HE 544 2,076 544 2,076
Less: Amount due for settlement B AR NEHIEE Y
within 12 months (shown FE(WREBERE
under current liabilities) THIR) (544) (1,515)
Amount due for settlement 2EREIIMEE 2K
after 12 months - 561

The average incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities is 4%
(2022: 4%).

DEFERRED TAXATION

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses
of approximately HK$43,754,000 (2022: HK$42,479,000) that are
available for offsetting against future taxable profits. Deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses due to
unpredictability of future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax
losses are losses HK$15,588,000 (2022: HK$16,366,000) that will
expire in 5 years from 2023 to 2027. Other tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT, a withholding tax is imposed on
dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, deferred taxation has not been
provided in the financial statements in respect of temporary difference
attributable to profits earned by the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
amounted to approximately HK$138,000 (2022: HK$9,439,000) since 1
January 2008 as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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32.

THEEBERZ MEFIHESE
TIF 1 4%) o

AFNE 4% (ZF

ELED IR

RIREHIR - REBRE) A KI4)43,754,0008 7T (ZF
T 1 42,479,000/ 7T) BB 1E 518 R VI S R 2R e
REEA - AR SHEBRYEERELCHBEE A
AR B TSR A A AT TR o 5H AR TER BT I8 &S
18 915,588,000/ 7T (=& = — 4 : 16,366,000/ 7T)
BR BRI =FE_TtLFRFHEER-H
b T TE S 1R ] AE AR PR HA 45 6 o

BEHBEGEMETE  RPEEBRAR TN
F—A— BARREEE N E KA R SEUKTRH

RIBEZ=FRZZT__F+ZA=1+—H HEE
EhEMBARAE ST N\F—A— BRI
FE(R SR E 40 5138,000/ 7T (ZZF = =4 : 9,439,000
?&ﬁ) R RE NN BT IRIELERIE - Ty EE?E/\‘ZL‘

] RE 47 ) Py 2 BB HBE (O] A RS ) R B B 22 RE AT R
KTE$X%@O
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33. SHARE CAPITAL 33. A&
Number of
ordinary shares Amount
ZEREE k-]
HK$’000
FHERT
Authorised EE
At 1 January 2022, RZZE-——F—HF—8"
31 December 2022 and —E-__F+-_A=+—8HK
1 January 2023 (ordinary shares of —_E-=F—H—H
HK$0.0016 each) (B E.0016/ T2 L imhk) 6,250,000,000 10,000
Share consolidation (Note) 1D & 6 (B 7E) (5,625,000,000) =
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=F+=A=+—H
(ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each) (BREE0.016B T2 ER) 625,000,000 10,000
Issued 21T
At 1 January 2022, R-ZT-_—_F—HF—8-
31 December 2022 and —E- 4+ -A=+—HK
1 January 2023 (ordinary shares of —E-=F—H—H
HK$0.0016 each) (B MAEE.CO16/ T2 L imhk) 1,030,738,970 1,649
Share consolidation (Note) 1D & 6 (B 7E) (927,665,073) =
At 31 December 2023 RZZE-_=F+-_A=+—H
(ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each) (B EEC.016E T2 LiE@k) 103,073,897 1,649

Note: An ordinary resolution was passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 28 June 2023 approving the share consolidation on the
basis of that every ten issued and unissued shares of HK$0.0016 each
in the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one share of
HK$0.016 (the “Share Consolidation”) with effective on 30 June 2023.
Following the Share Consolidation, the Company’s authorised share
capital became 6,250,000,000 shares divided into 625,000,000 shares
of HK$0.016 each, and its issued share capital becomes 1,030,738,970
shares divided into 103,073,897 shares of HK$0.016 each.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maximise
the return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt
and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group comprises all
components of shareholders’ equity.

The Group reviews the capital structure frequently by considering the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue
of new debts, redemption of existing debts or selling assets to reduce
debts. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

The only externally imposed capital requirement is that for the Group to
maintain its listing on the Stock Exchange it has to have a public float
of at least 25% of the shares. The Group has maintained the prescribed
public float under the GEM Listing Rules throughout the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.

Kiat . ARRRZZZ=FNAZ+NBRTZRFBEFAK
BB —BERRAEE  IUEREAARRARE L
A% AR EEO.00167 T 2 B #IT R AREITRN A A
—REE0.016E T 2 I fn 2 EAEEITRD A 6 ([B
BEft) BZZ_=FA=ZTHBRER - KRHE
P& - AN A BB E TE AR 2N 56,250,000,0000% 9 A
625,000,0008% % B% T 1E0.0167 T A 15+ T H B2 %
1TR& AN % 51,030,738,9708% © % £103,073,8970% & ik
EE0.016/ TR D ©

AEBEZEANB B AREREEFBELEAL
FEBECER RRABSRT ABRARZ KL R -
REBERNRERIERRESNTAMARITE -

REEFEBE RE AR R BGIEE A E R
BERESEANERE - AEERKSEBI MRS -« BITH
B R AR ) B Bl DA R B TR 7S - IERIIR B BBt &
BEURIVEHFS A FEHERREAEE -HEZ
T=FRIFIZF+A=+—HLFE BER
FIEMBEE - BRsREsEEe -

NS B 4 E B X BT _E T M 2 M —SNERBE AN 2 B
RER A AEBMERBEDV2B%EMNAHRBHRE -
AEERBE_S_=FRZF-__F+A=+—
AIFE—BH#FHCEMEMRABENARSRE -
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34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

34. ARQTFZMBIRRE

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=F —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Non-current assets REBEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER S - -
Investment in a subsidiary R—EHBARZEE - =
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables TE A FRIE K H b FE UK IE = 88
Bank and cash balances RITRE &R - 6
- 94
Current liabilities REBEME
Other payables and accrued expenses Hib T E R ERTE A 4,990 4,364
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEAT B X R 308 6,477 -
Other borrowings Hinfg g 6,901 -
Convertible bonds AR ES - 20,577
18,368 24,941
Net current liabilities RBEERHE (18,368) (24,847)
Total assets less current liabilities BEERARBERE (18,368) (24,847)
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Convertible bonds AR ES 7,856 -
NET LIABILITIES 8 EEE (26,224) (24,847)
Capital and reserves IR K f#
Share capital [ 1,649 1,649
Reserves e (27,873) (26,496)
CAPITAL DEFICIENCY R 2 85 At (26,224) (24,847)

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28

March 2024.

Director
EE
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35. RESERVES 35. f#fE
(@ Group @ F&EH
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and movements therein AEENFEEREFNEBELREEEREMm
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and FHNERREEEREHRANET] -
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.
(b) Company (b) AT
Equity
component of
Share Option convertible
premium reserve bonds  Accumulated
(note 35(c)(j)  (note 35(c)fii))  (note 35(c)(v)) losses Total
MRRESZ
R RE BRERE BN iR wct
(Baz3se)y)  (Wasse)i))  (Ha350))
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FAT TR TR TR
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-_—_#—A—H 110,537 1,390 2,212 (113,192 947
Recognition of share-based B BERK
payments 3% - 1,136 - - 1,136
Loss and total comprehensive FREBRZEEBEAE
loss for the year - - - (28,579) (28,579
At 31 December 2022 and RZE-ZF
1 January 2023 +-A=+-8R
“E-=ZF—-A—H 110,537 2,526 2,212 (141,771) (26,496)
Lapse of convertible bonds MRREHF LN - - (2,212) 2,212 -
Issue of convertible bonds ROUBRRES - - 2,240 - 2,240
Transfer of share options REREAREESR
reserve upon lapse of BRERE
share options - (216) - 216 -
Recognition of share-based ~ B LURMDAEHH
payments NEN - 1,063 - - 1,063
Loss and total FAFBRZHEFBEAH
comprehensive loss for the
year - - - (4,680) (4,680)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=&
+=A=+-H 110,537 3,373 2,240 (144,023) (27,873)
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35. RESERVES (continued) 35. f#fE ()

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves () RFENHEERRE

(i Share premium 0 R %E
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman lIslands, the BEREHSAAE  AARRMDEE
funds in the share premium account of the Company are BRZESAMEDSIRFAARRRE @ R
distributable to the shareholders of the Company provided BEEZ DRI E A B - NARIZBEH R
that immediately following the date on which the dividend NEEERBEEKBREFEINBRIE
is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a 7o
position to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
Share premium represents premium arising from the issue RinmERRE L ERROEE 2 ES
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share BITIRG - WHBRE AT RARMN
and after deduction of capitalisation issue and issuance TRABEEZGE -
costs of shares.

(i) Foreign currency translation reserve ] SNEHRE
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all INEI B A E R IRRIRE G INETZ I
foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of WERMEERFMBINEZSE - FERR
the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve B 765 3R 3% T 5E5(0)(i) R 3 51 89 & 5T R
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies BRIE o
set out in note 5(d)(iii) to the financial statements.

(i) Option reserve (i)  FERERFE
Option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or BEREREREETARAREB ZRITE
estimated number of unexercised share options granted BRECERKGEAHE2ATE &
to employees of the Company recognised in accordance 1% BB B 5 3R R M RSB A RE 2R 45 E A
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled MR1D B ER AR ERAN 2 & 5T BCR T
share-based payments in note 5(r) to the financial R
statements.

(iv)  Statutory reserve )  ETEE
In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the BIEREATERAEE R EA T
Group’s PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, the A B4R SIZMA - A= E A RB
Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to allocate 10% of NEVERBEBeIHERPHEA DS
its profit after tax as determined in accordance with the FB &9 B 78 6151 BT 78 E B9 B ST 0% R4 18 35
relevant accounting principles and financial regulations NEETCHE BEZEBEIGEME
applicable to PRC companies to the statutory reserve until TN HI50% o T[] {55 18 1 B S B 1R A HE 2%
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital. The RESRIE T RIEL « EERBBEE
appropriation to the reserve must be made before any A AEESEAERENER (E) - 2
distribution of dividends to equity holders. The statutory BETRGEERBETERAASEHE
surplus reserve can be used to offset previous years’ K ERITTENETSHNZIEEESSE
losses, if any, and part of the statutory surplus reserve can TEERAREBETEHEA T EHE
be capitalised as paid-in capital provided that the amount INE25% o
of such reserve remaining after the capitalisation shall not
be less than 25% of the paid-in capital of the Group’s
subsidiarie.

(v)  Equity component of convertible bonds v AR (5.2 #5057

The equity component of convertible bonds represents the
value of the unexercised equity component of convertible
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible bonds
in note 5(m) to the financial statements.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 20 June 2014, written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company was passed to conditionally approve and adopt two share
option schemes namely, Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme (“Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”) and Share Option Scheme (“Share Option
Scheme”) to recognise and motivate the contributions that eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group. The Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme was valid and effective for a period commencing
from 20 June 2014 to the date immediately prior to the Listing of
the Company (i.e. 17 July 2014), after which no further option to be
granted, but the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any options granted prior thereto or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme.

The Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 June 2014
will remain in force for a period of ten years from its effective date to 19
June 2024.

Particulars of the Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and Share Option
Scheme of the Company are set out in Appendix IV to the Company’s
prospectus dated 27 June 2014.

BAURAD HER AR

CARE 25 45 H R AR RE v T

RZZ—MFERAZ+H  ARABRRBBEERZE
= BIRFHE R RN IR B 8 Bl LT AT
Bt &) ([ L AT AR R &1 ) M s gt &) (TR
T8 AR ERSBAER2RELHA S
UARKEWERZ BB - EWATBRER E e —F MW
FRAAZTHEEEEARFA LT —R BIZF
—MEEA+EH) EHEERRER - HigfEE
—HREBEAE - EETAEREASIGXNA TR
MA R ABE SRS E AR RER B LT
AT RRE A Bl ESOR M IR B T = 8
WEERR

ARBERZZT—HFNA -+ BRBEBRETE
BRFEAER A MEHOF ARG YHR T _NF
NATHARER -

AT 2 E AR B R IRARAE A 812 SRR
ARFEMA T —WEAA =LA RRE RN
s -
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors passed on 4 June
2019, it was resolved to grant an aggregate of 68,720,000 share
options with exercise price of HK$0.2412 per share (2019 Share
Options”) entitling the directors and employees to subscribe for
68,720,000 shares of the Company.

Pursuant to a resolution of the board of directors passed on 10
June 2022, it was resolved to grant an aggregate of 103,072,000
share options with exercise price of HK$0.032 per share (2022
Share Options”) entiting a director and employees to subscribe for

LR R EE AR (&)
DREREERBRESS (B
REZBEER T NFAANBRBNRZER  #
SRIETT (B B R%0.2412/8 JT 1% 1 & $£68,720,00015 i,
FEE KIE B #F R AR 7)68,720,0000% B 15 HY B8
B ((Z2—hFBERE] -

BREESER_T__FATERBNRER &
SRIETT (B B A%0.0327% 7T 1% ) & $£108,072,00015 i,
TEE RIE B R AR F]103,072,0008& 8% 7 60 #E
Big((—E=—FERE]) - BERARBERE

103,072,000 shares of the Company. Details of the Company’s share BERTX
options are set out below:
Lapsed Adjusted
Date of grant of On during the Adjustment On exercise price
Name of the options during 1 January reporting due to Share 31 December per share
grantee the reporting period 2023 period  Consolidation 2023 Vesting period Exercise period option
BESNERE R-Bz=Zf St g3 SHhBRES
ARARE  REAH -B-B  HBEBAXR  ROAMEE T-RZt+-B HED s kERE
HKS
AT
ZhouChuang 10 June 2022 (A) 10,000,000 (10,000,000) - - NA 10 June 2022 to 0.32
Qiang 9 June 2032
8l ZEZZEXATANW TER Sk 2925 ol =
ZE=ZERAAR
Employees 10 June 2022 (B) 46,536,000 - (41,882,400) 4,653,600 10 June 2022 to 10 June 2023 to 0.32
9 June 2023 9 June 2032
8 —“Z--F7A1HB “E--F AtRE —E-ZERATRE
“Z-ZFRANE ZEZZERANR
Employees 10 June 2022 (C) 46,536,000 - (41,882,400) 4,653,600 10 June 2022 to 10 June 2024 1o 0.32
9 June 2024 9 June 2032
3] —“E--F7ATAC ZZ--5XA1TEE ZE-MEAATREE
—7—U—I]¢/\)EU-LE! —77—¢/\)EULE
Employess 4 June 2019 12,596,000 - (11,336,400) 1,269,600 4 June 2019 to 4 June 2020 to 2412
3 June 2020 3 June 2029
8 “E-NE AEH “E-NENBENEE —E-EEAAMAE
“E-EERAZH ZE-NENA=H
Employees 4 June 2019 12,596,000 - (11,336,400) 1,259,600 4 June 2019 to 4 June 2021 to 2412
3 June 2021 3 June 2029
€& ZZ-hERANA “Z-NF~ABAZ —Z--%FRARAZ
“E--ERAZA ZECAERAZH
Total 128,264,000 (10,000,000) (106,437,600) 11,826,400
&t
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. R AEBROMSRE)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) RERAEBRETE (&)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their RITHERES B REBENETSITEE 2 Z8
related weighted average exercise price as follows: D
2023 2022
—E-= —E-_fF
Weighted Weighted
Number average Number average
of exercise of exercise
options price options price
hnfEFH N
BREHE TEE BREHE 1B
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT FHET

Outstanding at the beginning of REVRITE

the year 128,264,000 0.1818 25,192,000 0.2412
Expired/lapsed/cancelled RERIBE, KW T8

during the year (10,000,000) 0.32 108,072,000 0.032
Adjustment due to Share Btn & Of A&

Consolidation (106,437,600) - - -
Outstanding at the end of the year ~ RERKKITE 11,826,400 0.7656 128,264,000 0.0731
Exercisable at the end of the year ~ RFERAJ1T{E 7,172,800 1.0547 35,192,000 0.1818
As at 31 December 2023, options to subscribe for a total of 11,826,400 REZBZ=ZF+-A=+—H  RIEBRETE R
(2022: 128,264,000) option shares were still outstanding under the B4 ££11,826,4000% (== — — £ : 128,264,0000%) #8
Share Option Scheme which represents approximately 11.47% (2022: A AE R 1D B BB I AE R IETTE - FHE N AR R #1T
12.44%) of the issued ordinary shares of the Company. BAREIL11.47% (Z B = =4 : 12.44%) °
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36.
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued)
The above options comprising at the end of the year have a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 7.8 (2022: 8.9) years and the
weighted-average exercise price is HK$0.7656 (2022: HK$0.0731). The
estimated fair value of 2022 Share Options and 2019 Share Options
are determined using the Binomial Model. The estimated fair values and

R RER AR (&)

VAR 4% B S R AE S ()

FRBIEN FBEREN MR T HRRENE RTS8
F(ZTZZF - 89F) RN F19776£(E R0.765678
T(ZBZZF:0073187m) - ZEZZFHERER
ZE-NFBEREZ TR ERA ZERLEE -
it DA ERZER 2 EZHABBRNAT -
significant inputs into the models were as follows:

2022 Share Options

—ECFERE
10 June 2022 10 June 2022 10 June 2022
(A) (B) (C)
—E-—F — g —E——
~NA+H ~A+H A~A+H
(A) (B) (C)
Option price model HRETEEER Binomial Binomial Binomial
—E —Es —IER
Estimated fair value at the REtE BREFT A FEE HK$216,000 HK$1,065,000 HK$1,180,000
measurement date BT BT BT
No. of options granted R ERESE 10,000,000 46,536,000 46,536,000
Estimated fair value of each option &7 M (A5t A FE HK$0.0227% 7t HK$0.023 7T HK$0.0253% 7T
Weighted average share price at REtE R nEFHRE HK$0.0317% 7t HK$0.0313 7T HK$0.0313% 7T
the measurement date
Weighted average exercise price ke ITEE HK$0.0327% 7T HK$0.0327% 7T HK$0.0327% 7t
Exercise multiple ITEEE 3.34 2.86 2.86
Expected volatility K IE 138.06% 138.06% 138.06%
Expected life TEEFEHR 7.37 yearst 7.85 years 8.66 yearst
Risk free rate &8 Fl R 2.86% 2.86% 2.86%
Expected dividend yield TEHARR B s NilZ NilZ NilZ
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36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 36. URBHBERNSRE)
Equity-settled share option scheme (continued) RERAEBRETE (&)
The expected volatility was determined by using the average of T8 HA R i T3 5 FABloomberg T Y i = i 7] & EL B A A)
annualised standard deviation of daily return of share price of three SR IR E B RS R FE(IZEEE T -

comparable companies’ historical volatility quoted by Bloomberg.

Ascent Partners Valuation Service Limited is an independent firm of NAFEZABERARARNAREZEANTH ===
professional valuer appointed by the Company to carry out the fair FHERENATENBYEEMRERR  MEEZE
value of 2022 Share Options and Eidea Professional Services Company REBERARBEARBZEUTH T — N FHERE
Limited, an independent firm of professional valuer is appointed by the HATFENBLEEEERT -

Company to carry out the fair value of 2019 Share Options.

The expenses of share-based payments recognised in profit and loss WMEHARNNERER 2 ARG AERN AT :
during the reporting period are as follows:

2023 2022
g = —ET-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
2022 Share Options T —FERE 1,063 1,136
37. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 37. RMIBARZERE
Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are MBARR - ZE_=FK_T-_—_F+_-_A=+—H
as follows: ZEEWT
Place of incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
2R HRAL/ R BH ERRBERE BREREEAIL TEEHREEHE
Direct Indirect
Ef Rt
Millennium Pacific International British Virgin Islands 1,000 ordinary 100% - Investment holding,
Group Limited 11 September 2013 shares of US$1 each Hong Kong
Milennium Pacific International RE&RHE 1,000 BREEIETH REER &5
Group Limited “E-=FAAT-H LER
Millennium Pacific Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
10 October 2014
Milennium Pacific Trading Limited £ 10,0007 RERR &%
“Z-METATH
Millennium Pacific Solutions Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Trading of electronic devices,
10 October 2014 Hong Kong
Milennium Pacific Solutions Limited ik 10,0003 7 BIXEES B
“E-METRTH
Millennium Pacific Internet Finance Hong Kong HK$10,000 = 100%  Investment holding, Hong Kong
Services Company Limited 21 April 2015
EEATFEHALRRBEERAR BS 10,0007 REHR &R
ZE-REMAZ+-H
BRAA (RY) RERHIER PRC Registered: RMB20,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding, Chinese
BRAF (hote 1) 21 May 2015 Paid up: RMB10,000,000 Mainland
BRAT (RII) R IER e AR 20,000,007 REER - REMY
BRAR (M:1) “Z-R%RA=1+-H #2 + AR10,000,0007
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37. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. RMIBARZKRE ()
Place of incorporation/ Registered and Percentage of Principal activities and
Name establishment paid up capital ownership interest place of operation
£R ML/ LS ERRBERE BREREASNL TEEHREEHE
Direct Indirect
E# B
FBEERERAR PRC, Registered: RMBS5,000,000 - 100%  Trading of electronic devices,
10 July 2017 Paid up: RMB600,000 Chingse Mainland
RYEEEEERAF Gl S - ARH5,000,0007 FHIEES EMY
ZZ—+EtATH &7 AR¥600,0007
BRAK (R BEREERAR  PRC, Registered: RMB300,000 - 100%  Investment holding,
4 August 2017 Paid up: RMB206,000 Chinese Mainland
BRAR () B EERAF e i AR 300,000 REER - RERY
—Z2—+£)\REA HE : AR206,0007
BRAT () EFREERAR PRC, Registered: RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
28 September 2017 Paid up: RMB6,000 devices, Chinese Mainland
BRAK (R ETREARAR HE i AR 5,000,0007 HESTHE PR
“E-tEAAZTNA T ARH6,0007T
BRAF (B ASBE2EERAT  PRC, Registered: RMB300,000 - 100%  Inactive, Chinese Mainland
28 September 2017 Paid up: RMB6,000
BRAK (R ABEEEGRAR FE i AR 3000007 LELl pEA
“E—tFRAZTNR #E - ARH6,0007T
E(BM) BERNBEARAR PRC, Registered: RMB1,000,000 - 80%  Development and sales of
(( EEEM)) 11 August 2017 Paid-up: RMB250,000 software applications,
Chinese Mainland
ER (RN BERRBRAR e i - AR 1,000,000 RHEREANBEER
(TEEEM))" “Z-tENAT-R BR - AE250,0007 #e PEML
ERBR(BEE)ERAT PRC, Registered: RMB2,000,000 S 51%  Manufacturing of electronic
((/EM BE(EA)])ote 2) 3 June 2021 Paid-up: RMBT764,000 products, Chinese Mainland
RER(EA)ERAA HE FHft - AR %2,000,0007T BIERAE  TEML
(LEU ER(BA)) W2 “Z--§5A=H #1R  ANR%764,0007
BRITBERNATEENEERAF PRC, Registered: RMB1,000,000 S 100%  Provision of online information
26 April 2021 Paid-up: RMB1,000,000 and digital marketing
senvices, Chinese Mainland
Bt ATEERERA R HE i AK#1,000,0007 REGEEAREFL
ZE-¥MA=TRA #2 - AR1,000,0007 BHRE - REAL
ERERGER) £ RBEERA PRC, Registered: RMB3,200,000 - 70%  Sale and distribution of mik
(TEREH ) (note 9) 14 April 2023 Paid-up: RMB3,200,000 products and healthy ford
products, Chinese Mainland
ERAEH (L R) BB ERAR i FHft - AR %3,200,0007T iﬁ’i&n HINEERR
(r Iﬂ%“ﬁ( ) (Hs) ZEZ=5MA+RA HR « AR%3,200,0007 RRM  FENL
Note 1: B AT ORI RERBHHIEKRE R A F is a wholly-foreign owned MaEr - R CRYD) EERHRIER AR A R A— MR H
enterprises established in the PRC. BRI H) N EE R -
Note2: JEBE 2 (BF) B A A is a partly-foreign owned enterprises Hste . ERER(EA) ARADRA—RBRFABEKZHBS
established in the PRC. ’>7\ éf?ﬁﬁm%
Note 3: BIRME# is a partly-foreign owned enterprises established in the PRC. Hrets . BRMSHA MRS BRI MBS INEREF X -

PRC companies with limited liability
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37. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. RAMIBATZKRE (E)
The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have TRETEBEASEN S BEAMNIELRES ([
non-controlling interests (“NCI”) material to the Group. The summarised ERER]) O BARIER - MEEMERERAF]
financial information represents amounts before inter-company R EATA S8 -
eliminations.
G NEEET ZEENM EREE(EA)
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=f —T_— —E-=f —T_— —E-=f —T_—
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
Name 28 TEx FAT THEx FHAT THEx FAT
% of ownership interestsivoting  3EIERRE RSB K FTA 12 N/A
rights held by NCI BRADL,/ REE 30% TER 20% 20% 49% 49%
At 31 December: R+t=ZA=+-H:
Non-current assets FERBEE 6 - - - _ 48
Current assets REEE 3,713 - 936 10,245 1,259 1,151
Current liabilities MBARG (1,022) - (512) (523) (6,138) (5,700)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - = - = - (561)
Net assets/(liabilities) AE/(AE)FE (2,697) - 424 9,722 (4,879) (5,062)
Accumulated NCI R RER 810 - 82 1,044 (2,390) (2,480)
Year ended 31 December: BZt+=-A=t+-H
EFEE:
Revenue Wz - - - - - 17,277
Loss for the year FREE (711) - (1) ©) 42 (5,762)
Other comprehensive Hih2mE (FEx),/ WA
(expenses)/income (21) - (204) (831) 143 (501)
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI NEREERER 2
(E518), /% 7l (219) - @1) (167) 920 (3,068)
Impact of dividend distributed on 4R & & ¥ FE 12 RR #E 25 9
NCI va = = (1,821) S - =
Net cash (used in)/from mETE (R /B
operating activities and RefEkBeRkEe
increased/(decreased) in cash  Z &ML,/ (R )
and cash equivalents 220 = 169 ) (209) 268
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38.

CASH FLOWS
(@ Acquisition of a subsidiary — 2023

@

The Group completed the acquisition of 70% equity interest
in BI&HF M on 30 November 2023, at the consideration of
approximately RMB2,240,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,476,000) which was satisfied by cash of RMB2 and
repayment of the amount due from the then shareholder of
RHEH of approximately RMB2,240,000. B %M is principally
engaged in the sale and distribution of specialised milk products
and healthy food items developed and manufactured by
renowned brands. The acquisition is for the purpose of extending
the business footprints in different industries which enables the
Group to increase and diversify its revenue steam and broaden

its busines networks in different industries.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of B} 45 ik

acquired as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

FERERBRMTE ()

WE—EHREAR — =—F==
AEER_T_=F+—A=+HTHRKER
BHEDR (JER) £ YRR AR A 8 (TBRMER)
BI70%M% 1 - RIE X = A K #2,240,0007T (18
E R 472,476,000 70) - AR ARE2TRIE
3% U B R f R A SR SR IE 49 A R 852,240,000
TER BRMSHMEERFHE RS HB NS
MR RRENEEF DA RBERRS -
WEFEEEHEBENERETRTE &
REEREIIGIMRZ T EERAIR - WiEX
HRTRITEMERAE -

AU B BT R B R B AT R B EE B
BERRFEMNT

HK$’000
FERT
Net assets acquired: Fruis & ERE ¢
Other receivables H fth jE W K8 3,072
Prepayments TETFRIE 497
Cash and cash equivalents RERRESEEBEY 45
Other payables E eI RRIB (183)
3,431
Non-controlling interests JEPERR A 2 (1,029)
Goodwill A 74
Consideration RE 2,476
Satisfied by: AR RER -
— Cash - Re =

— Repayment of amount due from
the then shareholders

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition
Cash consideration paid
Cash and cash equivalents acquired

*

Represent amount less than HK$1,000
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. HEHLSAREBRMT(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Acquisition of interest in a subsidiary — 2022 b) WER—EHEBARZEZ — —F=-—
-3
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group acquired BEZZT-_F+-A=+—HILFE K&
an additional 10% interest in a 90%-owned subsidiary at a cash B LAIR & (B A R 17T Uk E B90% 4 25
consideration of RMB1. The effect of the acquisition on the M A B10%EEIMER - ZIXIEBE AR BH#
equity attributable to the owners of the Company is as follows: BAEGEESZEDNT
HK$’000
FHET
Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired BT U B 3E1E Rk 4 %5 7 BRI (E (112
Consideration paid to non-controliing interests IEEREREHZRE =*
Loss on acquisition recognised directly in equity BEENERTRANKEEIE (112
* Represents amount less than HK$1,000 * FEIEFM,000/8 TR & 78
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing ) ®METBZEEHER
activities
The table set forth below is the detail changes in the Group’s TRV AEEREFDEE L ABNE
liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 15 BERERIIERGE ﬁgi}ﬁ,éébF'fz
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are BENEEESREXAKBECRERLAEER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, GARSRERPHBEARETHRESREN
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as afE-

cash flows from financing activities.

1 January Interest  Exchange 31 December
2023  Additions Transfer Cash flows charges realignment 2023
—BC-=F

—EC-=F +=A
—-f-8 nE BEE HoRE FEEA EHWE =t+-H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET FET TR TR TR TR

Other borrowings Hit a8 (§7:229)

(note 29) - - 21600 (15000 301 - 6,001
Convertible bonds - R E

liabilities component H-BEDD

(note 30) (Hi230) 20,577 7,260 (21,600) - 1,619 - 7,856
Lease liabilities (note 31) & & (& (#7#31) 2,076 - = (1,539) 55 (48) 544

22,653 7,260 = (16,539) 1,975 48) 15,301
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38. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 38. HEHLSAREBRMT(E)
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing © ®ETEBZAEHIERGE)
activities (continued)
1 January Interest Exchange 31 December
2022 Cash flows charges realignment 2022
—F-=
—E-CF +=A
—A—H Reng MEER B =+—H
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FET FHET
Convertible bonds - liabilties AR EH-BESD
component (note 30) (B7i#30) 18,673 - 1,904 = 20,577
Lease liabilities (note 31) BEARE HH31) 4,342 (2,201) 122 (187) 2,076
23,015 (2,201) 2,026 (187) 22,653
(d) Total cash outflow for leases d HENRSRLAH
Amounts included in the cash flow statements for lease comprise RHEEHAESRERNSHEAENTEE
the following:
2023 2022
—EB-=F -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
Within operating cash flows KEReME 422 288
Within financing cash flows MERERE 1,484 2,079
1,906 2,367
These amounts relate to the following: ZECRENTHER -
2023 2022
—E-=F T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT FHT
Lease rental paid BEE 1,539 2,201
Short-term lease charges on premises WEZEIPHEEA 367 166
149
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39.

40.

41.

42,

150

B_=F+ZA=+—HILFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any capital
commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Other than disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group
did not have any contingent liabilities at the end of reporting period
(2022: Nil).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those balances of related party disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the following material
transactions with its related parties during the year.

Key Management Compensation

Other than those disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, there is no remuneration paid to key management
personnel of the Company during the year (2022: Nil).

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 28 March 2024.

41.

42,

B AEIE
RIE_=ZFR-_TF-__F+_fF=+—8 £&£H
I FEAE A E AN AHE o

KAREME
BREEHHRRAMEHHEIN  ARBREE R
YA ABE (T —F ) -

BBLXZ
BiRa M BmR LM SR BN &R RE
BERFEREREBTE TIEARS -

TEEEEME
BRI RRM4FTREES - FARERAR
AXEERBAEXNME(ZT-_—F: £) -

RETI S B B| R
MBRROR-BomE= A=+ BEEFEIE
REBTIE -

Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited / Annual Report 2023



Five Year Financial Summary

IFHBRE

Year ended/As at 31 December

BE+-A=+-RALEE/R+=-BA=1+-H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
- C-T--f C—E--F —Z-TF —T-hF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR FEL FEL

OPERATING RESULT REEE
Turnover g 61,456 65,654 82,533 119,337 301,214
Cost of sales HEZRAK (57,681) (62,400 (78,520) (115,253) (289,904)
Gross profit EA 3,775 3,254 4,013 4,084 11,310
Other income HiA 1,852 1,452 46 93 2,445
Seling and distribution costs HERSHRA - - = (62) (254)
Administrative expenses THAX (7,630) (14,698) (13,609) (18,355) (25,794)
Other operating losses HingEBR - (250) (250) (760) -
(Impairment losses)/reversal of impairment losses RS 2 (RERE)/

for trade receivables REBERER - (49) (503) 2,704 (3,085)
Reversal of impairment losses/(impairment losses) Hib B RERE

for other receivables B/ (hEsS) 142 130 (1,431) (438) -
Impairment losses for right-of-use assets FRREEZAEES - (2,080) - - -
Loss from operation EEEE (1,861) (12,241) (11,734) (12,714) (15,378)
Finance costs HBER (1,975) (2,026) (1,542) (2,360) (1,790)
Gain on disposals of subsidiaries HERBRRKE - - - - 12,853
Impairment losses for associates HHERNFRZRESE - = (7,963) - -
Share of results of associates DB NRIEE (13,691) (7,248) (1,978) 64 4,054
Share of results of a joint venture AME—HALLEEE - 5 (73) 58 10
Loss before tax BHAER (17,527) (21,515) (23,290) (14,952) (251)
Income tax credit/(expense) FEfiEe/ (AX) - = 53 = @
Loss for the year FRER (17,527) (21,515) (23,237 (14,952) (253)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income ERHEM2E (),

for the year, net of tax: WA HBRBE
Itemn that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: TEENHBEBEMEE
Fair value changes of financial assets at fair value BRATEEGAEMBZEBA

through other comprehensive income MERMEELTES - = = - (338)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: EENHEEBRNER
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  #8 G 5MNE FR B (O [E 1 258 (1,570) (315) 34 216 (776)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposals HENBRRERR

of subsidiaries ELEE - - - - (1,586)
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/income AMEEERRAEMER

of associates (B8)/ WA (215) (1,563) 766 1,440 =
Other comprehensive (loss)/income FREMZE (B])/

for the year, net of tax W - MERFIE (1,785) (1,878) 800 1,656 (2,700)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FREABRAE (19,312) (23,393) (22,437) (13,296) (2,953)
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Year ended/As at 31 December

BE+-A=+-RALEE/R+=-A=1+-H

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f —T--fF CZZZ-F CZZZTFE CZTNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR FHL
Loss for the year attributable to: EBEERESR:
- Owners of the Company B UNGIE =N (17,334) (18,377) (22,593) (14,880) (1,081)
~ Non-controlling interests - FERER (193) (3,138 (644) (72) 828
(17,527) (21,515) (23,237) (14,952) (253)
Total comprehensive loss for the year EBEEREE
attributable to: BiEAE:
- Owners of the Company -RDEHEBA (17,321) (20,170) (21,844) (13,340) (3,747)
— Non-controlling interests - EPERRRES (1,991) (3.223) (593) 44 794
(19,312) (23,393) (22,437) (13,206) (2,959)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Total assets BEHE 36,390 38,721 97,059 78,879 113,294
Total liabilties BERE (50,291) (37,642) (73,723) (36,564) (72,691)
(Net liabilities)/net assets (BRFE) EEFE (13,901) 1079 23,336 42315 40,603
Equity attributable to: bR
— Owners of the Company -ARREEA (12,403) 1,615 20,761 40,326 38,658
— Non-controlling interests - FERES (1,498) (536) 2,575 1,989 1,945
(13,901) 1,079 23,336 42,315 40,603
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